UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title Janus and RG-flow interfaces in gauged supergravity

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/60f1x6q2

Author Hultgreen Mena, Charlie William

Publication Date 2025

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

Janus and RG-flow interfaces in gauged supergravity

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy in Physics

by

Charlie Hultgreen-Mena

2025

© Copyright by Charlie Hultgreen-Mena 2025

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Janus and RG-flow interfaces in gauged supergravity

by

Charlie Hultgreen-Mena Doctor of Philosophy in Physics University of California, Los Angeles, 2025 Professor Michael Gutperle, Chair

In this dissertation, we construct Janus-type solutions of three-dimensional gauged supergravity. We find solutions that correspond to RG-flow interfaces between CFTs with different central charges by solving the BPS flow equations or the equations of motion. Quantities such as transmission coefficients and holographic quantities such as the entanglement entropy are calculated, as well as plots of the RG-flows to determine whether some supersymmetry is preserved.

In chapter 1, we review the AdS/CFT correspondence, supergravity and an introduction to transmission in conformal interfaces. In chapter 2, we construct Janus-type solutions of three-dimensional gauged supergravity with sixteen supersymmetries, as well as the RG-flow interfaces. In chapter 3, we generalize the previous work with a general α for the embedding tensor of the gauged supergravity. In chapter 4, we discuss the Janus and RG-flow solutions of N = 2, d = 3 gauged supergravity. The dissertation of Charlie Hultgreen-Mena is approved.

Per Kraus

Eric D'Hoker

Zvi Bern

Michael Gutperle, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles

2025

To my mom ... who has been there unconditionally giving her best since the day I was born Gracias por todo mami.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	Intr	oducti	on	1
	1.1	AdS/	CFT Correspondence	2
		1.1.1	Conformal Field Theory	3
		1.1.2	Anti-de Sitter space	6
		1.1.3	Holography	8
		1.1.4	Maldacena limit	11
	1.2	Superg	gravity	13
		1.2.1	Global Supersymmetry	14
		1.2.2	$D = 4, \mathcal{N} = 1$ pure supergravity	15
		1.2.3	Supergravity in higher dimensions	17
		1.2.4	Ungauged and gauged supergravity	19
		1.2.5	Domain walls	21
		1.2.6	Janus ansatz	23
	1.3	Confor	rmal interfaces	25
2	Jan	us and	RG-flow interfaces in three-dimensional gauged supergravity	30
	2.1	Three-	dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 8$ gauged supergravity $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	32
		2.1.1	The $n = 4$ case \ldots	35
		2.1.2	Truncations and supersymmetric AdS_3 vacua	36
	2.2	Janus	flow equations	37
		2.2.1	Eigenvectors of A_1	39
		2.2.2	AdS_2 Killing spinors	40

	2.2.3	First projector	41
	2.2.4	Second projector	42
2.3	Janus	and RG-flow solutions	43
	2.3.1	Truncation 1	43
	2.3.2	Truncation 2	46
	2.3.3	Truncation 3	49
2.4	Discus	ssion	52
9 Ior	us and	BC interfaces in three-dimensional gauged supergravity II: Con-	_
eral α			- 54
3.1	Three	-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 8$ gauged supergravity $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	56
	3.1.1	The $n = 4$ case \ldots	59
	3.1.2	Truncations and supersymmetric AdS_3 vacua	60
3.2	Janus	flow equations	64
	3.2.1	Gravitino variation	65
	3.2.2	Spin $\frac{1}{2}$ variation	66
3.3	Janus	and RG-flow solutions	68
	3.3.1	Truncation 1	68
	3.3.2	Truncation 2	71
	3.3.3	Truncation 3	72
3.4	Holog	raphic calculations	75
	3.4.1	Operator spectrum	76
	3.4.2	Holographic entanglement entropy	77
3.5	Discus	ssion	80

4	4 Janus and RG-interfaces in minimal 3d gauged supergravity				
	4.1	N = 2	$d, d = 3$ gauged supergravity $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	84	
	4.2	Janus	and RG-interfaces	87	
	4.3	Hologi	raphic observables	91	
		4.3.1	Symmetric entanglement entropy	92	
		4.3.2	Entanglement entropy at the interface	93	
		4.3.3	Transmission and reflection coefficients	95	
	4.4	Transı	mission coefficient for $N = 8, d = 3$ gauged supergravity $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	96	
	4.5	Discus	sion \ldots	99	
Re	efere	nces .		101	

LIST OF FIGURES

2.1	(a) pq parametric plot, (b) plot of q , (c) plot of p , (d) plot of the metric function					
	B as functions of the AdS_2 slicing coordinate u for truncation 1. The colors					
	denote three different values for q_0 . $p_0 = 0$ for all three plots. The behavior of p					
	is the same for all three examples	45				
2.2	(a) pq parametric plot, (b) plot of q , (c) plot of p , (d) plot of the metric function					
	B as functions of the AdS ₂ slicing coordinate u	48				
2.3	(a) pq parametric plot, (b) plot of q , (c) plot of p , (d) plot of the metric function					
	B as functions of the AdS ₂ slicing coordinate u for truncation 3	51				
3.1	Ration of central charges for the $N = (1, 1)$ and $N = (4, 4)$ vacua.	62				
3.2	Ration of central charges for the $N = (1, 1)$ and $N = (4, 4)$ vacua.	64				
3.3	(a)-(c) plots of p, q, B respectively, (d) parametric plot of the Janus flow in the					
	x,y variables. The initial conditions are $q(0)=1.0$ and $p(0)=1.5$ and $\alpha=2.3.$.	70				
3.4	Truncation 2: (a)-(c) plots of p, q, B respectively, (d) parametric plot of the Janus					
	flow in the x, y variables, the $N = (4, 4)$ vacuum is at the origin and the dots					
	denote the locations of the $N = (1, 1)$ vacua. Blue: Janus between $N = (4, 4)$					
	vacua, red: Janus between $N = (1, 1)$ vacua, green: RG-Janus between $N = (4, 4)$					
	and $N = (1, 1)$. We have set $\alpha = 1.2$ for these examples	73				
3.5	Truncation 3: (a)-(c) plots of p, q, B respectively, (d) parametric plot of the Janus					
	flow in the x, y variables, the $N = (4, 4)$ vacuum is at the origin and the dots					
	denote the locations of the $N = (1, 1)$ vacua. Blue: Janus between $N = (4, 4)$					
	vacua, red: Janus between $N = (1, 1)$ vacua, green: RG-Janus between $N = (4, 4)$					
	and $N = (1, 1)$. We have set $\alpha = 1.2$ for these examples	74				

3.6	(a) Conformal dimension of operator dual to scalar fluctuations around the $N =$	
	(1,1) vacuum for truncation 2, (b) same for truncation 3	77
3.7	(a) Plot of boundary entropy for RG-flow interface for truncation 2, as a function	
	of initial condition p_0 at the turning point for $\alpha = 1.4$. (b) Illustration of RG-flows	
	for some initial values of p_0	79
4.1	Example of potential $V(\phi)$ for three cases (a) $a < \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$, (b) $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} < a < 1$, (c) $a > 1$	86
4.2	Conformal dimension of operator dual to fluctuation around extrema	87
4.3	Examples of interface solutions for representative initial conditions $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	90
4.4	Phase diagram for interface solutions for the $a = 0.75$. The diagram is extended	
	to the other quadrants using $\phi(0) \to -\phi(0)$ and $\phi'(0) \to -\phi'(0)$ maps	91
4.5		91
4.6	Interface entropy $\ln(g_A)$ for the RG-flow interfaces depending on the initial con-	
	dition $\phi(0)$	94
4.7	Plot of c_{LR} and c_{eff} for $a = \frac{3}{4}$ of a function of initial conditions $\phi(0), \phi'(0)$	96
4.8	Scalar Profiles and warp factors for the half-BPS solution	98

LIST OF TABLES

	3.1	Mass and	conformal	dimensions	of scala	r fluctuations	for the .	N = (4, 4)) vacuum	76
--	-----	----------	-----------	------------	----------	----------------	-----------	------------	----------	----

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I want to thank my advisor Michael Gutperle, who is not only a brilliant physicist, but a kindhearted person with an exquisite taste for good music, movies (I am saving wings of desire for the week of my defense) and art. If some of his students ever read this, count yourself lucky because a more understanding and kind advisor is impossible to find. I wish I could offer something more meaningful to Michael, but the best I can do is that I will try my best to be a positive part of my community and to use my talents and passion in teaching with the utmost kindness and patience, just like he has done with me, with no reward and no witnesses. I also want to thank Eric D'Hoker, Zvi Bern, and Per Kraus for taking a little time of their busy schedules for someone like me.

I want to thank Ricky and Dalton for making my first year as a grad student fun. To Nam, for being the best roommate, always taking me out of my comfort zone and all the laughter we shared. To Arnau, for constantly making me laugh and to live with content. To Sarah and Jacob, for being my people to go to events and make my time in LA meaningful for my personal growth and my vision of how to live more meaningfully and truthful to my ideals and values. To Mortaza, who is constantly teaching me different historical perspectives of the world, for being the best chess partner, and for all the philosophical, deep and vulnerable conversations we had over the years. Thank you all, truly.

Gracias al CCAL, donde descubrí mi amor por la física y, aún más importante, conocí a personas maravillosas que hasta el día de hoy siguen siendo mis amigos. Especialmente gracias al profe Pablo por impulsar mi amor por la física, así como por todas las charlas que tenemos cada vez que nos encontramos; y a la profe Joha, que siempre ha confiado en mí y siempre está dispuesta a tomar un café. A la UCR y la Escuela de Física por haberme dado la chance de desarrollarme intelectualmente. Espero que todo mi aprendizaje abstracto y emocional sea de utilidad para mis colegas y estudiantes.

A Juan Pa y Moya, por todos los entrenamientos de física y por los momentos de estupi-

deces compartidos. A Giully, por toda la historia de amistad que tenemos y por haberme hablado del Cienti. A David, por su sentido de competitividad en juegos, su sentido de comunidad y por llevar la contraria en los grupos de fútbol. A Kaleb, por su gran gusto y las recomendaciones que constantemente me da, así como por sus invitaciones y su conocimiento en juegos de mesa y en shitposting. A Mari, por ese periodo de 2012 a 2014 en el que tuvimos muchísimas charlas y momentos de todo tipo y por siempre seguir intentándolo en el presente, a pesar de la distancia. A Fuentes, a quien es un placer escuchar destilar conocimiento de todo tipo, con quien es sumamente fácil hablar por horas de manera genuina e interesante, y por su increíble sentido de hospitalidad, con menú de degustación incluido. A Mónica, por su nivel de tranquilidad y por enseñarme a disfrutar de las cosas sencillas, por soportarme en mi pesadez y, hasta a veces, reírse conmigo de la misma. Espero que España sea una experiencia fantástica. A Sofi, por siempre sorprenderme con su forma de ser, romper ideas que podría haber desarrollado con tiempo, por su emoción y genuina energía cada vez que nos vemos, y por hacerme reír con la absurdez de nuestras diferencias. A Tavo, por su amistad milenaria, con todos nuestros subes y bajas, por siempre volver a encontrarnos de cualquier manera y seguir siendo parte importante de la vida del otro, por haber sido la primera persona que me hizo llorar y entender que la vida no gira alrededor de uno (fiesta de la alegría cuando se tuvo que ir temprano por el tobillo). A Hellen, por haber marcado un antes y un después en mi desarrollo y procesamiento emocional. Gracias, porque me siento más pleno y cercano a quien soy genuinamente.

A mi familia: a Kathy y María, por confiar en mi esfuerzo. A Diana, por haber acompañado a mami por un rato, y por estar presente en mi vida e invitarme a actividades. A mi abuela, por tener tanto amor hacia sus nietos, por querer chismear con nosotros, así como por su amor a la vida. A Isaac, a quien espero poder apoyar en lo que mi persona pueda, y devolver el amor y cariño que el mundo me ha dado a mí. A Silvia, por el dinero que me dio, pero mucho más que eso, por la amabilidad y las ganas de ayudar a quien lo necesite, una lección inigualable de un ser humano excepcional. A Meli, que es parte de mi familia; la vida es sumamente cambiante, pero saber que hay una persona al lado de uno es un sentimiento sin igual, y espero que ese apoyo y sentimiento de bienestar lo esté generando yo también. Gracias, Meli.

Y a mami, que se ha dedicado en alma y corazón a que yo sea feliz y una persona de bien. Las caminatas yendo al kínder y haciendo matemática mental terminaron sirviendo. Gracias por haber estudiado conmigo, por tratar de inculcarme amor por el conocimiento y por siempre intentar lo que cree que es mejor para mí. Las personas suelen ser más tercas y cerradas al cambio mientras envejecen, y curiosamente, usted no ha sido así. No creo que exista un momento en el que haya tenido más apertura a aprender cosas nuevas que ahora mismo, y eso me llena de esperanza de que yo también puedo escapar de cerrarme a nuevas ideas conforme envejezca. Gracias, mami, por todo y por siempre.

A bit too long, but these 2 pages are the most important pages to me. Michael, my family and my friends: thank you for offering your friendship and help, and for making me believe in the best in others, because I have been a witness of the love and kindness that our species can achieve. Thanks to you, not only I have had a fantastic life, but also I want to offer my best to help others, especially the ones who need the help. It's the minimum I can give to the world after being so well surrounded.

CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS

Chapter 2 is based on [1] in collaboration with Kevin Chen and Michael Gutperle. Chapter 3 is based on [2] in collaboration with Michael Gutperle. Chapter 4 is based on [3] in collaboration with Michael Gutperle.

VITA

- 2013–2017 B.A. Physics, University of Costa Rica.
- 2018–2019 M.S Physics, UCLA.

2018–2024 Teaching Assistant, Physics Department, UCLA.

PUBLICATIONS

K. Chen, M. Gutperle, and C. Hultgreen-Mena, "Janus and RG-flow interfaces in threedimensional gauged supergravity," JHEP 03 (2022) 057, arXiv: 2111.01839 [hep-th]

M. Gutperle, and C. Hultgreen-Mena, "Janus and RG-flow interfaces in three-dimensional gauged supergravity. Part II. General α ," JHEP 08 (2022) 126, arXiv: 2111.01839 [hep-th]

M. Gutperle, and C. Hultgreen-Mena "Janus and RG-interfaces in minimal 3d gauged supergravity," arXiv:2412.16749 [hep-th] (submitted for publication)

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

The construction of a quantum theory of gravity and descriptions of strongly-coupled gauge theories have been among the greatest challenges of modern theoretical physics. Treating gravity as a classical field theory and directly quantizing gives a non-renormalizable theory. The development of string theory as a framework and the discovery of the dualities might be the path to success through gravity/gauge holographic duality. In one of the earliest examples of weakly coupled string theory/gauge field theory, 't Hooft studied [4] the case of large N limit gauge theories where the gauge theory simplifies and matches the perturbation theory of the Feynman diagrams, which are organized in graphs in terms of a genus expansion, with the perturbation theory of a weakly coupled string theory hinting at a gauge/gravity duality.

Treating black holes as quantum systems revealed a proportionality between the entropy and the area of the horizon [5] contrasting the typical relation where for local quantum field theories the entropy is an extensive variable scaling with the volume. The implications of this discovery led to the holographic principle according to which the states of any quantum gravity theory are contained in a theory without gravity defined at the boundary of the space [6–8]. An independent result by Brown and Henneaux studying the asymptotic symmetry group of 3D Anti-de Sitter space (AdS) leading to a 2D Virasoro algebra which is the symmetry group of 2-dimensional Conformal Field Theory (CFT), [9] suggested that theories of gravity with AdS asymptotic are connected with lower dimensional conformal field theories.

The discovery of D-branes [10–12] in string theory and the study of open strings on them

raised the possibility that lower-dimensional gauge theories living in the near-horizon limit could be the holographic dual of the gravity theory. In 1997, Maldacena's conjecture [13] shows an equivalence between certain theories of closed strings in AdS spaces and conformally invariant gauge theories in fewer dimensions. These gauge theories were proved to live at the AdS boundary allowing us to compute string theory observables in the bulk from the boundary theory [14, 15].

In this dissertation, chapter 1 reviews the necessary background material of the AdS/CFT correspondence and supergravity and the basics of interface conformal field theories (ICFTs), as well as some examples and applications of these theories. Chapter 2 is based on [1], where we construct Janus-type solutions of three-dimensional gauged supergravity with sixteen supersymmetries, as well as the RG-flow interfaces between CFTs with different numbers of supersymmetries and central charges. Chapter 3 is based on [2], where we continue the work with general α for the embedding tensor of the gauged supergravity, as well as the computation of holographic quantities such as the masses for the fluctuations of the scalar fields around different vacua of the theory, as well as the entanglement entropy around the defect for both sides of the interface. Chapter 4 is based on [3], where we find solutions of minimal d = 3, N = 2 gauged supergravity corresponding to Janus and RG-flow interfaces and use holography to calculate symmetric and interface entanglement entropy as well as reflection coefficients and bounds between these quantities.

1.1 AdS/CFT Correspondence

The AdS/CFT correspondence states duality between certain theories including gravity in (d+1)-dimensional asymptotically anti-de Sitter spaces and, conformal field theories (CFT) that live on their d-dimensional boundaries. In almost all cases, the two sides of the correspondence are related by a strong/weak coupling duality making the comparison on both sides difficult. Still, there are a few cases where the comparison can be performed like BPS

states, which are protected from quantum corrections by supersymmetry, and can therefore be continued from strong to weak coupling. For a selection of reviews and lecture notes on the AdS/CFT correspondence, see [16–19].

1.1.1 Conformal Field Theory

In a quantum theory, conformal invariance is broken by introducing a renormalization scale from the regularization of ultraviolet divergences (UV) due to loops in perturbation theory. The conserved current from scale transformations relates the trace of the stress-energy tensor to the beta functions of the theory. Therefore, scale-invariant quantum field theories must have vanishing beta functions and they are important as possible fixed points of renormalization group flows. New quantum field theories can be obtained from relevant deformations along the RG flows from the UV to the Infrared (IR) of these CFTs. An introduction to CFT is given by [20].

The conformal group is the group of transformations that preserve the form of the metric up to an arbitrary scale factor, $g_{\mu\nu}(x) \rightarrow \Omega^2(x)g_{\mu\nu}(x)$ under coordinate transformation. It includes the Poincaré group as well as dilation transformation $x \rightarrow ax$ and inversion transformation $x^{\mu} \rightarrow x^{\mu}/x^2$.

In Minkowski space, an infinitesimal coordinate transformation $(x_{\mu} \to x_{\mu} + \varepsilon_{\mu})$ to the metric conformal transformation gives us the conformal killing equation $\partial_{\mu}\varepsilon_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu}\varepsilon_{\mu} = \frac{2}{d}\partial \cdot \varepsilon \eta_{\mu\nu}$. For d > 2, the most general solution is

$$x^{\mu} \to x^{\mu} + a^{\mu} + \omega^{\mu\nu} x_{\nu} + \lambda x^{\mu} + x^2 b^{\mu} - 2(x \cdot b) x^{\mu},$$
 (1.1)

Using the infinitesimal conformal transformations and the well-known structure of the Poincare group on the spacetime coordinates, one can derive the conformal algebra of the group

$$[M_{\mu\nu}, M_{\rho\sigma}] = i (\eta_{\nu\rho} M_{\mu\sigma} - \eta_{\mu\rho} M_{\nu\sigma} + \eta_{\mu\sigma} M_{\nu\rho} - \eta_{\nu\sigma} M_{\mu\rho}), [M_{\mu\nu}, P_{\rho}] = i (\eta_{\nu\rho} P_{\mu} - \eta_{\mu\rho} P_{\nu}), [M_{\mu\nu}, K_{\rho}] = i (\eta_{\nu\rho} K_{\mu} - \eta_{\mu\rho} K_{\nu}), [K_{\mu}, P_{\nu}] = 2i (\eta_{\mu\nu} D - M_{\mu\nu}), [D, P_{\mu}] = i P_{\mu}, [D, K_{\mu}] = -i K_{\mu},$$
 (1.2)

where D denotes the generator for dilations, P_{μ} for translations, $M_{\mu\nu}$ for Lorentz transformations, and K_{μ} for special conformal transformations. This algebra is isomorphic to the algebra of SO(d, 2) in the $\eta = (-, +, +, ..., +, -)$ signature under transformations.

$$J_{\mu\nu} = M_{\mu\nu}; \quad J_{\mu d} = \frac{1}{2} \left(K_{\mu} - P_{\mu} \right); \quad J_{\mu(d+1)} = \frac{1}{2} \left(K_{\mu} + P_{\mu} \right); \quad J_{(d+1)d} = D$$
(1.3)

For the Poincare group in quantum field theory, we classify the representations of the group via the little group $SO(d) \times SO(2)$ where SO(d) gives the typical spin of the field. The SO(2)charge is the scaling dimension of the field that transforms as $\phi(x) \rightarrow \phi'(x) = \lambda^{\Delta} \phi(\lambda x)$. The algebra of the group imply that the operator P_{μ} raises the dimension of the field, while the operator K_{μ} lowers it. Unitarity of the theory gives a lower bound on the dimension of fields (for scalar fields it is $\Delta \geq (d-2)/2$ [21]). Therefore each representation of the conformal group must have some operator of lowest conformal dimension, which must then be annihilated by K_{μ} at the origin. Such operators are called primary operators. Then all the local operators can be found via P_{μ} acting on the primaries.

The conformal symmetry group strongly constraints the n-point functions of local operators [22]. Via conformal transformations any three points can be mapped to any other, fixing the form of 2 and 3-point functions up to constant factors. Via scaling and Poincare invariance, the 2,3 and 4-point functions of primary scalar fields can be written

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{1}}(x_{1}) \mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{2}}(x_{2}) \rangle = \delta_{1,2} \prod_{i < j}^{2} |x_{ij}|^{-\Delta},$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{1}}(x_{1}) \mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{2}}(x_{2}) \mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{3}}(x_{3}) \rangle = c_{123} \prod_{i < j}^{3} |x_{ij}|^{\Delta - 2\Delta_{i} - 2\Delta_{j}},$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{1}}(x_{1}) \mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{2}}(x_{2}) \mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{3}}(x_{3}) \mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{4}}(x_{4}) \rangle = c_{1234}(u, v) \prod_{i < j}^{4} |x_{ij}|^{\frac{\Delta}{3} - \Delta_{i} - \Delta_{j}}.$$

(1.4)

Where $x_{ij} \equiv x_i - x_j$ and $\Delta \equiv \sum_i \Delta_i$ and the functions $x_{1234}(u, v)$ is a function of the two conformally invariant cross-ratios

$$u \equiv \frac{|x_{12}| |x_{34}|}{|x_{13}| |x_{24}|}, \quad v \equiv \frac{|x_{14}| |x_{23}|}{|x_{13}| |x_{24}|}.$$
(1.5)

The state-operator correspondence in a CFT follows from the scale invariance. States are defined in different time slices (represented by spheres centered at the origin). As one scales down the sphere to the origin, the effect of the state is equivalent to a local operator centered at the origin. This correspondence implies that the product of any two conformal primaries can be rewritten as a linear combination of conformal operators inserted at a nearby point (no other insertions in between the two primaries). This property of CFTs is called Operator Product Expansion (OPE), and for two scalar operators it can be written as

$$\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_i}(x)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_j}(0) = \sum_k c_{ijk} |x|^{-\Delta_i - \Delta_j + \Delta_k} \left(\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_k}(0) + \text{ descendants} \right)$$
(1.6)

where the coefficients of each dependant are determined by conformal invariance. Any n-point function can be reduced to an infinite sum of (n-1)-point functions. Thus, the CFT is complete once the conformal dimension, the irreducible representation and the c_{ijk} of the 3-point function for each primary are determined. These coefficients are not random, since the 4-point function can be expressed in different channels leading to algebraic equations that constrain their possible values. Using this infinite set of crossing equations to identify possible conformal field theories is the basis of the conformal bootstrap program [23,24].

1.1.2 Anti-de Sitter space

Anti-de Sitter spacetime [25, 26] is a solution to Einstein's field equations with negative cosmological constant that exhibits maximal isometries. It appears in string theory and in supergravity theories as vacua of gauged supergravity theories and Kaluza Klein reductions (KK reductions) of gravity theories [27].

 AdS_{d+1} may be embedded into a *d*-dimensional hyperboloid hypersurface with spacetime $(X^0, X^1, \ldots, X^d, X^{d+1}) \in \mathbb{R}^{d,2}$, and metric $\bar{\eta} = \text{diag}(-, +, +, \ldots, +, -),$

$$\bar{\eta}_{MN}X^{M}X^{N} = -\left(X^{0}\right)^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{d} \left(X^{i}\right)^{2} - \left(X^{d+1}\right)^{2} = -L^{2}$$
(1.7)

inside $\mathbb{R}^{d,2}$. *L* is the radius of curvature of the Anti-de Sitter space and the hypersurface is invariant under SO(d, 2) transformations acting on $\mathbb{R}^{d,2}$. SO(d, 2) has (d+1)(d+2)/2generators, the same number of Killing generators in (d+1) Minkowski spacetime. Therefore, as mentioned AdS space is also maximally symmetric.

There are different useful representations of the induced metric. Using the parametrization of the hypersurface

$$X^{0} = L \cosh \rho \cos \tau$$

$$X^{d+1} = L \cosh \rho \sin \tau$$

$$X^{i} = L\Omega_{i} \sinh \rho, \quad \text{for } i = 1, \dots, d$$
(1.8)

The induced metric for the line element is

$$ds^{2} = L^{2} \left(-\cosh^{2} \rho d\tau^{2} + d\rho^{2} + \sinh^{2} \rho d\Omega_{d-2}^{2} \right)$$
(1.9)

where Ω_i parametrize a sphere S^{d-1} . The remaining coordinates take the ranges $\rho \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and $\tau \in [0, 2\pi [$. These coordinates are global coordinates of AdS_{d+1} since all points of the

hypersurface are covered exactly once. τ being a periodic value brings closed time-like curves for fixed Ω_i and ρ . Unwrapping the time circle in which $-\infty < \tau < +\infty$ fixes those issues. The conformal boundary of these coordinates occurs as $\rho \to \infty$ where the induced metric is a cylinder $\mathbb{R} \times S^{d-1}$.

Another useful set of coordinates describing AdS_{d+1} is the Poincaré patch defined by

$$X^{0} = \frac{L}{z}x^{0}, \qquad X^{j} = \frac{L}{z}x^{j}$$

$$X^{d} = \frac{z}{2}\left(\frac{L^{2} - x^{2}}{z^{2}} - 1\right), \quad X^{d+1} = \frac{z}{2}\left(\frac{L^{2} + x^{2}}{z^{2}} + 1\right), \qquad (1.10)$$

where $x^2 = -(x^0)^2 + \sum_{j=1}^{d-1} (x^j)^2$ and the coordinate range of z is restricted to $0 < z < \infty$. The corresponding metric is conformal to half of flat Minkowski spacetime and takes the form

$$ds^{2} = \frac{L^{2}}{z^{2}} \left[dz^{2} - \left(dx^{0} \right)^{2} + \left(dx^{1} \right)^{2} + \dots \left(dx^{d-1} \right)^{2} \right]$$
(1.11)

making the *d*-dimensional Poincaré symmetry of the coordinates manifest. The metric furthermore makes the scaling symmetry $z \to \lambda z, x^0 \to \lambda x^0, x^j \to \lambda x^j$ explicit.

Due to the state-operator correspondence and the invariance of the vacuum, the CFT vacuum corresponds to pure AdS. In order to get a correspondence with other CFT states, spacetimes whose metrics approach that of AdS near their boundaries must be analyzed. Solutions like black holes and p-branes can present an AdS asymptotical behavior. An example is Reissner–Nordström black hole in 4D

$$ds^{2} = -F(r)dt^{2} + \frac{1}{F(r)}dr^{2} + r^{2} d\Omega_{2}^{2}$$
(1.12)

$$F(r) = 1 - \frac{2MG}{r} + \frac{q^2G}{4\pi r^2}.$$
(1.13)

For the extremal case $q^2 = 4\pi M^2 G$, the boundary is located at r = MG. Introducing the change of coordinates v = r - MG and taking the limit $v \to \infty$, we get the metric

$$ds^{2} \approx -\frac{v^{2}}{(MG)^{2}} dt^{2} + (MG)^{2} \frac{dv^{2}}{v^{2}} + (MG)^{2} d\Omega_{2}^{2}.$$
 (1.14)

which has the AdS form in global coordinates where both the AdS scale and the radius of the sphere are equal to MG.

1.1.3 Holography

The AdS/CFT correspondence arises from matching the global symmetries on both sides. The AdS/CFT correspondence provides a mapping between fields in the bulk near the boundary and operators in the dual CFT. To illustrate this, consider a free massive scalar in AdS_{d+1} in Poincare patch coordinates $(ds^2 = \frac{1}{z^2} (dz^2 + dx_1^2 + \dots + dx_d^2))$

$$S_{\text{bulk}}\left[\phi\right] = \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{g} \left(\frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\partial^{\mu}\phi\partial^{\nu}\phi + \frac{1}{2}m^{2}\phi^{2}\right),\tag{1.15}$$

Ignoring the backreaction and solving the KG equation, we find two linearly independent solutions. The boundary of AdS is at $z \rightarrow 0$. Thus at leading order in z

$$\phi(z,x) \sim \phi_{(0)}(x) z^{\Delta_{-}} + \phi_{(+)}(x) z^{\Delta_{+}} + \cdots,$$
 (1.16)

where Δ_{\pm} are the roots of $m^2 L^2 = \Delta(\Delta - d)$ given by

$$\Delta_{\pm} = \frac{d}{2} \pm \sqrt{\frac{d^2}{4} + m^2 L^2}.$$
(1.17)

For solutions to be real, the mass is bounded by $m^2 \ge -d^2/4$, which agrees with the unitarity bound [28, 29]. We can evaluate the on-shell action and realize that the source term (ϕ_0) is a non-normalizable term. We identify Δ_+ as the scaling dimension of the dual operator and notice that the term $\int d^d x \phi_0(x) \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(x)$ is scale invariant.

The boundary values of the fields are identified with sources that couple to the dual operator, and the on-shell bulk partition function with the generating functional of QFT correlation functions [14, 15]

$$Z_{\text{SUGRA}}\left[\phi_{(0)}\right] = \int_{\Phi \sim \phi_{(0)}} D\Phi \exp(-S[\Phi]) = \left\langle \exp\left(-\int_{\partial AAdS} \phi_{(0)}O\right) \right\rangle_{QFT}$$
(1.18)

where $\phi_{(0)}$ is the boundary value of the field in the AdS side and a source to the field operator O. Correlation functions of the operator are now computed by functional differentiation with respect to the source

$$\left\langle O\left(x_{1}\right)\cdots O\left(x_{n}\right)\right\rangle = (-1)^{n+1} \frac{\delta^{n} S_{\text{onshell}}}{\delta\phi_{(0)}\left(x_{1}\right)\cdots\delta\phi_{(0)}\left(x_{n}\right)}\Big|_{\phi_{(0)}=0}$$
(1.19)

In general, the on-shell supergravity action diverges due to integration over an infinite AdS space (IR divergence). The long-distance (IR) is the same as near the boundary, and a good coordinate system to work with is the Fefferman-Graham coordinates (FG) with a cutoff at $z = \varepsilon$. In the field theory side, we have UV divergences from the FG cutoff. A tool to control the divergences on the gravity side is holographic renormalization [30,31]. The solutions will be valid near the boundary. Expanding around it

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{z^{2}} \left(dz^{2} + g_{ij}(x, z) dx^{i} dx^{j} \right),$$

$$g_{ij}(x, z) = g_{(0)ij}(x) + zg_{(1)ij}(x) + \dots + z^{d}g_{(d)ij}(x) + z^{d} \log z \tilde{g}_{(d)ij}(x) + \dots$$

$$\mathcal{F}(x, z) = z^{\Delta_{-}} \left(f_{(0)}(x) + zf_{(1)}(x) + \dots + z^{\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-}} f_{\Delta_{+}}(x) + z^{\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-}} \log z \tilde{f}_{\Delta_{+}}(x) + \dots \right),$$

(1.20)

Using Einstein equations and the field equations, we can group terms order by order in z, solve iteratively and all terms except $g_{(d)ij}$ and f_{Δ_+} can be expressed as local functions of the leading terms $g_{(0)ij}$ and $f_{(0)}$. This is expected as the equation of motion for the scalar field requires two linearly independent solutions. These values will be associated with the expectation value of the corresponding CFT operator (stress tensor and scalar operator) in the presence of the sources.

To regularize the on-shell action, we restrict the range of the z integration $z \ge \varepsilon$ for some small constant $\varepsilon > 0$. Since the equation of motion is satisfied, the bulk contribution to the action vanishes and only the boundary terms at $z = \varepsilon$ survive. This gives a regularized action with a finite number of divergences of the form

$$S_{\text{reg}}\left[g_{(0)}, f_{(0)}, \varepsilon\right] = \int \mathrm{d}^{d}x \sqrt{g_{(0)}} \left[a_{0}\varepsilon^{-\nu} + a_{2}\varepsilon^{(-\nu+1)} + \ldots + a_{\nu}\ln\varepsilon + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{0}\right)\right]$$
(1.21)

All coefficients a_{ν} are local functions of the sources $g_{(0)ij}$ and $f_{(0)}$. The divergences can be canceled out by adding local counterterms to the action. These are expressed in terms of the fields living on the regulating hypersurface for the subtraction to be covariant. Then, we have to invert the asymptotic expansion of the fields to find $f_{(0)} = f_{(0)}(\mathcal{F}(x,\varepsilon), g_{ij}(x,\varepsilon), \varepsilon)$ and $g_{(0)} = g_{(0)}(\mathcal{F}(x,\varepsilon), g_{ij}(x,\varepsilon), \varepsilon)$. The counterterm action is then defined as

$$S_{\rm ct}[\mathcal{F}(x,\varepsilon),g_{ij}(x,\varepsilon);\varepsilon] = - \text{ divergent terms of } S_{\rm reg}\left[f_{(0)},g_{(0)};\varepsilon\right]$$
(1.22)

We then define the normalized action as

$$S_{\text{ren}}\left[g_{(0)},\phi_{(0)}\right] = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(S_{\text{on-shell}} + S_{\text{ct}}\right).$$
(1.23)

which is finite and can be used to compute the correlation functions. For the one-point function

$$\langle T_{ij}(x) \rangle_s \equiv \frac{2}{\sqrt{g_0}} \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta g_{(j)}^{ij}(x)} \sim g_{(d)ij}(x) + C_{ij}\left(g_{(0)}, f_{(0)}\right),$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(x) \rangle_s \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{g_0}} \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \phi_{(0)}(x)} \sim f_{\Delta+}(x) + C\left(g_{(0)}, f_{(0)}\right).$$

$$(1.24)$$

where the C's are local functions of the sources. Thus, an n-point function information is encoded in $f_{\Delta+}$ and $g_{(d)ij}$, which can be found from the bulk equation.

1.1.4 Maldacena limit

In type IIB string theory, the open string and closed string perspective applied to a stack of N D3-branes in flat spacetime in the low energy limit implies a correspondence between $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super-Yang-Mills theory [32] in 4-dimensions and supergravity solutions on $AdS_5 \times S^5$.

For the open string perspective in a background of (9+1)D Minkowski and a stack of N coincident D3-branes, open strings are not stretched and can have arbitrary short lengths. Thus, in the low energy limit, the strings are massless. The massless effective action contains the closed string modes, open string modes and the interactions between them. The action of the last two can be expressed from the Dirac–Born–Infeld action and the Wess–Zumino term. Expanding around the metric fluctuations and to first order in α' , we find

$$S_{\text{closed}} = \frac{1}{2\kappa^2} \int d^{10}x \sqrt{-g} e^{-2\phi} \left(R + 4\partial_M \phi \partial^M \phi \right) + \cdots$$

$$\sim -\frac{1}{2} \int d^{10}x \partial_M h \partial^M h + \mathcal{O}(\kappa),$$

$$S_{\text{open}} = -\frac{1}{2\pi g_{\text{s}}} \int d^4x \left(\frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \phi^i \partial_\nu \phi^i + \mathcal{O}(\alpha') \right)$$

$$S_{\text{int}} = -\frac{1}{8\pi g_{\text{s}}} \int d^4x \kappa \phi F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} + \cdots$$
(1.25)

where h is the metric fluctuation $g = \eta + \kappa h$, g_s is the string coupling, $2\kappa^2 = (2\pi)^7 \alpha'^4 g_s^2$ and $(2\pi\alpha')^{-1}$ is the string tension.

In the Maldacena limit ($\alpha' \to 0$ while keeping N and g_s fixed), the interaction term can be neglected and the open and closed strings decouple. In this limit, S_{open} is the bosonic part of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Super Yang-Mills theory with the identification $2\pi g_s = g_{\text{YM}}^2$, while S_{closed} is approximated by Type IIB supergravity.

In the closed string perspective, we have the supergravity solution of the metric of N coincident D3 branes to be

$$ds^{2} = \left(1 + \frac{L^{4}}{r^{4}}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \eta_{ij} dx^{i} dx^{j} + \left(1 + \frac{L^{4}}{r^{4}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(dr^{2} + r^{2} d\Omega_{5}^{2}\right)$$
(1.26)

where L is found by calculating the charge via integration of the R-R flux of the D3-brane. Setting the charge to N, $L^4 = 4\pi g_{\rm s} N \alpha'^2$ is found. For large L, the metric reduces to 10D supergravity in flat space. In the near horizon limit ($r \ll L$) and using the coordinate $u \equiv L^2/r$, the metric becomes

$$ds^{2} = L^{2} \left[\frac{1}{u^{2}} \eta_{ij} dx^{i} dx^{j} + \frac{du^{2}}{u^{2}} + d\Omega_{5}^{2} \right]$$
(1.27)

which has the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ form. $E_{\infty} = \sqrt{-g_{00}}E_r = H(r)^{-1/4}E_r$ implies that string excitations coming from the near horizon decouple from the flat supergravity for an observer at infinity.

Both perspectives should be physically equivalent, suggesting that four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills theory is equivalent to type IIB string theory on $\mathrm{AdS}_5 \times S^5$. Furthermore, the global symmetries of both theories match. $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM has a vanishing beta function and is hence conformal. The supergroup is $\mathrm{PSU}(2,2 \mid 4)$ where the bosonic subgroup is given by $SU(2,2) \sim SO(4,2)$ (which is the symmetry group of AdS_5) and the $\mathrm{SU}(4) \cong \mathrm{SO}(6)$ R-symmetry of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM (symmetry group of S^5). This matches the isometries of $AdS_5 \times S^5$. The field-operator map between the theories can be found via KK reduction on the supergravity side and matching the representations on both sides [33, 34].

Classic supergravity appears as the limit of string theory when the string length is much smaller than the curvature radius of AdS L. $L^4 = 4\pi g_s N \alpha'^2$, which means $g_s N$ is large. Since $g_s N \sim g_{YM}^2 N$, this limit corresponds to large 't Hooft coupling in the field, and we obtain a strong/weak duality theory which allows us to study strong coupling dynamics of one theory from the weak coupling perturbative behaviour of the other.

1.2 Supergravity

If the symmetry algebra of a theory allows fermionic generators with anti-commutation relations, the Poincare symmetry extends to the supersymmetry algebra [35], where the new fermionic generators Q^{I} obey

$$\{Q^{I}, \bar{Q}^{J}\} \sim \gamma^{M} P_{M} \delta^{IJ}, \quad \{Q^{I}, Q^{J}\} \sim Z^{IJ},$$

$$[L_{MN}, Q^{I}] \sim \Sigma_{MN} Q^{I}, \quad [P_{M}, Q^{I}] = 0, \qquad I, J = 1, 2..., \mathcal{N}$$
(1.28)

where the generators Z^{IJ} are central charges which are antisymmetric and commute with all the other generators of the algebra, and γ^M and Σ_{MN} are the Dirac matrices and the generator of the spinor representation in SO(1, D-1) obeying the algebra

$$\{\gamma^{M}, \gamma^{N}\} = 2\eta^{MN}, \quad M, N = 0, \dots, D - 1.$$

$$\Sigma^{MN} := \frac{1}{4} \left[\gamma^{M}, \gamma^{N}\right]$$
(1.29)

To get the representation of the algebra, we make a Lorentz boost to make the little group SO(D-1)/SO(D-2) for the massless/massive case explicit. Writing the algebra, the generators Q^{I} can be separated into Q^{+} and Q^{-} that obey the algebra of creation and annihilation operators for the massless case, and a BPS-bound algebra for the massive case. This implies that a supersymmetric multiplet can be constructed starting from a vacuum state annihilated by the Q^{-} and the multiplet is generated by the action of the supercharges Q^{+} acting on the vacuum.

Supergravity is a supersymmetric model which is covariant under general coordinate transformations. This is equivalent to having local supersymmetry transformations. For gravity, the fundamental particle is the massless spin-2 graviton. Thus, to obtain local SUSY we need a massless spin-3/2 superpartner called the gravitino, which is the gauge field of the theory.

For D > 4 interacting massless fields of S > 2 have a trivial S-matrix [36]. Thus, for a physical interacting theory, we can only have 8 raising operators. The number of raising operators of a theory is determined by the number of supercharges and the dimension of the spinor representation. This gives us an upper bound for the amount of supercharges (32 maximum) and the dimension ($D \leq 11$) in which supergravity is possible [37]. Thus, we have pure supergravity where only the graviton and its superpartners are present, and matter-coupling supergravities that contain additional supermultiplets (chiral, vector, graviton, hyper and tensor multiples). For a detailed review of the topic, see for example [18, 38, 39]

1.2.1 Global Supersymmetry

Once a representation is obtained from the supersymmetry algebra, constructing a Lagrangian invariant under supersymmetry transformations is the next step, leading to the superfield formalism [40]. As an example for $\mathcal{N} = 1$, the idea is to enlarge Minkowski space to a superspace $(x^{\mu}, \theta_{\alpha}, \bar{\theta}_{\dot{\alpha}})$ where $\theta_{\alpha}, \bar{\theta}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ are Grassman coordinates associated with the supersymmetry generators $Q_{\alpha}, \bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}}$. The most general superfield can be written as

$$S\left(x^{\mu},\theta_{\alpha},\bar{\theta}_{\dot{\alpha}}\right) = \varphi(x) + \theta\psi(x) + \bar{\theta}\bar{\chi}(x) + \theta\theta M(x) + \bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}N(x) + \left(\theta\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\theta}\right)V_{\mu}(x) + \left(\theta\theta\right)\bar{\theta}\bar{\lambda}(x) + \left(\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\right)\theta\rho(x) + \left(\theta\theta\right)(\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta})D(x)$$
(1.30)

Analogous to the transformation of a field under translations in Minkowski space, supersymmetry transformations of the superfield are realized linearly via the Qs operators.

$$\delta_{\varepsilon}S = (\varepsilon Q + \bar{\varepsilon}\bar{Q})S \tag{1.31}$$

where ε is a constant spinor and the differential operator Q can be written as

$$Q_{\alpha} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta^{\alpha}} - i\sigma^{\mu}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}\partial_{\mu} \quad \bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}} = -\frac{\partial}{\partial\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}} + i\theta^{\alpha}\sigma^{\mu}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\partial_{\mu} \tag{1.32}$$

The transformation of each field from the superfield is obtained via differentiation. It also follows that the integral

$$\int d^4x d^2\theta d^2\bar{\theta} S(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}) \tag{1.33}$$

is invariant under supersymmetric transformations if S is a superfield. Linear combinations of superfields are superfields, as well as $\partial_{\mu}S$ and $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}S$ where \mathcal{D}_{α} is the covariant derivative $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha} := \partial_{\alpha} + i (\sigma^{\mu})_{\alpha \dot{\beta}} \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\beta}} \partial_{\mu}$. To ensure supersymmetry, the Lagrangian must be a scalar under supersymmetry transformations. The common terms for the possible superfield are: the kinetic term $\mathcal{L}_{kin} = S^{\dagger}S$, interacting terms from the superpotential $\mathcal{L}_{int} = W(S) + W^{\dagger} (S^{\dagger})$, and gauge terms for vector superfields $\mathcal{L}_{gauge} = \frac{1}{4g^2} \int d^2\theta W^{\alpha}W_{\alpha}$ + h.c. These last two terms are only integrated over half the superspace. Thus, we can write general Lagrangians through integration

$$\mathcal{S} = \int d^4x d^2\theta d^2\bar{\theta} \mathcal{A}(x;\theta,\bar{\theta}) = \int d^4x \mathcal{L}\left(\phi(x),\psi(x),A_{\mu}(x),F_{\mu\nu}\ldots\right)$$
(1.34)

where \mathcal{A} is a combination of the kinetic term (integration over the full superspace) and the interaction terms and gauge terms (integrated over half the superspace). A general S is not in an irreducible representation, but imposing supersymmetric invariant constraints on S, a reducible representation can be found, and the explicit supersymmetric Lagrangian can be derived.

1.2.2 D = 4, N = 1 pure supergravity

For supergravity to arise, supersymmetry has to be local. The study and cataloguing of lower dimension supergravities have been widely studied [41, 42]. In pure supergravity, we only have the massless graviton e^a_{μ} and its superpartner, a Majorana spinor gravitino ψ_{μ} . The e^a_{μ} is related to the metric via

$$g_{\mu\nu}(x) = e^m_{\mu}(x)\eta_{mn}e^n_{\nu}(x) \tag{1.35}$$

where η_{mn} is the Minkwoski metric. The Greek letters denote spacetime indices, while

the latin ones denote flat space indices and couple to fermionic fields and the Dirac matrices.

A supersymmetric infinitesimal transformation is linear on the fields, and from the superspace formalism, the transformation changes bosonic into fermionic particles and vice versa. Thus, the general transformation of these fields

$$\delta B(x) = \bar{\varepsilon}(x) f_1(B(x)) F(x) + \mathcal{O}\left(F^3\right), \quad \delta F(x) = f_2(B(x)) \varepsilon(x) + \mathcal{O}\left(F^2\right)$$
(1.36)

where the functions f_1 and f_2 include dirac matrices and covariant derivatives. For a classical solution, where the fermions vanish, the bosonic variation is trivially satisfied, and the spinor solutions of the fermionic transformations determine the amount of unbroken supersymmetry, giving us shorter multiplets of the theory (BPS multiplets).

The action should contain the free action for both the graviton (the Einstein-Hilbert action), the gravitino (Rarita-Schwinger action) and an interacting term to ensure supersymmetry in the theory. The action [43] is given by

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(R - \bar{\psi}_{\mu} \gamma^{\mu\nu\rho} D_{\nu} \psi_{\rho} + \mathcal{L}[e,\psi] \right)$$
(1.37)

where $D_{\mu}\psi_{\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\psi_{\nu} + \frac{1}{4}\omega_{\mu}^{ab}\gamma_{ab}\psi_{\nu}$ and ω_{μ}^{ab} is the torsion-free spin connection defined by $de^{a} + \omega_{b}^{a} \wedge e^{b} = 0$. The supersymmetry transformations are

$$\delta e^{a}_{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} \bar{\varepsilon} \gamma^{a} \psi_{\mu}$$

$$\delta \psi_{\mu} = D_{\mu} \varepsilon(x) \equiv \partial_{\mu} \varepsilon + \frac{1}{4} \omega_{\mu a b} \gamma^{a b} \varepsilon$$
(1.38)

The first equation follows from the bosonic transformation only involving fermionic fields. The second follows from the gravitino being the gauge field of the theory. To find the interacting term, we treat the spin connection as an independent variable, the equation of motion for the spin connection can be solved to obtain a connection with torsion. This result can then be substituted in the action to obtain the theory with torsion-free connection and explicit four-fermion interacting terms. This procedure gives

$$de^a + \omega^a{}_b \wedge e^b = 0 = -\frac{i}{2}\bar{\psi}_\mu \gamma^a \psi_\nu \tag{1.39}$$

with solution

$$\omega_{\mu ab} = \omega_{\mu ab}(e) + K_{\mu ab},$$

$$K_{\mu\nu\rho} = -\frac{1}{4} \left(\bar{\psi}_{\mu} \gamma_{\rho} \psi_{\nu} - \bar{\psi}_{\nu} \gamma_{\mu} \psi_{\rho} + \bar{\psi}_{\rho} \gamma_{\nu} \psi_{\mu} \right)$$
(1.40)

The supergravity action invariant under the supersymmetry transformations then is given by

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(R - \bar{\psi}_{\mu} \gamma^{\mu\nu\rho} D_{\nu} \psi_{\rho} - \frac{1}{16} \left(\bar{\psi}^{\rho} \gamma^{\mu} \psi^{\nu} \right) \left(\bar{\psi}_{\rho} \gamma_{\mu} \psi_{\nu} + 2 \bar{\psi}_{\rho} \gamma_{\nu} \psi_{\mu} \right) + \frac{1}{4} \left(\bar{\psi}_{\mu} \gamma_{\nu} \psi^{\nu} \right) \left(\bar{\psi}^{\mu} \gamma_{\rho} \psi^{\rho} \right) \right)$$
(1.41)

which is invariant under the supersymmetry transformations

$$\delta e^{a}_{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} \bar{\varepsilon} \gamma^{a} \psi_{\mu}$$

$$\delta \psi_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} \varepsilon + \frac{1}{4} \left(\omega^{ab}_{\mu} + K^{ab}_{\mu} \right) \gamma_{ab} \varepsilon$$
(1.42)

1.2.3 Supergravity in higher dimensions

The importance of supergravity in D > 4 derives from supergravity being the low-energy effective action for fundamental theories such as string theories, which is the case for D = 11supergravity and M-theory, as well as D = 10 and type IIA and IIB string theory. Besides, dimensional reduction of supergravity in higher dimensions can be used to construct extended supergravity in lower dimensions.

Kaluza-Klein reduction procedure can lower the dimension of supergravity in $\mathbb{R}^{(1,D-1)}$ to $\mathbb{R}^{(1,D-1-d)}$ that includes a d-dimensional compact manifold ($\mathbb{R}^{(1,D-1-d)} \times X^d$), where any isometry of the manifold becomes a gauge symmetry in $\mathbb{R}^{(1,D-1-d)}$ [44]. An example is a massless vector field $A_M(x^M)$ where M = 0, 1, ..., D - 1 compactified in $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2} \times S^1$ where the circle has radius R. The vector field becomes a scalar and a vector field in the Lorentz group SO(1, D-2)

$$A_{\mu} = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} A_{\mu}^{n} \exp\left(\frac{iny}{R}\right), \quad \rho = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \rho_{n} \exp\left(\frac{iny}{R}\right)$$
(1.43)

If we write the field equation with a transverse gauge, we get a massless Klein-Gordon equation for each component indicating an infinite KK tower with masses $m_n^2 = n^2/R^2$. As $R \to 0$ all the modes, except for n = 0 become infinitely heavy and decouple. The action would get reduced into a massless gauge field and a massless scalar field

$$S_D = \int d^{D-1}x dy \frac{1}{g_D^2} F_{MN} F^{MN} = \int d^{D-1}x \left(\frac{2\pi R}{g_D^2} F_{(0)}^{\mu\nu} F_{(0)\mu\nu} + \frac{2\pi R}{g_D^2} \partial_\mu \rho_0 \partial^\mu \rho_0 \right) = S_{D-1}$$
(1.44)

D = 11 is the highest dimension allowed for a supergravity theory. The massless multiple (little group SO(9)) contains the metric(traceless symmetric with 44 d.o.f), and the vectorspinor gravitino (with 128 d.of). To match the fermionic and bosonic d.o.f, the theory needs an object with 84 d.o.f, which is the number of independent components of 3-form in 11D. Thus, 11D supergravity [45] in a circle is reduced to

$$g_{MN} \to g_{\mu\nu}, \quad g_{\mu10} \sim A_{\mu}, \quad g_{10,10} \sim \phi$$

$$A_{MNP} \to A_{\mu\nu\rho}, \quad A_{\mu\nu10} \sim B_{\mu\nu} \qquad (1.45)$$

$$\Psi_M \to (\Psi_{\mu,\alpha}, \Psi_{\mu\dot{\alpha}}), \quad (\Psi_{10\alpha} \sim \lambda_{\alpha}, \Psi_{10\dot{\alpha}} \sim \lambda_{\dot{\alpha}})$$

The local Lorentz invariance breaks from SO(1,10) to $SO(1,9) \times SO(1)$, allowing the triangular parametrization of the vielben

$$\hat{e}^{\hat{\alpha}}{}_{\hat{\mu}} = \begin{pmatrix} e^{\delta\phi} e^{\alpha}{}_{\mu} & 0 \\ e^{\phi} A_{\mu} & e^{\phi} \end{pmatrix} \quad \hat{\mu}, \hat{\alpha} = 0, \dots, 10 \quad \mu, \alpha = 0, \dots, 9 \tag{1.46}$$

With a similar procedure to the previous example, we can write the bosonic part of the action of the reduced supergravity to be [46]

$$S_{\text{IIA}} = \frac{1}{2} \int d^{10}x \sqrt{-g} \left(e^{-\phi} \left(R + 4\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial^{\mu}\phi - \frac{1}{2} |H_3|^2 \right) - \frac{1}{4} \left(|F_2|^2 + \left| \hat{F}_4 \right|^2 \right) \right) - \frac{1}{4} \int d^{10}x B_2 \wedge F_4 \wedge F_4 + \text{ (fermionic interactions) }, \qquad (1.47)$$

where $F_2 = dA_1 \cdot H_3 = dB_2$, $F_4 = dA_3$ and $\hat{F}_4 = F_4 - A_1 \wedge H_3$. Constructing consistent KK reductions can provide methods to construct explicit solutions in lower dimensions, which can be uplifted to the higher dimensional theory. Truncations and consistency of the KK towers have been studied in [47–49].

1.2.4 Ungauged and gauged supergravity

The KK procedure on $\mathbb{R}^{(1,D-1)} \times X^d$ induces gauge symmetries on the vector fields originated from the metric dimensional reduction [50,51]. This gauge is induced by the isometries of X^d . Starting from D=11 supergravity, maximal supergravities in lower dimensions are obtained by toroidal compactification, which preserves all the supersymmetries of the the parent theory. For toroidal KK reductions, the new matter fields are not charged under the abelian gauge group, and the matter fields of the KK tower are massless, obtaining an ungauged massless theory. More complex compactifications typically come with non-abelian gauge symmetries under which the matter fields are charged, and come with a scalar potential and masses for the matter fields.

Gauging an ungauged theory is possible via deformation, which consists of promoting a subgroup G_0 of the global symmetry group G of the ungauged theory, to a local gauge symmetry of the vector fields [52]. This procedure introduces mass deformations, scalar potential, and charged matter fields to maintain supersymmetry in the theory.

The bosonic field of supergravity is fixed by gauge covariance and diffeomorphism. Under the global symmetry, the scalar field and the gauge fields transform in non-linear and linear representations of G respectively. The scalar fields are parametrized by a coset G/K, where K is the maximal compact subgroup of G. A gauge fixing describing the scalar fields is given by the scalar matrix

$$\mathcal{V} = \exp\left\{\phi^a Y_a\right\} \tag{1.48}$$

where the generators Y_a span the lie algebra of the coset space. In this gauge, the global invariance of the scalar Lagrangian is manifest. We can write the Lagrangian sector via the current

$$J_{\mu} = \mathcal{V}^{-1} \partial_{\mu} \mathcal{V} = Q_{\mu} + P_{\mu} \tag{1.49}$$

where Q_{μ} is part of the Lie Algebra of K and behaves as a gauge field under it, taking the role of a composite connection for the fermion fields. P_{μ} is part of the orthogonal complement of the Lie Algebra of K, and can be used to build an invariant kinetic term under K

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{scalar}} = -\frac{1}{2} e \operatorname{Tr} \left(P_{\mu} P^{\mu} \right) \tag{1.50}$$

Gauging of the theory can be done via the embedding tensor formalism. Choosing a subgroup G_0 of G by selecting a subset of the generators of G. This subgroup gets promoted to local symmetry by the standard covariant derivative definition. Labeling the generators of the subgroup by X_M , we can introduce the embedding tensor [53, 54]

$$X_M \equiv \Theta_M{}^\alpha t_\alpha \tag{1.51}$$

where t_{α} are the generators of the global symmetry G. Once a particular choice for $\Theta_M{}^{\alpha}$ is made, the gauge group G_0 is fixed [55]. The generators X_M must close under into a sub-lie algebra of G, which sets linear (from supersymmetry) and quadratic ($\Theta_M{}^{\alpha}$ invariant under G_0) constraints on the form of the embedding tensor [53, 56].

These constraints are not enough to make the standard non-abelian field strength covariant. A new term proportional to the coupling constant needs to be added to the field strength. Once the free Lagrangian for both the scalar field and the new gauge field is found, it has to be invariant under supersymmetry. The invariance requires an extra term involving
fermionic mass terms and linear in the coupling constant. The supersymmetry transformations of the fermion fields add terms of order g^2 , which can be canceled by a scalar potential. Examples of the deformations and Lagrangians can be found in [57,58].

1.2.5 Domain walls

A CFT can be deformed by introducing relevant operators, which induce an RG flow connecting it to other CFTs. This introduces an energy scale, that breaks the conformal symmetry into Poincare symmetry. On the supergravity side, we can identify this energy scale with a radial direction that separates the regions, and gives different values to the matter fields on each region. A domain wall [59–61] is a supergravity solution separating two regions in space, which approach an AdS space. In these regions, we have two critical points of the potential, and the solutions of the EoM are two different AdS vacua which are dual to a CFT. The effective Lagrangian for a scalar on the boundary becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm QFT} = \mathcal{L}_{\rm CFT} + \phi_{(0)} \mathcal{O}_{\Delta} \tag{1.52}$$

where $\phi_{(0)}$ is the source for the dual operator. Relevant deformations of the CFT give rise to RG-flows that connect the two AdS vacua regions. The mapping between SUGRA and the CFT corresponds to: the critical point of SUGRA potential dual to fixed point in the beta function, warp-factor of the domain wall dual to energy scale, and the scalars dual to the coupling constant.

For a scalar-gravity toy model obeying Poincare symmetry, the most general ansatz for a domain-wall solution and the EoM are

$$ds^{2} = e^{2A(r)}\delta_{ij} dx^{i} dx^{j} + dr^{2}, \quad \phi = \phi(r)$$

$$A'^{2} = \frac{1}{d(d-1)} \left[\phi'^{2} - 2V(\phi)\right], \quad \phi'' + dA'\phi' = \frac{dV(\phi)}{d\phi}.$$
(1.53)

From this ansatz, the critical points of the potential are solutions of the EoM for constant

scalar ϕ_i and a warp factor of $A(r) = \pm (r + r_0)/L_i$ which matches the metric of an AdS space with boundary region at $r \to +\infty$ and deep interior at $r \to -\infty$. To get domain solutions that interpolate between the two critical points and are dual to the RG-flow, we work to the lowest order around the critical point where $\phi(r) = \phi_i + h(r)$, $A'(r) = 1/L_i + a'(r)$ and $V(\phi) \approx V(\phi_i) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{m_i^2}{L_i^2} h^2$. Using EoM, a'(r) is of order h^2 and can be neglected. The scalar equation and its solutions are

$$h'' + \frac{d}{L_i}h' - m_i^2 h = 0$$

$$h(r) = Be^{(\Delta_i - d)r/L_i} + Ce^{-\Delta_i \tau/L} \quad \text{with} \quad \Delta_i = \frac{1}{2} \left(d + \sqrt{d^2 + 4m_i^2 L_i^2} \right).$$
(1.54)

The fluctuation h has to vanish at the critical points. For $r \to \infty$, we need $d/2 < \Delta_1 < d$, which implies negative mass and a local maximum in the scalar potential, consistent with a relevant deformation of an ultraviolet CFT. For the second critical point $r \to -\infty$, the scale dimension obeys $\Delta_2 > d$ consistent with an infrared CFT, which approaches the UV critical point as $Be^{(\Delta_1 - d)r/L_1}$.

An equivalent solution for the domain wall ansatz is via an auxiliary quantity, the superpotential [62,63] defined as

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}W}{\mathrm{d}\phi}\right)^2 - \frac{d}{2(d-1)}W^2 = V(\phi) \tag{1.55}$$

The energy of the toy model is minimized when

$$\phi'(r) = \frac{\mathrm{d}W}{\mathrm{d}\phi}, \quad A'(r) = -\frac{1}{d-1}W(\phi)$$
 (1.56)

are obeyed. The solutions of these first-order equations are also solutions of the EoM. These emerge as BPS conditions for supersymmetric domain walls in supergravity theories. The superpotential can be extracted from the fermionic variation of the supergravity theory.

1.2.6 Janus ansatz

Non-supersymmetric backgrounds in string theory present challenges to computing wellbehaved quantities in AdS/CFT. The Janus solution [64] provides an example where supersymmetry is broken. Even then, the theory is stable [65,66] and the scalar curvature and the string coupling can be kept small everywhere in spacetime. An explicit example is a dilaton deformation in Type IIB background $AdS_5 \times S_5$ that breaks the isometry SO(4,2) of AdS_5 to SO(3,2). In the dual gauge theory side, the Janus corresponds to having a different SYM coupling in each half-space. The Janus solution joins the two boundaries at a conformal invariant interface under SO(3,2).

The Janus solution is based on a deformation of the AdS_{d+1} being sliced using AdS_d spaces. Starting from a Poincare patch metric $ds^2 = \frac{1}{z^2} \left(dz^2 + dx_{\perp}^2 - dt^2 + \sum_{i=2}^{d-1} dx_i^2 \right)$. Using the mapping

$$x_{\perp} = y \sin \mu, \quad z = y \cos \mu, \tag{1.57}$$

gives the sliced metric

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{\cos^{2}\mu} \left(d\mu^{2} + \frac{dy^{2} - dt^{2} + \sum_{i=2}^{d-1} dx_{i}^{2}}{y^{2}} \right) = f(\mu) \left(d\mu^{2} + ds_{AdS_{d}}^{2} \right)$$
(1.58)

where the two boundaries are located at $\mu = \pi/2$ and $\mu = -\pi/2$ and y = 0 corresponding to a (d-1)-dimensional interface where the two half-spaces are glued together.

The ansatz for a Janus solution of a dilatonic deformation of $AdS_5 \times S^5$ in type IIB string theory is

$$ds^{2} = f(\mu) \left(d\mu^{2} + ds^{2}_{AdS_{4}} \right) + ds^{2}_{S^{5}},$$

$$\phi = \phi(\mu),$$

$$F_{5} = 2f(\mu)^{\frac{5}{2}} d\mu \wedge \omega_{AdS_{4}} + 2\omega_{S^{5}},$$

(1.59)

and the EoM are

$$R_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\alpha} \phi \partial_{\beta} \phi - \frac{1}{4} F_{\alpha\beta}^{2} = 0$$

$$\partial_{\alpha} \left(\sqrt{g} g^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\beta} \phi \right) = 0$$
(1.60)
$$* F_{5} = F_{5}$$

The ansatz respects the $SO(2,3) \times SO(6)$ isometry. The solution for a constant dilaton is the AdS sliced metric, which implies a variation of the dilaton implies a deformation of the AdS space. Solving the scalar equation and the Einstein equations, we get

$$\phi'(\mu) = \frac{c_0}{f^{\frac{3}{2}}(\mu)}.$$

$$f'f' = 4f^3 - 4f^2 + \frac{c_0^2}{6}\frac{1}{f},$$
(1.61)

where the Einstein equation is equivalent to the motion of a particle with zero energy with a potential of minus the right-hand side. As $f \to \infty$, the dilaton is constant, and we recover the AdS sliced solution, which allows us to choose the branch of the potential that is physically relevant. These values are approached at the maximum of μ (the potential being monotonous in the branch). From the integration of both equations, we can get the jump on the dilaton between both boundaries to be

$$2\Delta\phi_0 = \phi\left(\mu_0\right) - \phi\left(-\mu_0\right) = 2\int_{f_{\min}}^{\infty} \frac{c_0 df}{2f^{3/2}\sqrt{f^3 - f^2 + \frac{c_0^2}{24f}}} > 0 \tag{1.62}$$

where μ_0 is the maximum value which grows with the constant c_0 until the solution becomes singular for $c_0 > 9/4\sqrt{2}$ (the potential becomes negative for any f). Since the value of the dilaton differs on both boundaries, the dual gauge coupling constant also jumps between boundaries, hence the dual gauge theory is considered an interface CFT.

Different deformations on the gauge theory side of the correspondence being dual to deformations on the string theory side have been studied [67,68], as well as the Janus solutions

in different dimensions [69,70]. Supersymmetric Janus solutions that realize superconformal interface theories can be found via the addition of interface operators whose support is confined to the interface [71–74].

1.3 Conformal interfaces

Conformal interfaces, a situation in which two non-trivial CFTs are glued together along a common interface, are pervasive both in condensed matter systems [75, 76] and in studies of holographic duality [77, 78]. The interface can be permeable, and the AdS/CFT correspondence provides an approach to calculate energy transmission through a large class of interfaces with holographic duals. The interface can be described as a boundary state in the tensor product theory using the folding trick along the interface so that both CFTs live on the same side. For detailed derivations and review of the topic, see [79, 80].

Here we review general properties of 2D ICFTs for a free boson. The gluing conditions for the free boson would be:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \partial_x \phi \\ \partial_t \phi \end{pmatrix}_{x=-0} = M \begin{pmatrix} \partial_x \phi \\ \partial_t \phi \end{pmatrix}_{x=+0}$$
(1.63)

where the interface is located at x = 0 and M a constant matrix 2×2 . Energy conservation requires

$$T_{xt} = T_{++} - T_{--} = \partial_x \phi \partial_t \phi$$

to be continuous throughout the interface and we used light-cone coordinates $x^{\pm} = t \pm x$. This continuity implies that M is an element of O(1, 1), which has the components

$$M = \pm \begin{pmatrix} \tan \theta & 0 \\ 0 & \cot \theta \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{or} \quad M' = \pm \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \cot \theta \\ \tan \theta & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.64)

with $\theta \in [-\pi/2, \pi/2]$, being the singular cases perfectly reflecting interfaces, while $\theta =$

 $\pm \pi/4$ perfectly transmitting cases. Another useful object is the scattering matrix S from which the reflection and transmission coefficients can be obtained.

Using the notation ϕ^1 for the field to the left of the interface and ϕ^2 for the field to the right, we can write the gluing conditions in terms of incoming $(\partial_-\phi^1 \text{ and } \partial_+\phi^2)$ and outgoing $(\partial_+\phi^1 \text{ and } \partial_-\phi^2)$ waves:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \partial_{-}\phi^{1} \\ \partial_{+}\phi^{2} \end{pmatrix} = S \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{+}\phi^{1} \\ \partial_{-}\phi^{2} \end{pmatrix}$$
 (1.65)

Comparing both the M and S matrices and matching the gluing conditions, one obtains

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} -\cos 2\vartheta & \sin 2\vartheta \\ \sin 2\vartheta & \cos 2\vartheta \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad S' = \begin{pmatrix} \cos 2\vartheta & -\sin 2\vartheta \\ \sin 2\vartheta & \cos 2\vartheta \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.66)

To describe the interface as a D-brane, we can use the folding trick [80] where we define a 'conjugate' field in the left-half plane by mirror reflecting the field on the right (ϕ^2)

$$\hat{\phi}^2(x,t) \equiv \phi^2(-x,t) \quad \text{for} \quad x \le 0.$$
 (1.67)

With this identification x = 0 becomes the boundary for $CFT_1 \times \overline{CFT}_2$, and S maps operators from the right-plane to a conjugate one on the left $(a_n^i \to S_{ij}\bar{a}_{-n}^j)$. The gluing conditions for the M matrix are

$$\hat{\phi}^2(x,t) \equiv \phi^2(-x,t) \quad \text{for} \quad x \le 0.$$
 (1.68)

which are the boundary conditions for a D1-brane [81] in the $(\phi^1, \hat{\phi}^2)$ plane along θ . The conformal boundary state for a D1-brane

$$|b\rangle = \mathcal{N} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \exp\left(\frac{1}{n} a_{-n}^{i} \bar{a}_{-n}^{j} S_{ij}\right) |0\rangle$$
(1.69)

where $a_n^{1,2}$ are the left-moving modes for ϕ^1 and $\hat{\phi}^2$ such that $[a_m, a_n] = m\delta_{m+n,0}$. This state is annihilated by

$$(a_m^i - S_{ij}\bar{a}_{-m}^j)|b\rangle = 0,$$
 (1.70)

A natural generalization for a general CFT is to use the Virasoro algebra instead of the normal modes of the free boson. A possible guess would be $(L_m^i - S_{ij}\bar{L}_{-m}^j)|b\rangle = 0$, but this is only consistent for total transmission or total reflection at the interface. In [79], they found that the matrix

$$R_{ij} = \frac{\langle 0|L_2^i \bar{L}_2^j |b\rangle}{\langle 0|b\rangle} \tag{1.71}$$

describes the reflection and transmission coefficients for ICFTs

$$\mathcal{R} = \frac{2}{c_1 + c_2} \left(R_{11} + R_{22} \right)$$

$$\mathcal{T} = \frac{2}{c_1 + c_2} \left(R_{12} + R_{21} \right)$$

(1.72)

Expanding the boundary state of the free boson

$$|b\rangle = \mathcal{N} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \exp\left(\frac{1}{n} a_{-n}^{i} \bar{a}_{-n}^{j} S_{ij}\right) |0\rangle$$

$$= \mathcal{N} \left(1 + a_{-1}^{i} \bar{a}_{-1}^{j} S_{ij} + \frac{1}{2} \left(a_{-1}^{i} \bar{a}_{-1}^{j} S_{ij}\right)^{2} + a_{-2}^{i} \bar{a}_{-2}^{j} S_{ij} + \dots\right) |0\rangle$$
(1.73)

Using $L_{-2}^i|0\rangle = \frac{1}{2}a_{-1}^i a_{-1}^i|0\rangle$ and the commutator of the normal modes, one notices that only the third term of the boundary state expansion survives. One obtains

$$R_{ij}\langle 0 \mid b \rangle = \langle 0 | L_2^i \bar{L}_2^j | b \rangle = \frac{\mathcal{N}}{2} \left(S_{ij} \right)^2 \tag{1.74}$$

which gives us

$$\mathcal{R} = \cos^2(2\theta), \quad \mathcal{T} = \sin^2(2\theta).$$
 (1.75)

We can also compute the transmission coefficient for two AdS_3 slices separated by a string of tension σ . The calculation [82] is done by scattering surface-gravity waves in a semiclassical geometry dual to the ground state of the ICFT and gluing the matching conditions

$$\gamma_{L,\alpha\beta} = \gamma_{R,\alpha\beta}$$

$$[K_{\alpha\beta}] - [\operatorname{tr} K]\gamma_{\alpha\beta} = 8\pi G \sigma \gamma_{\alpha\beta}$$
(1.76)

where $\gamma_{L,R}$ and $K_{L,R}$ are the induced metric and extrinsic curvature of the metric $ds_L^2 = \frac{\ell_L^2}{y_L^2} \left[dy_L^2 + du_L^2 - dt_L^2 \right]$ for $u_L \leq y_L \tan \theta_L$, and analogous for the right side. These equations give

$$\ell_W = \frac{\ell_L}{\cos \theta_L} = \frac{\ell_R}{\cos \theta_R} = \frac{\tan \theta_L + \tan \theta_R}{8\pi G\sigma}$$
(1.77)

which gives a relation for the string tension of the interface in terms of the AdS_3 slices geometric properties and the metric. Matching these gluing conditions to the incoming scattering surface-gravity waves and using the no outgoing wave condition [83], one obtains

$$\mathcal{T}_L = \frac{2\cos\theta_R}{\cos\theta_R \left(1 + \sin\theta_L\right) + \cos\theta_L \left(1 + \sin\theta_R\right)}.$$
(1.78)

combining it with (1.77), we get

$$\mathcal{T}_{L,R} = \frac{2}{\ell_{L,R}} \left[\frac{1}{\ell_L} + \frac{1}{\ell_R} + 8\pi G\sigma \right]^{-1}$$
(1.79)

We can also compute transmission coefficients for general 2D ICFTs that admit a smooth holographic dual of 3D gravity coupled to any matter. Instead of one thin brane, we can model it as a discrete set of thin branes, using the argument that transmission past a pair of thin branes interfaces with tensions σ_1, σ_2 is the same as for a single thin brane with tension $\sigma_1 + \sigma_2$ [84]. In this case (1.79) is still valid with the replacement

$$\sigma \to \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\sigma}{dy} dy \text{ and } \begin{cases} \ell_L \to 1/\sqrt{-\Lambda(-\infty)} \\ \ell_R \to 1/\sqrt{-\Lambda(\infty)} \end{cases}$$
(1.80)

In [85], the authors derive a relation between the string tension and a scalar field in AdS_n with a thin-brane array separating left and right, by replacing the array with a "pizza" of AdS_n slices separated by thin tensile branes obtaining

$$d\sigma = \left(\phi'\right)^2 dy \tag{1.81}$$

where y is the radial coordinate of AdS.

CHAPTER 2

Janus and RG-flow interfaces in three-dimensional gauged supergravity

Janus solutions provide holographic constructions of interface conformal field theories (CFTs). In many known examples, the solutions are constructed by considering an AdS_d slicing of a (d + 1)-dimensional space where the scalar fields depend non-trivially on the slicing coordinate. One of the most well-known examples is the Janus solution of [64], which is a deformation of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ vacuum of type IIB and is given by an AdS_4 slicing where the dilation depends non-trivially on the slicing coordinate. The solution is dual to an interface of N = 4 super Yang-Mills (SYM) theory where the coupling g_{YM} jumps across a co-dimension one interface [86]. This solution breaks all the supersymmetries, but a general solution given by an $AdS_4 \times S^2 \times S^2$ space warped over a Riemann surface can preserve half the supersymmetries of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ vacuum [87] and is dual to supersymmetric interface theories in N = 4 SYM [88–90]. For other examples of Janus solutions in type II and M-theory, see e.g. [69, 71, 91].

Instead of constructing solutions in ten or eleven dimensions, it is often useful to use lower-dimensional gauged supergravities since the ansatz and resulting equations are simpler. Often the resulting solutions can be uplifted to higher dimensions, but even if the uplift is not known the gauged supergravity solutions are useful for studying universal and qualitative features of interface solutions. For an incomplete list of such solutions in various dimensions, see e.g. [70, 72, 92–97].

A related construction is given by holographic RG-flows, which consider a Poincaré slicing

instead of an AdS slicing. If the solutions asymptotically approach two AdS vacua with different cosmological constants, we can interpret this solution as an RG-flow from a CFT in the UV to a CFT in the IR which is triggered by turning on a relevant deformation in the UV [61, 98, 99]. On the other hand, for most examples of AdS-sliced holographic interface solutions the CFTs on both sides of the interface are the same and differ only by a marginal deformation (such as different values of $g_{\rm YM}$ in the example discussed above) or a position-dependent profile of the expectation value of a relevant operator [69].

In [100], Gaiotto proposed the idea of a RG-interface in two-dimensional CFTs, where the two sides of the interface are CFTs related by a RG-flow. The goal of the current paper is to construct holographic solutions which realize this idea.¹ We consider three-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 8$ gauged supergravity with n = 4 vector multiplets, first discussed in [104]. This theory has an AdS₃ vacuum with maximal $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ supersymmetry as well as two families of AdS₃ vacua with $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ supersymmetry [105]. The theory gauges a SO(4)×SO(4) symmetry of the SO(8, 4)/SO(8)×SO(4) coset. The gauging depends on a continuous parameter α where the superconformal algebra of the $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ vacuum is given by the "large" superconformal algebra $D^1(2, 1; \alpha) \times D^1(2, 1; \alpha)$, and the three-dimensional supergravity is believed to be a truncation of M-theory on AdS₃ × S³ × S³ × S¹ [106–109]. In this paper, we primarily focus on the case $\alpha = 1$ for which the expressions for the flow equations are the simplest.

In [105], the Poincaré-sliced holographic RG-flow solutions were constructed for the $\mathcal{N} =$ 8 gauged supergravity, which interpolate between the $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ and $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vacua. The goal of the present paper is to construct Janus solutions which realize the interface between the same CFT at different points in the moduli space as well as RG-flow interfaces between CFTs preserving different numbers of supersymmetries.

The structure of this paper is as follows. In section 2.1, we review the $\mathcal{N} = 8$ gauged supergravity theory we will be using in the paper and discuss the different supersymmetric

¹See [101-103] for earlier attempts in this direction.

AdS₃ vacua. In section 2.2, we derive the BPS equations for a Janus ansatz following from the vanishing of the gravitino and spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ supersymmetry variations. In section 2.3, we solve the BPS equations for various truncations which make the analysis of the flow equations manageable. For a Janus interface between the $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ vacuum we find an analytic solution, whereas for the RG-flow interfaces the flow equations can only be solved numerically. We present the solutions and provide evidence for our interpretation of these solutions as RG-flow interfaces. In section 2.4, we close with a discussion and open questions.

2.1 Three-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 8$ gauged supergravity

In this section, we review the $\mathcal{N} = 8$ gauged supergravity first constructed in [104]. The theory is characterized by the number n of vector multiplets. The bosonic field content consists of a graviton $g_{\mu\nu}$, Chern-Simons gauge fields $B^{\mathcal{M}}_{\mu}$, and scalars fields living in a $G/H = \mathrm{SO}(8, n)/\mathrm{SO}(8) \times \mathrm{SO}(n)$ coset, which has 8n degrees of freedom before gauging. The scalar fields can be parametrized by a G-valued matrix L(x) in the vector representation, which transforms under H and the gauge group $G_0 \subseteq G$ by

$$L(x) \to g_0(x)L(x)h^{-1}(x)$$
 (2.1)

for $g_0 \in G_0$ and $h \in H$. The Lagrangian is invariant under such transformations.

For future reference, we use the following index conventions:

- $I, J, \ldots = 1, 2, \ldots, 8$ for SO(8).
- $r, s, \ldots = 9, 10, \ldots, n+8$ for SO(n).
- $\bar{I}, \bar{J}, \ldots = 1, 2, \ldots, n+8$ for SO(8, n).
- $\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}, \ldots$ for generators of SO(8, n).

Let the generators of G be $\{t^{\mathcal{M}}\} = \{t^{\bar{I}\bar{J}}\} = \{X^{IJ}, X^{rs}, Y^{Ir}\}$, where Y^{Ir} are the noncompact

generators. Explicitly, the generators of the vector representation are given by

$$(t^{\bar{I}\bar{J}})^{\bar{K}}{}_{\bar{L}} = \eta^{\bar{I}\bar{K}}\delta^{\bar{J}}_{\bar{L}} - \eta^{\bar{J}\bar{K}}\delta^{\bar{I}}_{\bar{L}}$$
(2.2)

where $\eta^{\bar{I}\bar{J}} = \text{diag}(+++++++++\cdots)$ is the SO(8, *n*)-invariant tensor. These generators satisfy the typical SO(8, *n*) commutation relations,

$$[t^{\bar{I}\bar{J}}, t^{\bar{K}\bar{L}}] = 2\left(\eta^{\bar{I}[\bar{K}}t^{\bar{L}]\bar{J}} - \eta^{\bar{J}[\bar{K}}t^{\bar{L}]\bar{I}}\right)$$
(2.3)

The gauging of the supergravity is characterized by an embedding tensor $\Theta_{\mathcal{MN}}$ (which has to satisfy various identities [110]) that determines which isometries are gauged, the coupling to the Chern-Simons fields, and additional terms in the supersymmetry transformations and action depending on the gauge coupling g. We will look at the particular case in [105] where $n \geq 4$ and the gauged subgroup is the $G_0 = SO(4) \times SO(4)$ subset of the $SO(8) \subset SO(8, n)$. The embedding tensor has the entries,²

$$\Theta_{\bar{I}\bar{J},\bar{K}\bar{L}} = \begin{cases} \alpha \varepsilon_{\bar{I}\bar{J}\bar{K}\bar{L}} & \text{if } \bar{I}, \bar{J}, \bar{K}, \bar{L} \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\} \\ \varepsilon_{\bar{I}\bar{J}\bar{K}\bar{L}} & \text{if } \bar{I}, \bar{J}, \bar{K}, \bar{L} \in \{5, 6, 7, 8\} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

Note that the gauging depends on a real parameter α . As discussed in [105], the maximally supersymmetric AdS₃ vacuum has an isometry group,

$$D^{1}(2,1;\alpha) \times D^{1}(2,1;\alpha)$$
 (2.5)

which corresponds to the family of "large" superconformal algebras of the dual SCFT. In the following, we will consider the special case $\alpha = 1$ for which $D^1(2, 1; 1) = OSp(4|2)$ and the form of many quantities defined below are most compact. We expect that for generic values of α the qualitative behavior of the solutions will be similar.

²We use the conventions $\varepsilon_{1234} = \varepsilon_{5678} = 1$.

From the embedding tensor, the G_0 -covariant currents can be obtained,

$$L^{-1}(\partial_{\mu} + g\Theta_{\mathcal{M}\mathcal{N}}B^{\mathcal{M}}_{\mu}t^{\mathcal{N}})L = \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{Q}^{IJ}_{\mu}X^{IJ} + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{Q}^{rs}_{\mu}X^{rs} + \mathcal{P}^{Ir}_{\mu}Y^{Ir}$$
(2.6)

It is convenient to define the $\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{M}}$ tensors,

$$L^{-1}t^{\mathcal{M}}L = \mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{M}}_{\ \mathcal{A}}t^{\mathcal{A}} = \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{M}}_{\ IJ}X^{IJ} + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{M}}_{\ rs}X^{rs} + \mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{M}}_{\ Ir}Y^{Ir}$$
(2.7)

and the T-tensor,

$$T_{\mathcal{A}|\mathcal{B}} = \Theta_{\mathcal{M}\mathcal{N}} \mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{M}}_{\ \mathcal{A}} \mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{N}}_{\ \mathcal{B}}$$
(2.8)

The *T*-tensor is used to construct the tensors $A_{1,2,3}$ which will appear in the scalar potential and the supersymmetry transformations,

$$A_{1}^{AB} = -\frac{1}{48} \Gamma_{AB}^{IJKL} T_{IJ|KL}$$

$$A_{2}^{A\dot{A}r} = -\frac{1}{12} \Gamma_{A\dot{A}}^{IJK} T_{IJ|Kr}$$

$$A_{3}^{\dot{A}r\dot{B}s} = \frac{1}{48} \delta^{rs} \Gamma_{\dot{A}\dot{B}}^{IJKL} T_{IJ|KL} + \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{\dot{A}\dot{B}}^{IJ} T_{IJ|rs}$$
(2.9)

where A, B and \dot{A}, \dot{B} are SO(8)-spinor indices. Our conventions for the SO(8) Gamma matrices are presented in the appendix.

We take the spacetime signature $\eta^{ab} = \text{diag}(+ - -)$ to be mostly negative. The bosonic Lagrangian and scalar potential are

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{\text{bos}} = -\frac{1}{4}R + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{Ir}\mathcal{P}^{Ir\,\mu} + W - \frac{1}{4}e^{-1}\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}g\Theta_{\mathcal{MN}}B_{\mu}^{\mathcal{M}}\left(\partial_{\nu}B_{\rho}^{\mathcal{N}} + \frac{1}{3}g\Theta_{\mathcal{KL}}f^{\mathcal{NK}}{}_{\mathcal{P}}B_{\nu}^{\mathcal{L}}B_{\rho}^{\mathcal{P}}\right)$$
$$W = \frac{1}{4}g^{2}\left(A_{1}^{AB}A_{1}^{AB} - \frac{1}{2}A_{2}^{A\dot{A}r}A_{2}^{A\dot{A}r}\right)$$
(2.10)

The supersymmetry variations are

$$\delta\chi^{\dot{A}r} = \frac{1}{2}i\Gamma^{I}_{A\dot{A}}\gamma^{\mu}\varepsilon^{A}\mathcal{P}^{Ir}_{\mu} + gA^{A\dot{A}r}_{2}\varepsilon^{A}$$
$$\delta\psi^{A}_{\mu} = \left(\partial_{\mu}\varepsilon^{A} + \frac{1}{4}\omega^{ab}_{\mu}\gamma_{ab}\varepsilon^{A} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{Q}^{IJ}_{\mu}\Gamma^{IJ}_{AB}\varepsilon^{B}\right) + igA^{AB}_{1}\gamma_{\mu}\varepsilon^{B}$$
(2.11)

The Einstein equation of motion is

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \mathcal{P}^{Ir}_{\mu} \mathcal{P}^{Ir}_{\nu} - 4W g_{\mu\nu} = 0 \qquad (2.12)$$

and the gauge field equation of motion is

$$e\mathcal{P}^{Ir\,\lambda}\Theta_{\mathcal{QM}}\mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{M}}_{Ir} = \varepsilon^{\lambda\mu\nu} \left(\Theta_{\mathcal{QM}}\partial_{\mu}B^{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} + \frac{1}{6}gB^{\mathcal{M}}_{\mu}B^{\mathcal{K}}_{\nu}\left(\Theta_{\mathcal{MN}}\Theta_{\mathcal{KL}}f^{\mathcal{NL}}_{\ \mathcal{Q}} + 2\Theta_{\mathcal{MN}}f^{\mathcal{LN}}_{\ \mathcal{K}}\Theta_{\mathcal{LQ}}\right)\right)$$
(2.13)

2.1.1 The n = 4 case

Let us focus on the case of four vector multiplets, i.e. n = 4. The symmetries consist of a local $G_0 = SO(4) \times SO(4)$ and a global SO(n = 4). Thus, the scalar potential only depends on $8 \cdot 4 - 3 \cdot 6 = 14$ parameters out of the original 32. Moreover, we will only consider a further consistent truncation outlined in [105] where the coset representative depends on eight of the fourteen scalars.

$$L = \begin{pmatrix} \cos A & \sin A \cosh B & \sin A \sinh B \\ -\sin A & \cos A \cosh B & \cos A \sinh B \\ 0 & \sinh B & \cosh B \end{pmatrix}$$
$$A = \operatorname{diag}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) , \qquad B = \operatorname{diag}(q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4)$$
(2.14)

With this truncation, the scalar potential is^3

$$g^{-2}W = 1 + \prod_{i=1}^{4} \cosh q_i + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i=1}^{4} \sinh^2 q_i - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i < j < k} (x_i^2 x_j^2 x_k^2 + y_i^2 y_j^2 y_k^2) - \frac{1}{2} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{4} x_i + \prod_{i=1}^{4} y_i \right)^2$$
$$x_i = \cos p_i \sinh q_i , \qquad y_i = \sin p_i \sinh q_i$$
(2.15)

³We correct a small typo in the potential given in [105].

The Q_{μ} and \mathcal{P}_{μ} currents, excluding the $g\Theta_{\mathcal{M}\mathcal{N}}B^{\mathcal{M}}_{\mu}\mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{N}}_{\mathcal{A}}$ term, are

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}^{IJ} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cosh q_{1}\partial_{\mu}p_{1} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cosh q_{2}\partial_{\mu}p_{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cosh q_{3}\partial_{\mu}p_{3} & 0 \\ -\cosh q_{1}\partial_{\mu}p_{1} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\cosh q_{2}\partial_{\mu}p_{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\cosh q_{3}\partial_{\mu}p_{3} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\cosh q_{4}\partial_{\mu}p_{4} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \end{pmatrix}_{IJ}$$

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}^{Is} = 0$$

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{Ir} = \begin{pmatrix} \sinh q_{1}\partial_{\mu}p_{1} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sin h q_{2}\partial_{\mu}p_{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \sin h q_{3}\partial_{\mu}p_{3} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \sin h q_{4}\partial_{\mu}p_{4} \\ \partial_{\mu}q_{1} & 0 & 0 & \sin h q_{4}\partial_{\mu}p_{4} \\ \partial_{\mu}q_{1} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \partial_{\mu}q_{3} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \partial_{\mu}q_{3} & 0 \\ \end{pmatrix}_{Ir} \qquad (2.16)$$

Using these matrices, we can check that the combination $\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{Ir} \mathcal{V}^{JK}{}_{Ir}$ vanishes whenever the indices $J, K \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$ or $J, K \in \{5, 6, 7, 8\}$. This implies that there is no source for $B_{\mu}^{\mathcal{M}}$ in the gauge field equation of motion (2.13), so it is consistent to set $B_{\mu}^{\mathcal{M}} = 0$. We will make this choice from now on.

2.1.2 Truncations and supersymmetric AdS₃ vacua

In order to make our analysis more tractable, we make further truncations to reduce the number of independent scalar fields. Below we consider three truncations, which together explore the AdS₃ vacua with $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ and $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ supersymmetry.

2.1.2.1 Truncation 1

The first truncation is given by calling $q_1 = q$, $p_1 = p$ and setting all remaining $q_i = p_i = 0$ for i = 2, 3, 4. The scalar potential is

$$W = \frac{g^2}{2} \cosh^2 \frac{q}{2} \left(3 + \cosh q\right)$$
(2.17)

The $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ vacuum is given by setting q = 0 and the vacuum potential is $W_0 = 2g^2$.

2.1.2.2 Truncation 2

The second truncation is given by setting all the qs and ps equal, i.e. $q_i = q$, $p_i = p$ for i = 1, 2, 3, 4. The scalar potential is

$$W = \frac{g^2}{8192} \Big(8103 + 6856 \cosh 2q + 1452 \cosh 4q - 8 \cosh 6q - 19 \cosh 8q - 768(3 + \cosh 2q) \cos 4p \sinh^6 q - 128 \cos 8p \sinh^8 q \Big)$$
(2.18)

The $\mathcal{N} = (4,4)$ vacuum is given by q = 0 as before, and $\mathcal{N} = (1,1)$ vacua are given by $q = \pm \sinh^{-1} \sqrt{2}$ and $p = \pi(\mathbb{Z}/2 + 1/4)$ which have a vacuum potential of $W_0 = 8g^2$.

2.1.2.3 Truncation 3

The third truncation is given by setting the first three q_s and p_s equal, i.e. $q_i = q$, $p_i = p$ for i = 1, 2, 3, and setting the remaining $q_4 = p_4 = 0$. The scalar potential is

$$W = \frac{g^2}{1024} \Big(690 + 768 \cosh q + 309 \cosh 2q + 256 \cosh 3q \\ + 30 \cosh 4q - 5 \cosh 6q - 96 \cos 4p \sinh^6 q \Big)$$
(2.19)

The $\mathcal{N} = (4,4)$ vacuum is given by q = 0 as before, and $\mathcal{N} = (1,1)$ vacua are given by $q = \pm \sinh^{-1} \sqrt{2 + 2\sqrt{2}}$ and $p = \pi(\mathbb{Z}/2 + 1/4)$ which have a vacuum potential of $W_0 = 2(1+\sqrt{2})^2 g^2$.

2.2 Janus flow equations

In this section, we present the equations of motion and supersymmetry variations for a Janus ansatz where the three-dimensional metric is written as an AdS₂ slicing and the scalar fields only depend on the slicing coordinate. We will also set the Chern-Simons gauge $B^{\mathcal{M}}_{\mu}$ fields to zero, which is consistent as argued in section 2.2.1. Hence, the Janus ansatz is given by

$$ds^{2} = e^{2B(u)} \left(\frac{dt^{2} - dz^{2}}{z^{2}} \right) - du^{2} , \qquad B^{\mathcal{M}}_{\mu} = 0$$
$$q_{i} = q_{i}(u) , \qquad p_{i} = p_{i}(u)$$
(2.20)

The Ricci tensor has the non-zero components,

$$R_{tt} = -R_{zz} = z^{-2} \left(1 + e^{2B} (2B'^2 + B'') \right)$$
$$R_{uu} = -2(B'^2 + B'')$$
(2.21)

The prime ' denotes a derivative with respect to the slicing coordinate u. The gravitino supersymmetry variation $\delta\psi^A_\mu=0$ is

$$0 = \partial_t \varepsilon + \frac{1}{2z} \gamma_0 (\gamma_1 - B' e^B \gamma_2 + 2ig e^B A_1) \varepsilon$$

$$0 = \partial_z \varepsilon + \frac{1}{2z} \gamma_1 (-B' e^B \gamma_2 + 2ig e^B A_1) \varepsilon$$

$$0 = \partial_u \varepsilon + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{Q}_u^{IJ} \Gamma^{IJ} \varepsilon + ig \gamma_2 A_1 \varepsilon$$
(2.22)

where we have suppressed the SO(8)-spinor indices of ε^A and A_1^{AB} . There are two integrability conditions which can be derived from the gravitino variations (2.22) in the t, z and z, udirections respectively

$$0 = \left(1 - (2ge^{B}A_{1})^{2} + (B'e^{B})^{2}\right)\varepsilon$$

$$0 = 2ige^{B}\left(A'_{1} - \frac{1}{4}[A_{1}, \mathcal{Q}_{u}^{IJ}\Gamma^{IJ}]\right)\varepsilon + \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}u}(B'e^{B}) + (2ge^{B}A_{1})^{2}e^{-B}\right)\gamma_{2}\varepsilon \qquad (2.23)$$

We can use the first integrability condition to express the second one as

$$2ig\left(A_1' - \frac{1}{4}[A_1, \mathcal{Q}_u^{IJ}\Gamma^{IJ}]\right)\varepsilon + \left(-B'' + e^{-2B}\right)\gamma_2\varepsilon = 0$$
(2.24)

The spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ variation $\delta \chi^{\dot{A}} = 0$ is

$$\left(-\frac{i}{2}\Gamma^{I}\mathcal{P}_{u}^{Ir}\gamma_{2}+gA_{2}^{r}\right)_{A\dot{A}}\varepsilon^{A}=0, \qquad r=9,10,\ldots,8+n$$
(2.25)

2.2.1 Eigenvectors of A_1

It follows from (2.9) that A_1 is a 8×8 matrix which has eigenvectors

$$A_1^{AB} n_{\pm}^{(i)B} = \pm w_i n_{\pm}^{(i)A} , \qquad i = 1, 2, 3, 4$$
(2.26)

The eigenvalues w_i determine whether a supersymmetric AdS₃ vacuum can exist. In the following we denote the positive supersymmetric eigenvalue w(u), which can be determined as follows: for the AdS₂-sliced metric given in (2.20), the AdS₃ vacuum solution with potential W_0 is given by

$$B_{\rm vac}(u) = \ln \frac{\cosh\left(\sqrt{2W_0}u\right)}{\sqrt{2W_0}} \tag{2.27}$$

which satisfies

$$B_{\rm vac}^{\prime 2} + e^{-2B_{\rm vac}} - 2W_0 = 0 \tag{2.28}$$

When we expand the spinors ε^A in terms of the eigenvectors of A_1 , the first equation in (2.23) implies for the spinor component associated with the eigenvalue w that

$$B^{\prime 2} + e^{-2B} - 4g^2 w^2 = 0 (2.29)$$

For the AdS_3 vacuum solution (2.27), this condition relates the eigenvalue evaluated at the vacuum w_{vac} to the potential W_0 via

$$w_{\rm vac}^2 = \frac{W_0}{2g^2} \tag{2.30}$$

As discussed in section 2.3 for truncation 1, A_1 has eight eigenvectors $n_{\pm}^{(i)}$ for i = 1, 2, 3, 4all with the same with eigenvalue $\pm w$ that satisfy the supersymmetry condition (2.30) for the AdS₃ vacuum with q = 0. Hence, this vacuum preserves $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ supersymmetry. On the other hand for truncations 2 and 3, there are only two eigenvectors n_{\pm} with an eigenvalue $\pm w$ that satisfy (2.30) for the AdS₃ vacua with non-trivial values for the scalars. Consequently, these vacua only preserve $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ supersymmetry. For the RG-flow solutions which interpolate between the different vacua, we expand the spinors in the basis of the eigenspinors that correspond to the supersymmetric vacuum when the scalars take their vacuum values. This implies that (2.29) can be solved for B',

$$B' = \pm \sqrt{4g^2 w^2 - e^{-2B}}$$
$$= \pm 2gw\gamma \qquad (2.31)$$

where we defined the convenient combinations,

$$\gamma(u) = \sqrt{1 - \frac{e^{-2B}}{4g^2w^2}}, \qquad \sqrt{1 - \gamma^2(u)} = \frac{e^{-B}}{2gw}$$
 (2.32)

which will be useful later on. The two signs in (2.31) are two branches of solutions which for Janus solutions will be patched together—the numerical evolution usually breaks down at B' = 0 and this is the location where the two branches will be glued together.

2.2.2 AdS_2 Killing spinors

The Killing spinors for a unit radius AdS_2 with metric,

$$ds_{AdS_2}^2 = \frac{dt^2 - dz^2}{z^2}$$
(2.33)

satisfy the following equation,

$$D_{\mu}\zeta_{\eta} = i\frac{\eta}{2}\gamma_{\mu}\zeta_{\eta} , \qquad \mu = t, z \qquad (2.34)$$

with $\eta = \pm 1$. The covariant derivatives on AdS₂ take the form,

$$D_t = \partial_t \varepsilon + \frac{1}{2z} \gamma_0 \gamma_1 , \qquad D_z = \partial_z$$
 (2.35)

Since the general spinor in AdS_2 is a two-component spinor, the ζ_{\pm} form a basis of twocomponent spinors. Since spinors in three dimensions are also two-component spinors, the ζ_{\pm} are also a basis of the spinors in three dimensions. Note that $\gamma_2 = i\gamma_{\#}$ where $\gamma_{\#}^2 = 1$ and

$$i\gamma_2\zeta_\eta = \zeta_{-\eta} , \qquad \eta = \pm 1$$
 (2.36)

The general ansatz for ε^A is given by

$$\varepsilon^{A} = \sum_{i} \left(f_{+}^{(i)} n_{+}^{(i)A} + f_{-}^{(i)} n_{-}^{(i)A} \right) \zeta_{+} + \left(g_{+}^{(i)} n_{+}^{(i)A} + g_{-}^{(i)} n_{-}^{(i)A} \right) \zeta_{-}$$
(2.37)

For truncation 1 we have i = 1, 2, 3, 4, which label four eigenvectors of A_1 , whereas in truncations 2 and 3 the index *i* is dropped.

2.2.3 First projector

With this ansatz for the spinors ε^A , the first two components of the gravitino variation,

$$0 = \partial_t \varepsilon + \frac{1}{2z} \gamma_0 (\gamma_1 - B' e^B \gamma_2 + 2ig e^B A_1) \varepsilon$$

$$0 = \partial_z \varepsilon + \frac{1}{2z} \gamma_1 (-B' e^B \gamma_2 + 2ig e^B A_1) \varepsilon$$
(2.38)

can be expressed as follows by using the properties of the AdS_2 Killing spinors,

$$0 = i \left\{ \left(f_{+}^{(i)} n_{+}^{(i)A} + f_{-}^{(i)} n_{-}^{(i)A} \right) \zeta_{+} - \left(g_{+}^{(i)} n_{+}^{(i)A} + g_{-}^{(i)} n_{-}^{(i)A} \right) \zeta_{-} \right\}$$

$$+ i B' e^{-B} i \gamma_{2} \left\{ \left(f_{+}^{(i)} n_{+}^{(i)A} + f_{-}^{(i)} n_{-}^{(i)A} \right) \zeta_{+} + \left(g_{+}^{(i)} n_{+}^{(i)A} + g_{-}^{(i)} n_{-}^{(i)A} \right) \zeta_{-} \right\}$$

$$+ 2i g w e^{B} \left\{ \left(f_{+}^{(i)} n_{+}^{(i)A} - f_{-}^{(i)} n_{-}^{(i)A} \right) \zeta_{+} + \left(g_{+}^{(i)} n_{+}^{(i)A} - g_{-}^{(i)} n_{-}^{(i)A} \right) \zeta_{-} \right\}$$

$$(2.39)$$

$$(2.39)$$

Using $i\gamma_2\zeta_{\eta} = \zeta_{-\eta}$ and the linear independence of the $n_{\pm}^{(i)}$ and ζ_{\pm} , one obtains a set of equations,

$$f_{+} + B'e^{B}g_{+} + 2gwe^{B}f_{+} = 0$$

$$-g_{+} + B'e^{B}f_{+} + 2gwe^{B}g_{+} = 0$$

$$f_{-} + B'e^{B}g_{-} - 2gwe^{B}f_{-} = 0$$

$$-g_{-} + B'e^{B}f_{-} - 2gwe^{B}g_{-} = 0$$
(2.41)

which are consistent if the integrability condition (2.29) holds. In terms of the $\gamma(u)$ defined in (2.32) we have

$$f_{+} = \frac{\sqrt{1 - \gamma^2} - 1}{\gamma} g_{+} , \qquad f_{-} = \frac{\sqrt{1 - \gamma^2} + 1}{\gamma} g_{-}$$
 (2.42)

2.2.4 Second projector

The spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ variation (2.25) can be rewritten in the following form

$$\left[-\frac{1}{2g}\left((A_{2}^{r})^{T}\right)^{-1}\left(\Gamma^{I}\mathcal{P}_{u}^{Ir}\right)^{T}i\gamma_{2}+1\right]^{AB}\varepsilon^{B}=0, \qquad r=9,10,11,12$$
(2.43)

Since \mathcal{P}_{u}^{Ir} contains the first derivatives of the scalar fields, the flow equations for the scalars can be derived from the condition of vanishing of this supersymmetry variation. The projectors for r = 9, 10, 11, 12 take the form

$$\left(M^{AB}i\gamma_2 + \delta^{AB}\right)\varepsilon^B = 0 \tag{2.44}$$

For consistency, the matrix must satisfy $M^{AB}M^{BC} = \delta^{AC}$. Plugging in the ansatz (2.37) for the spinors ε^A , we get

$$0 = \left(f_{+}^{(i)}n_{+}^{(i)A} + f_{-}^{(i)}n_{-}^{(i)A}\right)\zeta_{+} + \left(g_{+}^{(i)}n_{+}^{(i)A} + g_{-}^{(i)}n_{-}^{(i)A}\right)\zeta_{-} + M^{AB}i\gamma_{2}\left\{\left(f_{+}^{(i)}n_{+}^{(i)B} + f_{-}^{(i)}n_{-}^{(i)B}\right)\zeta_{+} + \left(g_{+}^{(i)}n_{+}^{(i)B} + g_{-}^{(i)}n_{-}^{(i)B}\right)\zeta_{-}\right\}$$
(2.45)

Using the fact that the eigenvectors can be orthonormalized,

$$n_{+}^{(i)A}n_{+}^{(j)A} = \delta^{ij} , \qquad n_{-}^{(i)A}n_{-}^{(j)A} = \delta^{ij} , \qquad n_{+}^{(i)A}n_{-}^{(j)A} = 0$$
(2.46)

and projecting onto $n_{\pm}^{(i)}$ gives

$$f_{+} + M_{++}g_{+} + M_{+-}g_{-} = 0$$

$$g_{+} + M_{++}f_{+} + M_{+-}f_{-} = 0$$

$$f_{-} + M_{+-}g_{+} + M_{--}g_{-} = 0$$

$$g_{+} + M_{+-}f_{+} + M_{--}f_{-} = 0$$
(2.47)

where we define

$$M_{++} = n_{+}^{A} M^{AB} n_{+}^{B} , \qquad M_{--} = n_{-}^{A} M^{AB} n_{-}^{B} , \qquad M_{+-} = M_{-+} = n_{+}^{A} M^{AB} n_{-}^{B}$$
(2.48)

If there is more than one n_{\pm} (as in truncation 1) the $M_{\pm\pm}$, $M_{\pm\mp}$ have to take the same form for all $n_{\pm}^{(i)}$, which is a consistency condition. Using (3.41) it can be shown that equations (2.47) can only⁴ be satisfied if we have

$$M_{++} = \gamma$$
, $M_{--} = -\gamma$, $M_{+-} = M_{-+} = \sqrt{1 - \gamma^2}$ (2.49)

The relations (2.49) for the matrix M^{AB} given in (2.43) provide first-order flow equations for the scalar fields. Note that the second integrability condition for the gravitino variation in (2.23) is also the form of (2.44). For all the solutions which we find, this condition is automatically satisfied and does not constrain the flow further.

2.3 Janus and RG-flow solutions

In this section we obtain the flow equations and solve them. Only for truncation 1 are we able to solve the system analytically. For truncations 2 and 3 we solve the resulting flow equations numerically.

2.3.1 Truncation 1

For the truncation to a single scalar described in section 2.1.2.1, the matrix A_1 takes the form,



⁴We can also have $M_{+-} = M_{-+} = -\sqrt{1-\gamma^2}$, which gives a similar solution. For example, in section 2.3.1 for truncation 1, this sends $p(u) \to p(-u)$. This resolves an ambiguity in the definition of our eigenvectors, as we can freely send $n_+ \to -n_+$ or $n_- \to -n_-$.

We have four pairs of eigenvectors $n_{\pm}^{(i)}$ for i = 1, 2, 3, 4 with the same eigenvalues $\pm w$, where

$$w = \cosh^2 \frac{q}{2} \tag{2.51}$$

so the supersymmetry condition (2.30) is satisfied for the vacuum where q = 0. The pairs of eigenvectors are

$$n_{+}^{(1)} = \left\{ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, 0, 0, \frac{\cos p}{\sqrt{2}}, 0, 0, \frac{\sin p}{\sqrt{2}}, 0 \right\}, \qquad n_{-}^{(1)} = \left\{ 0, 0, 0, -\frac{\sin p}{\sqrt{2}}, 0, -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, \frac{\cos p}{\sqrt{2}}, 0 \right\}$$

$$n_{+}^{(2)} = \left\{ 0, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, -\frac{\cos p}{\sqrt{2}}, 0, 0, 0, 0, \frac{\sin p}{\sqrt{2}} \right\}, \qquad n_{-}^{(2)} = \left\{ 0, 0, \frac{\sin p}{\sqrt{2}}, 0, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, 0, 0, \frac{\cos p}{\sqrt{2}} \right\}$$

$$n_{+}^{(3)} = \left\{ 0, 0, -\frac{\sin p}{\sqrt{2}}, 0, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, 0, 0, -\frac{\cos p}{\sqrt{2}} \right\}, \qquad n_{-}^{(3)} = \left\{ 0, -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, -\frac{\cos p}{\sqrt{2}}, 0, 0, 0, 0, \frac{\sin p}{\sqrt{2}} \right\}$$

$$n_{+}^{(4)} = \left\{ 0, 0, 0, -\frac{\sin p}{\sqrt{2}}, 0, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, \frac{\cos p}{\sqrt{2}}, 0 \right\}, \qquad n_{-}^{(4)} = \left\{ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, 0, 0, -\frac{\cos p}{\sqrt{2}}, 0, 0, -\frac{\sin p}{\sqrt{2}}, 0 \right\}$$

$$(2.52)$$

Given the eigenvectors, we can compute the M_{++} and M_{+-} matrix elements for the matrix in (2.43) for any pair of $n_{\pm}^{(i)}$. Note that for this truncation, only the flow equation for index r = 9 is nontrivial while the others are identically vanishing. Then (2.49) gives us flow equations for the scalars q and p. The remaining flow equation for the metric factor B comes from (2.31). The flow equations are

$$q' = -g\gamma \sinh q$$
, $p' = g\sqrt{1-\gamma^2}$, $B' = \pm 2g\gamma \cosh^2 \frac{q}{2}$ (2.53)

which solve the equations of motion. We can solve for a flow where $p(0) = p_0$, $q(0) = q_0$ are arbitrary and B'(0) = 0, which is equivalent to $\gamma(0) = 0$. This first-order system can be rewritten using the function γ in lieu of B, in which case the third equation above is replaced with

$$\gamma' = 2g(1 - \gamma^2) \tag{2.54}$$

The solution is

$$\gamma(u) = \tanh(2gu)$$

$$\tanh \frac{q(u)}{2} = \sqrt{\operatorname{sech}(2gu)} \tanh \frac{q_0}{2}$$

$$\tan[p(u) - p_0] = \tanh(gu)$$
(2.55)

which gives the metric factor

$$e^{B(u)} = \frac{\cosh(2gu)}{2g}\operatorname{sech}^2\frac{q(u)}{2}$$
(2.56)

This is a Janus solution which approaches the $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ vacuum at the two endpoints $u \to \pm \infty$. We note that the flow equation is the same for each pair of eigenvectors $n_{\pm}^{(i)}$ and hence the solution preserves eight of the sixteen supersymmetries of the $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ vacuum. We present plots for three choices of the parameters $q_0 = 0.5, 1.0, 1.5$ in figure 2.1 and set $p_0 = 0$ for all three. The qualitative behavior is very similar for all three choices and corresponds to a Janus interface which interpolates between different values of p(u) as $u \to \pm \infty$.



Figure 2.1: (a) pq parametric plot, (b) plot of q, (c) plot of p, (d) plot of the metric function B as functions of the AdS₂ slicing coordinate u for truncation 1. The colors denote three different values for q_0 . $p_0 = 0$ for all three plots. The behavior of p is the same for all three examples.

2.3.2 Truncation 2

Recall that the truncation presented in section 2.1.2.2 sets all the q_i equal and p_i equal. The matrix A_1 takes the form,

$$A_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & a_{1} + a_{3} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -2a_{3} & -a_{1} + a_{3} & 0 & a_{2} & 0 & 0 & a_{2} \\ 0 & -a_{1} + a_{3} & -2a_{3} & 0 & -a_{2} & 0 & 0 & -a_{2} \\ a_{1} + a_{3} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & a_{2} & -a_{2} & 0 & 2a_{3} & 0 & 0 & -a_{1} + a_{3} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & a_{1} + a_{3} & 0 \\ 0 & a_{2} & -a_{2} & 0 & -a_{1} + a_{3} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & a_{2} & -a_{2} & 0 & -a_{1} + a_{3} & 0 & 0 \\ \end{pmatrix}$$

$$(2.57)$$

where we define, for this truncation,

$$a_{1} = \frac{1}{8}(3 + \cos 4p)(1 + \cosh^{4} q)$$

$$a_{2} = \frac{1}{8}(3 + \cosh 2q)\cosh q \sin 4p$$

$$a_{3} = 2\cos^{2} p \sin^{2} p \cosh^{2} q$$
(2.58)

The eigenvectors and eigenvalues can be obtained by considering the matrix $(A_1)^2$ first. There are two eigenvalues, the first is $(a_1 + a_3)^2$ which is six-fold degenerate but does not satisfy the condition (2.30) for the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vacuum. The second eigenvalue is $4a_2^2 + (a_1 - 3a_3)^2$ which is two-fold degenerate and does satisfy (2.30) for the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vacua. The corresponding eigenvectors of $(A_1)^2$ take the form

$$v_1 = \left\{ 0, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0 \right\} , \qquad v_2 = \left\{ 0, 0, 0, 0, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, 0, 0, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \right\}$$
(2.59)

Let

$$w = \sqrt{4a_2^2 + (a_1 - 3a_3)^2} \tag{2.60}$$

be the positive eigenvalue of A_1 . One can reduce the A_1 matrix on the subspace spanned by v_1, v_2 and find that the (not yet normalized) eigenvectors v_{\pm} of A_1 with eigenvalue $\pm w$ are given by

$$v_{\pm} = 2a_2v_1 + (-a_1 + 3a_3 \pm w)v_2 \tag{2.61}$$

The flow equations take the form of a first-order system of ordinary differential equations for the functions p(u), q(u), and B(u). These equations do not take a simple form and are too unwieldy to be presented here. Using Mathematica, we have checked that the flow equations imply that the equations of motion are satisfied as well as the second integrability condition of the gravitino variation (2.24).

The flow equations can be numerically integrated.⁵ In figure 2.2 we present some examples for the numerical solutions of the flow equations. By fine-tuning initial conditions we can produce flows that (i) look like the Janus solutions in truncation 1 plotted, in red in figure 2.2, (ii) connect $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ and $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vacua, plotted in blue in figure 2.2, and (iii) connect two $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vacua which are related by flipping signs of p, plotted in orange in figure 2.2. In the pq parametric plot in figure 2.2(a), the locations of the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vacua $p = \pm \frac{\pi}{4}, q = \sinh^{-1}\sqrt{2}$ are denoted by black dots.

In the numerical integration, the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ points are repulsive and require fine-tuning in order to obtain flows that approach these points. This can be explained as follows. The choice g = 1/2 sets the $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ vacuum potential to $W_0 = 1/2$ and the AdS₃ length scale to unity. For the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ point, the vacuum potential becomes $W_0 = 2$ and the AdS₃ length scale is L = 1/2. Taking the linear expansion around the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ point,

$$p(u) = \frac{\pi}{4} + \delta p(u) + \mathcal{O}(\delta p^2)$$

$$q(u) = \sinh^{-1}\sqrt{2} + \delta q(u) + \mathcal{O}(\delta q^2)$$
(2.62)

the mass-squares for the δp and δq fluctuations are

$$m_p^2 L^2 = \frac{5}{4} , \qquad m_q^2 L^2 = \frac{21}{4}$$
 (2.63)

Using $\Delta(\Delta - 2) = m^2 L^2$, the scaling dimensions of the corresponding dual operators are

$$\Delta_p = \frac{5}{2} , \qquad \Delta_q = \frac{7}{2} \tag{2.64}$$

⁵We use the method described in [94]: we choose the location p(0), q(0) of a turning point where B' = 0and use the flow equations to determine p'(0), q'(0). These values provide the initial conditions for the second order equations of motion to give p(u), q(u) and B(u).



Figure 2.2: (a) pq parametric plot, (b) plot of q, (c) plot of p, (d) plot of the metric function B as functions of the AdS₂ slicing coordinate u.

In our AdS-sliced coordinates, the boundary is given by the two AdS₂ components at $u = \pm \infty$, which are joined together at the z = 0 interface. The coordinates (z, u) can be mapped to Fefferman-Graham coordinates (ρ, x) where the boundary is located at $\rho = 0.6$ Let us consider the boundary at $u \to +\infty$. In the (ρ, x) coordinates, the metric factor *B* has the expansion $e^B = \rho^{-1} + \mathcal{O}(\rho^0)$ near the boundary. But in the (z, u) coordinates, from (2.27) the expansion near the boundary is $B = u/L + \cdots$.

 $^6\mathrm{Recall}$ that the AdS_3 metric in Poincaré coordinates,

$$\mathrm{d}s^2 = \frac{-\mathrm{d}\rho^2 + \mathrm{d}t^2 - \mathrm{d}x^2}{\rho^2}$$

is related to an AdS₂-sliced metric by the coordinate change,

$$z = \sqrt{x^2 + \rho^2} \qquad \qquad \sinh u = x/\mu$$

coordinate change $(\rho, x) \mapsto (z, u)$ takes the form,

$$e^u = \rho^{-L} + \cdots \tag{2.65}$$

The linearized flow equations around the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ point are

$$\delta p' = -5\delta p + \cdots$$

$$\delta q' = 3\delta q + \cdots$$
 (2.66)

which are solved by $\delta p \sim C_p e^{-5u}$ and $\delta q \sim C_q e^{3u}$, or in terms of ρ ,

$$\delta p \sim C_p \rho^{5/2} \qquad \qquad \delta q \sim C_q \rho^{-3/2} \qquad (2.67)$$

These asymptotic forms are consistent with the scaling dimensions in (2.64), as we either have solutions that scale as ρ^{Δ} or $\rho^{2-\Delta}$. We see that the *q* scalar diverges as we approach the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ point as $\rho \to 0$ unless we fine-tune the coefficient C_q to zero. This is identified with turning off the source for an operator with scaling dimension larger than 2 on the boundary CFT.

A similar counting as before shows that the flow preserves two of the four supersymmetries of the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vacuum. Therefore, we have RG-flow interfaces between a CFT with central charge $c^{(4,4)}$ and a CFT with central charge $c^{(1,1)}$, where [9,111]

$$\frac{c^{(1,1)}}{c^{(4,4)}} = \sqrt{\frac{W_0^{(4,4)}}{W_0^{(1,1)}}} = \frac{1}{2}$$
(2.68)

2.3.3 Truncation 3

The analysis of the flow equations and their solutions for truncation 3 proceeds very similarly to the one for truncation 2, presented in the previous section. The matrix A_1 takes the form,



where we define, for this truncation,

$$a_{1} = \frac{1}{2}(1 + \cosh q)\cosh q \sin^{2} p , \qquad a_{2} = \frac{1}{2}(1 + \cosh q)\cosh q \cos^{2} p$$

$$b_{1} = \frac{1}{2}(1 + \cosh q)(1 + \cosh^{2} q)\sin^{2} p , \qquad b_{2} = \frac{1}{2}(1 + \cosh q)(1 + \cosh^{2} q)\cos^{2} p \qquad (2.70)$$

As with trunctation 2, there are two eigenvalues of $(A_1)^2$: one with six-fold degeneracy that does not satisfy (3.34), and one with two-fold degeneracy that does. This eigenvalue is

$$w^{2} = \frac{1}{64} \cosh^{4} \frac{q}{2} \left(175 - 224 \cosh q + 140 \cosh 2q - 32 \cosh 3q + 5 \cosh 4q + 24 \cos 4p \sinh^{4} q \right)$$
(2.71)

The corresponding eigenvectors of A_1 with eigenvalue $\pm w$ are

$$v_{\pm} = \left(-(3a_1 + a_2 - b_2)\cos p \pm w \right) v_1 + (a_1 + 3a_2 - b_1)\sin p \ v_2 \tag{2.72}$$

where v_1, v_2 are defined as before in (2.59). The flow equations once again do not take a simple form and must be solved numerically. In figure 2.3 we present some examples for the numerical solutions of the flow equations for truncation 3, which exhibit very similar features to the solutions of the flow equations for truncation 2. By fine-tuning initial conditions we can produce flows that (i) look like the Janus solutions in truncation 1, plotted in red in figure 2.3, (ii) connect $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ and $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vacua, plotted in blue in figure 2.3, and (iii) connect two $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vacua which are related by flipping signs of p, plotted in orange in figure 2.3. In the pq parametric plot given in figure 2.3(a), the location of the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vacua $p = \pm \frac{\pi}{4}, q = \sinh^{-1}\sqrt{2 + 2\sqrt{2}}$ are denoted by black dots.

The $\mathcal{N} = (1,1)$ points are again repulsive. With g = 1/2, the $\mathcal{N} = (1,1)$ vacuum potential is $W_0 = (1 + \sqrt{2})^2/2$ and the AdS₃ length scale is $L = \sqrt{2} - 1$. The linear expansion around the vacuum yields the following mass-squares for δp and δq fluctuations,

$$m_p^2 L^2 = 1$$
, $m_q^2 L^2 = 2 + 2\sqrt{2}$ (2.73)

which correspond to the scaling dimensions,

$$\Delta_p = 1 + \sqrt{2} , \qquad \Delta_q = 2 + \sqrt{2}$$
 (2.74)



Figure 2.3: (a) pq parametric plot, (b) plot of q, (c) plot of p, (d) plot of the metric function B as functions of the AdS₂ slicing coordinate u for truncation 3.

The linearized flow equations around the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ point are

$$\delta p' = -(3 + 2\sqrt{2})\delta p + \cdots$$

$$\delta q' = (2 + \sqrt{2})\delta q + \cdots$$
 (2.75)

which are solved by $\delta p \sim C_p e^{-(3+2\sqrt{2})u}$ and $\delta q \sim C_q e^{(2+\sqrt{2})u}$, or in terms of ρ by substituting $e^u \sim \rho^{-L}$,

$$\delta p \sim C_p \rho^{1+\sqrt{2}}$$
 $\delta q \sim C_q \rho^{-\sqrt{2}}$ (2.76)

These asymptotic forms are consistent with the scaling dimensions in (2.74). Again, we see that the q scalar diverges as $\rho \to 0$ unless we fine-tune the coefficient C_q to zero, which turns off the source for an operator with scaling dimension larger than 2 on the boundary CFT.

A similar counting as before shows that the flow preserves two of the four supersymmetries of the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vacuum. Therefore, we have RG-flow interfaces between a CFT with central charge $c^{(4,4)}$ and a CFT with central charge $c^{(1,1)}$, where

$$\frac{c^{(1,1)}}{c^{(4,4)}} = \sqrt{\frac{W_0^{(4,4)}}{W_0^{(1,1)}}} = \sqrt{2} - 1$$
(2.77)

2.4 Discussion

In the paper, we constructed new solutions of three-dimensional gauged supergravity. The solutions produced describe interface CFTs holographically. We considered three different truncations of the scalar fields which are associated with three different supersymmetric AdS_3 vacua with $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ and $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ supersymmetry. The solution in the first truncation is a Janus solution that is very similar to the one found in [112] for a simpler three-dimensional gauged supergravity. The CFTs on both sides of the interface are deformations of the $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ vacuum with a source for a marginal operator turned on as well as a position-dependent expectation value for a relevant operator. The interface preserves half of the sixteen supersymmetries of the $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ vacuum.

The solutions for the other two truncations represent RG-flow interfaces in the sense that the solutions we find have different CFTs on each side of the interface. For example, we find solutions where the interface connects the $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ CFT (with a marginal operator and relevant expectation value) and the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ CFT (with an irrelevant source). Note that there is no clear distinction between the UV and the IR in the RG-flow Janus solutions, since both sides put together form the boundary of the asymptotically AdS space. This is to be contrasted with a Poincaré-sliced RG-flow solution, where the AdS boundary with the larger curvature radius (or central charge) is viewed as describing the UV CFT. A irrelevant source is turned on near the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ asymptotic AdS, which means that, from the perspective of the flow, this constitutes a repulsive direction. To find a flow that comes very close to the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vacuum, we have to fine-tune our initial conditions, which corresponds to fine-tuning the source of the irrelevant operator. We have worked in truncations where the dynamics of the eight scalar fields q_i, p_i for i = 1, 2, 3, 4 are reduced to the dynamics of two scalars q, p, where in all three cases q = 0 corresponds to the $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ vacuum. Hence, we could find interface CFTs of the $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ CFT with one of the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ CFTs. In this truncation, we cannot find an interface solution connecting the two distinct $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vacua. For such a solution, we would have to consider the flow equations with at least four independent scalars. The fine-tuning of the initial conditions to produce the interface solution would also be more challenging.

The SO(4) × SO(4) gauging depends on a real parameter α and in this paper we have only considered the case $\alpha = 1$ which simplifies the expression of the A_i matrices and the scalar potential. We expect that the solutions for other choices of α behave qualitatively the same, since the supersymmetric vacua exist for other values of α . It would also be interesting to consider holographic observables such as the entanglement entropy around the interface or correlation functions.

CHAPTER 3

Janus and RG interfaces in three-dimensional gauged supergravity II: General α

Janus solutions provide a holographic description of interface conformal field theories. Generally, the solutions are constructed by considering an AdS_d slicing of a higher dimensional space where the other fields depend non-trivially on the slicing coordinate(s). For example the original Janus solution [64], deforms the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ vacuum of type IIB and is given by an AdS_4 slicing where the dilation depends non-trivially on a single the slicing coordinate and approaches two different values on the two boundary components. The solution is dual to an interface of N = 4 super Yang-Mills theory where the coupling g_{YM} jumps across a codimension one interface [86]. More general Janus solutions preserving supersymmetry were constructed as $AdS_4 \times S^2 \times S^2$ space warped over a Riemann surface [87]. These solutions are dual to supersymmetric interface theories in N = 4 SYM [88–90]. For other Janus solutions in ten and eleven dimensions, see e.g. [69,71,91,113]. In general, constructing such solutions is quite difficult due to the fact that the supersymmetry variations, as well the equations of motion, depend on more than one warping coordinate and the resulting equations are nonlinear partial differential equations. A useful approach is to construct Janus solutions in lower dimensional gauged supergravities (see for example [70, 72, 92–97, 114–116]). Such solutions are often easier to obtain, can be uplifted to ten or eleven dimensions or can be used to explore qualitative features of Janus solution in a bottom-up approach.

In lower dimensional gauged supergravities it is often the case that in addition to a maximally supersymmetric AdS vacuum there are extrema with a reduced amount of supersymmetry. One of the aims of the present paper is to construct holographic Janus solutions which correspond to RG interfaces [100], between different AdS vacua¹. This paper is a continuation of the work presented [1], which considered three-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 8$ gauged supergravity with n = 4 vector multiplets, first discussed in [104]. This theory has an AdS₃ vacuum with maximal $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ supersymmetry as well as two families of AdS₃ vacua with $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ supersymmetry [105]. The gauged supergravity has a parameter α on which the embedding tensor for the gauged supergravity depends. For this theory the dual superconformal algebra of the $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ vacuum is given by the "large" superconformal algebra $D^1(2, 1; \alpha) \times D^1(2, 1; \alpha)$, and the three-dimensional supergravity is believed to be a truncation of M-theory on $AdS_3 \times S^3 \times S^3 \times S^1$ [106–109]. In the previous paper we considered the special case of $\alpha = 1$ for which the explicit expressions become simpler. Here we will analyze the case for general α , using both analytical and numerical methods.

The structure of this paper is as follows: In section 4.1 we review the three dimensional gauged supergravity with n = 4 vector multiplets used in the paper. We consider three truncations where the gauge fields as well as some scalars can consistently be set to zero and fix the N = (1, 1) vacua for general α . In section 4.2 we derive the BPS flow equations for an AdS_2 sliced Janus ansatz, this generalizes and streamlines the discussion of [1]. In section 4.3 we derive the flow equations and integrate them numerically for the three truncations. For the second and third truncations where N = (1, 1) AdS vacua exists we present examples of RG-flow interfaces. In section 4.4 we use the solutions to calculate some holographic observables. In particular we determine the masses of the fluctuating scalars around the N = (1, 1) vacua, the mass squared is positive and quite large, which means that the scalar fluctuations around fixed point are repulsive in the UV. This implies that the initial conditions have to be fine tuned in order to reach the fixed point. We discuss our results and possible directions for future research in section 4.5.

¹See [101–103] for other examples of holographic RG-flow interfaces.

3.1 Three-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 8$ gauged supergravity

In this section, we review the $\mathcal{N} = 8$ gauged supergravity first constructed in [104] mainly following the conventions of [1]. The bosonic field content consists of a graviton $g_{\mu\nu}$, Chern-Simons gauge fields $B^{\mathcal{M}}_{\mu}$, and scalars fields living in a $G/H = \mathrm{SO}(8, n)/\mathrm{SO}(8) \times \mathrm{SO}(n)$ coset, which has 8n degrees of freedom before gauging. The scalar fields are parametrized by a G-valued matrix L(x) in the vector representation, which transforms under H and the gauge group $G_0 \subseteq G$ by right and left multiplication of group elements respectively.

$$L(x) \to g_0(x)L(x)h^{-1}(x)$$
 (3.1)

for $g_0 \in G_0$ and $h \in H$. The Lagrangian is invariant under such transformations. In this paper we use the following index conventions:

- $I, J, \ldots = 1, 2, \ldots, 8$ for SO(8).
- $r, s, \ldots = 9, 10, \ldots, n+8$ for SO(n).
- $\bar{I}, \bar{J}, \ldots = 1, 2, \ldots, n+8$ for SO(8, n).
- $\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}, \ldots$ for generators of SO(8, n).

Let the generators of G be $\{t^{\mathcal{M}}\} = \{t^{\overline{IJ}}\} = \{X^{IJ}, X^{rs}, Y^{Ir}\}$, where Y^{Ir} are the noncompact generators. Explicitly, the generators of the vector representation are given by

$$(t^{\bar{I}\bar{J}})^{\bar{K}}{}_{\bar{L}} = \eta^{\bar{I}\bar{K}}\delta^{\bar{J}}_{\bar{L}} - \eta^{\bar{J}\bar{K}}\delta^{\bar{I}}_{\bar{L}}$$
(3.2)

where $\eta^{\bar{I}\bar{J}} = \text{diag}(+++++++++\cdots)$ is an SO(8, *n*)-invariant tensor. These generators satisfy the typical SO(8, *n*) commutation relations,

$$[t^{\bar{I}\bar{J}}, t^{\bar{K}\bar{L}}] = 2\left(\eta^{\bar{I}[\bar{K}}t^{\bar{L}]\bar{J}} - \eta^{\bar{J}[\bar{K}}t^{\bar{L}]\bar{I}}\right)$$
(3.3)

The gauging of the supergravity is characterized by an embedding tensor Θ_{MN} (which has to satisfy various identities [110] in order to define a consistent theory) that determines
which isometries are gauged, the coupling to the Chern-Simons fields, and additional terms in the supersymmetry transformations and action depending on the gauge coupling g. We will look at the particular case in [105] where $n \ge 4$ and the gauged subgroup is the $G_0 =$ $SO(4) \times SO(4)$ subset of the $SO(8) \subset SO(8, n)$. The embedding tensor has the non vanishing entries,²

$$\Theta_{\bar{I}\bar{J},\bar{K}\bar{L}} = \begin{cases} \alpha \varepsilon_{\bar{I}\bar{J}\bar{K}\bar{L}} & \text{if } \bar{I}, \bar{J}, \bar{K}, \bar{L} \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\} \\ \varepsilon_{\bar{I}\bar{J}\bar{K}\bar{L}} & \text{if } \bar{I}, \bar{J}, \bar{K}, \bar{L} \in \{5, 6, 7, 8\} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

Note that the gauging depends on a real parameter α . As discussed in [105], the maximally supersymmetric AdS₃ vacuum is obtained where the potential has a local maximum at $L(x) = I_{8n}$, and it has an isometry group,

$$D^{1}(2,1;\alpha) \times D^{1}(2,1;\alpha)$$
 (3.5)

which corresponds to the family of "large" superconformal algebras of the dual SCFT. The bosonic subalgebra of $D^1(2, 1, \alpha)$ is $SL(2, R) \times SU(2) \times SU(2)$. Representations are labeled by the SU(2) quantum numbers l^{\pm} and the conformal weight h (which can be obtained from $\Delta = h + \bar{h}$ and the relation between Δ and $m^2 L_0^2$), and can be denoted by (l^+, l^-, h) . Unitarity implies the bound $h \ge \gamma l^- + (1 - \gamma) l^+$. In this paper we generalize the analysis of [1] where the case $\alpha = 1$ was considered to the case of general α . Note that in the spacial case $\alpha = 1$ the super algebra becomes more familiar $D^1(2, 1; 1) = OSp(4|2)$.

From the embedding tensor, the G_0 -covariant currents can be obtained,

$$L^{-1}(\partial_{\mu} + g\Theta_{\mathcal{M}\mathcal{N}}B^{\mathcal{M}}_{\mu}t^{\mathcal{N}})L = \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{Q}^{IJ}_{\mu}X^{IJ} + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{Q}^{rs}_{\mu}X^{rs} + \mathcal{P}^{Ir}_{\mu}Y^{Ir}$$
(3.6)

It is convenient to define the $\mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{M}}_{\mathcal{A}}$ tensors,

$$L^{-1}t^{\mathcal{M}}L = \mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{M}}_{\ \mathcal{A}}t^{\mathcal{A}} = \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{M}}_{\ IJ}X^{IJ} + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{M}}_{\ rs}X^{rs} + \mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{M}}_{\ Ir}Y^{Ir}$$
(3.7)

²We use the conventions $\varepsilon_{1234} = \varepsilon_{5678} = 1$.

and the T-tensor,

$$T_{\mathcal{A}|\mathcal{B}} = \Theta_{\mathcal{M}\mathcal{N}} \mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{M}}_{\ \mathcal{A}} \mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{N}}_{\ \mathcal{B}}$$
(3.8)

The *T*-tensor is used to construct the tensors $A_{1,2,3}$ which will appear in the scalar potential and the supersymmetry transformations,

$$A_{1}^{AB} = -\frac{1}{48} \Gamma_{AB}^{IJKL} T_{IJ|KL}$$

$$A_{2}^{A\dot{A}r} = -\frac{1}{12} \Gamma_{A\dot{A}}^{IJK} T_{IJ|Kr}$$

$$A_{3}^{\dot{A}r\dot{B}s} = \frac{1}{48} \delta^{rs} \Gamma_{\dot{A}\dot{B}}^{IJKL} T_{IJ|KL} + \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{\dot{A}\dot{B}}^{IJ} T_{IJ|rs}$$
(3.9)

where A, B and \dot{A}, \dot{B} are SO(8)-spinor indices. Our conventions for the SO(8) Gamma matrices are presented in the appendix.

Here we choose the spacetime signature $\eta^{ab} = \text{diag}(+ - -)$ as mostly negative. The bosonic Lagrangian and scalar potential are given by

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{\text{bos}} = -\frac{1}{4}R + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{Ir}\mathcal{P}^{Ir\,\mu} + V - \frac{1}{4}e^{-1}\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}g\Theta_{\mathcal{MN}}B_{\mu}^{\mathcal{M}}\left(\partial_{\nu}B_{\rho}^{\mathcal{N}} + \frac{1}{3}g\Theta_{\mathcal{KL}}f^{\mathcal{NK}}{}_{\mathcal{P}}B_{\nu}^{\mathcal{L}}B_{\rho}^{\mathcal{P}}\right)$$
$$V = \frac{1}{4}g^{2}\left(A_{1}^{AB}A_{1}^{AB} - \frac{1}{2}A_{2}^{A\dot{A}r}A_{2}^{A\dot{A}r}\right)$$
(3.10)

The supersymmetry variations take the following form

$$\delta\chi^{\dot{A}r} = \frac{1}{2}i\Gamma^{I}_{A\dot{A}}\gamma^{\mu}\varepsilon^{A}\mathcal{P}^{Ir}_{\mu} + gA^{A\dot{A}r}_{2}\varepsilon^{A}$$
$$\delta\psi^{A}_{\mu} = \left(\partial_{\mu}\varepsilon^{A} + \frac{1}{4}\omega^{ab}_{\mu}\gamma_{ab}\varepsilon^{A} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{Q}^{IJ}_{\mu}\Gamma^{IJ}_{AB}\varepsilon^{B}\right) + igA^{AB}_{1}\gamma_{\mu}\varepsilon^{B}$$
(3.11)

The Einstein equations of motion are

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \mathcal{P}^{Ir}_{\mu} \mathcal{P}^{Ir}_{\nu} - 4Vg_{\mu\nu} = 0 \tag{3.12}$$

and the gauge field equations of motion are

$$e\mathcal{P}^{Ir\,\lambda}\Theta_{\mathcal{QM}}\mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{M}}_{Ir} = \varepsilon^{\lambda\mu\nu} \left(\Theta_{\mathcal{QM}}\partial_{\mu}B^{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} + \frac{1}{6}gB^{\mathcal{M}}_{\mu}B^{\mathcal{K}}_{\nu} \left(\Theta_{\mathcal{MN}}\Theta_{\mathcal{KL}}f^{\mathcal{NL}}_{\ \mathcal{Q}} + 2\Theta_{\mathcal{MN}}f^{\mathcal{LN}}_{\ \mathcal{K}}\Theta_{\mathcal{LQ}}\right)\right)$$
(3.13)

3.1.1 The n = 4 case

The smallest number of matter multiplets where multiple supersymmetric vacua exist is n = 4. The symmetries of the theory are a local $G_0 = SO(4) \times SO(4)$ and a global SO(n) with n = 4. Consequently, the scalar potential only depends on $8 \cdot 4 - 3 \cdot 6 = 14$ fields out of the original 32. Moreover, a further consistent truncation outlined in [105] is performed where the coset representative depends only on eight of the fourteen scalars.

$$L = \begin{pmatrix} \cos A & \sin A \cosh B & \sin A \sinh B \\ -\sin A & \cos A \cosh B & \cos A \sinh B \\ 0 & \sinh B & \cosh B \end{pmatrix}$$
$$A = \operatorname{diag}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) , \qquad B = \operatorname{diag}(q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4)$$
(3.14)

We will not display the general form of the tensors A_1 and A_2 defined in (3.9) here. The scalar potential has terms up to order α^2 .

$$g^{-2}V = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i} x_{i}^{2} - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i < j < k} x_{i}^{2} x_{j}^{2} x_{k}^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \prod_{i} x_{i}^{2} + \alpha \left(-\prod_{i} x_{i} y_{i} + \prod_{i} \sqrt{1 + x_{i}^{2} + y_{i}^{2}} \right) + \alpha^{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i} y_{i}^{2} - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i < j < k} y_{i}^{2} y_{j}^{2} y_{k}^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \prod_{i} y_{i}^{2} \right)$$

$$(3.15)$$

where all indices run form 1 to 4 unless otherwise indicated and we used the following defined scalar fields

$$x_i = \cos p_i \sinh q_i , \qquad y_i = \sin p_i \sinh q_i \tag{3.16}$$

The \mathcal{Q}_{μ} and \mathcal{P}_{μ} currents do not depend on α , excluding the $g\Theta_{\mathcal{M}\mathcal{N}}B^{\mathcal{M}}_{\mu}\mathcal{V}^{\mathcal{N}}_{\mathcal{A}}$ term, they are given by

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}^{IJ} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cosh q_1 \partial_{\mu} p_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cosh q_2 \partial_{\mu} p_2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cosh q_3 \partial_{\mu} p_3 & 0 \\ -\cosh q_1 \partial_{\mu} p_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\cosh q_2 \partial_{\mu} p_2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\cosh q_3 \partial_{\mu} p_3 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\cosh q_4 \partial_{\mu} p_4 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\cosh q_4 \partial_{\mu} p_4 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \end{pmatrix}_{IJ}$$

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}^{rs} = 0$$

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{Ir} = \begin{pmatrix} \sinh q_1 \partial_{\mu} p_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sin h q_2 \partial_{\mu} p_2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \sinh q_3 \partial_{\mu} p_3 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \sin h q_3 \partial_{\mu} p_3 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \sinh q_4 \partial_{\mu} p_4 \\ \partial_{\mu} q_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \partial_{\mu} q_3 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \partial_{\mu} q_4 \end{pmatrix}_{Ir}$$

$$(3.17)$$

Using these matrices, we can check that the combination $\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{Ir} \mathcal{V}^{JK}{}_{Ir}$ vanishes whenever the indices $J, K \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$ or $J, K \in \{5, 6, 7, 8\}$. This implies that there is no source for $B_{\mu}^{\mathcal{M}}$ in the gauge field equation of motion (3.13), so it is consistent to set $B_{\mu}^{\mathcal{M}} = 0$. We will make this choice from now on.

The kinetic term for the scalars in the action (3.10) can be expressed in terms of the x_i and y_i using the relations (3.16) and take the form

$$\frac{1}{4}\mathcal{P}^{Ir}_{\mu}\mathcal{P}^{Ir\,\mu} = -\frac{1}{4}\sum_{i=1}^{4}\frac{1}{1+x_i^2+y_i^2}\Big((1+y_i^2)(\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}x_i - 2x_iy_i\partial_{\mu}x_i\partial^{\mu}y_i' + (1+x_i^2)\partial y_i\partial^{\mu}y_i\Big)$$
(3.18)

This expression will be needed for determining masses of the fluctuations of the scalar fields around the supersymmetric vacua.

3.1.2 Truncations and supersymmetric AdS_3 vacua

In order to make our analysis more tractable, we make further truncations to reduce the number of independent scalar fields. Below we consider three consistent truncations, which together explore the AdS₃ vacua with $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ and $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ supersymmetry. All of the results are generalizations of the $\alpha = 1$ case discussed in [1].

3.1.2.1 Truncation 1

The first truncation is given by denoting $q_1 = q$, $p_1 = p$ and setting all remaining $q_i = p_i = 0$ for i = 2, 3, 4. The scalar potential is

$$V = \frac{g^2}{4} \left(2(1+\alpha^2) + 4\alpha \cosh q + (\cos^2 p + \alpha^2 \sin^2 p) \sinh^2 q \right)$$
(3.19)

The $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ vacuum is given by setting q = 0 and the vacuum potential is $V_0 = \frac{1}{2}g^2(1+\alpha)^2$. In the x, y coordinates the $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ vacuum is given by $x_i = y_i = 0$. This is the only supersymmetric vacuum for this truncation. We note that for the choice $\alpha = 1$ the potential is independent of the scalar field p. We note we will chose $g = 1/(1+\alpha)$ in order to set the potential at the N = (4, 4) vacuum to be $V_0 = \frac{1}{2}$, which corresponds to a unit radius AdS_3 .

3.1.2.2 Truncation 2

The second truncation is given by setting all the q and p equal respectively, i.e. $q_i = q$, $p_i = p$ for i = 1, 2, 3, 4. The scalar potential becomes

$$V = \frac{g^2}{2} \Big\{ (1 - \cos^2 p \sinh^2 q) (1 + \cos^2 p \sinh^2 q)^3 + \alpha^2 (1 - \sin^2 p \sinh^2 q) (1 + \sin^2 p \sinh^2 q)^3 + \alpha (2 + 4 \sinh^2 q + 2 \sinh^4 q - 2 \sin^4 p \cos^4 p \sinh^8 q) \Big\}$$
(3.20)

or in terms of the x, y fields, the potential will take the following form

$$V = \frac{g^2}{2} \Big\{ (x^2 - 1)(x^2 + 1)^3 + \alpha^2 (y^2 - 1)(y^2 + 1)^3 + 2\alpha \big(2x^2(1 + y^2) + (1 + y^2)^2 - x^4(y^4 - 1) \big) \Big\}$$
(3.21)

As before the $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ vacuum is given by q = 0 or x = y = 0. There are $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vacua which are located at

$$x = \pm \frac{1}{6\sqrt{3}\alpha} \left(-12\alpha^2 - \frac{2^{\frac{2}{3}}Y^{\frac{1}{3}}(Y + 2\alpha^2(-3 + 8\alpha))}{(3 + 2\alpha)} - \frac{2^{\frac{1}{3}}y^{\frac{2}{3}}(Y + 2\alpha(-18 + \alpha(-15 + 8\alpha)))}{(3 + 2\alpha)^2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$y = \pm \frac{1}{3} \left(-1 + \frac{2^{\frac{2}{3}}Y^{\frac{1}{3}}}{\alpha} + \frac{42^{\frac{1}{3}}(3 + 2\alpha)}{Y^{\frac{1}{3}}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(3.22)



Figure 3.1: Ration of central charges for the N = (1, 1) and N = (4, 4) vacua.

where Y is given by

$$Y = 3i\alpha^{\frac{3}{2}}\sqrt{96 + 3\alpha(61 + 32\alpha)} - \alpha^{2}(9 + 16\alpha)$$
(3.23)

The central charge of the dual CFT is related to the AdS radius and the value of the potential V_0 at its minimum

$$c = \frac{R_{AdS}}{4G_N} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2V_0}} \frac{1}{4G_N}$$
(3.24)

Choosing $g = 1/(1 + \alpha)$ sets the AdS radius of the N = (4, 4) vacuum to one and the ratio of the central charge of the N = (4, 4) to the N = (1, 1) vacuum as a function of α becomes

$$\frac{c_{N=(1,1)}}{c_{N=(4,4)}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2V_0^{N=(1,1)}(\alpha)}}$$
(3.25)

The expressions derived (3.22) are not very illuminating and we present a plot of the ratio of the central charges for the two vacua in the figure 3.1. It is interesting to note that the ratio of central charges is minimized for the special value $\alpha = 1$.

3.1.2.3 Truncation 3

The third truncation is given by setting the first three q and p equal, i.e. $q_i = q$, $p_i = p$ for i = 1, 2, 3, and setting the remaining $q_4 = p_4 = 0$. The scalar potential is

$$V = \frac{g^2}{4} \Big(2 + 3\cos^2 p \sinh^2 q - \cos^6 p \sinh^6 q + 4\alpha \cosh^3 q + \alpha^2 (2 + 3\sin^2 p \sinh^2 q - \sin^6 p \sinh^6 q) \Big)$$
(3.26)

or in the x, y variables

$$V = \frac{g^2}{4} \left((2 + 3x^2 - x^6) + 4\alpha (1 + x^2 + y^2)^{\frac{3}{2}} + \alpha^2 (2 + 3y^2 - y^6) \right)$$
(3.27)

The $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ vacuum is given by q = 0 or x = y = 0 as before, and $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vacua can be determined by finding the extrema for the potential (3.27) away from the origin.

$$y = \pm \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}} \left(1 + (\alpha) \sqrt{1 - \frac{4}{X^{\frac{1}{3}}} + \frac{2X^{\frac{1}{3}}}{3\alpha^2}} + \sqrt{2 + \frac{4}{X^{\frac{1}{3}}} - \frac{2X^{\frac{1}{3}}}{3\alpha^2} + \frac{2(\alpha^2 - 4)}{\alpha^2 \sqrt{1 - \frac{4}{X^{\frac{1}{3}}} + \frac{2X^{\frac{1}{3}}}{3\alpha^2}}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$x = \pm \left(\frac{\alpha^2}{4} (y^4 - 1)^4 - 1 - y^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(3.28)

where we used the abriviation

$$X = 3\alpha^2 \left(9 - 9\alpha^2 + \sqrt{81 - 138\alpha^2 + 81\alpha^4}\right)$$
(3.29)

The $\varepsilon(\alpha)$ is a sign which selects a branch of the solutions which gives real x, y depending on α and we have $\varepsilon(\alpha) = +1$ for $\alpha < 2$ and $\varepsilon(\alpha) = -1$ for $\alpha > 2$. We can plot the ratio of the central charges which is given by (3.25), determined from the potential (3.27). We note that the qualitative behavior of the ratio for truncation 2 and 3 is very similar, in particular the central charge for the N = (1, 1) vacuum is minimized at $\alpha = 1$.



Figure 3.2: Ration of central charges for the N = (1, 1) and N = (4, 4) vacua.

3.2 Janus flow equations

In this section we will derive the BPS flow equations, expanding on the construction in our previous paper [1]. The Janus ansatz for the bosonic fields is give by

$$ds^{2} = e^{2B(u)} \left(\frac{dt^{2} - dz^{2}}{z^{2}} \right) - du^{2} , \qquad q_{i} = q_{i}(u) , \qquad p_{i} = p_{i}(u)$$
(3.30)

The Chern-Simons gauge fields is set to zero $B^{\mathcal{M}}_{\mu} = 0$. We will check that the source term on the right hand side of the gauge field equation of motion (3.13) is zero for the solutions considered in this paper.

The gravitino supersymmetry variation $\delta\psi^A_\mu=0$ is

$$0 = \partial_t \varepsilon + \frac{1}{2z} \gamma_0 (\gamma_1 - B' e^B \gamma_2 + 2ig e^B A_1) \varepsilon$$

$$0 = \partial_z \varepsilon + \frac{1}{2z} \gamma_1 (-B' e^B \gamma_2 + 2ig e^B A_1) \varepsilon$$

$$0 = \partial_u \varepsilon + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{Q}_u^{IJ} \Gamma^{IJ} \varepsilon + ig \gamma_2 A_1 \varepsilon$$
(3.31)

where we have suppressed the SO(8)-spinor indices of ε^A and A_1^{AB} . The spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ variation $\delta \chi^{\dot{A}r} = 0$ is

$$\left(-\frac{i}{2}\Gamma^{I}\mathcal{P}_{u}^{Ir}\gamma_{2}+gA_{2}^{r}\right)_{A\dot{A}}\varepsilon^{A}=0, \qquad r=9,10,\ldots,8+n$$
(3.32)

The matrix A_1 defined in (3.9) has eigenvectors

$$A_1^{AB} n_{\pm}^{(i)B} = \pm w_i n_{\pm}^{(i)A} , \qquad i = 1, 2, 3, 4$$
(3.33)

For a supersymmetric AdS_3 vacuum the eigenvalue w_i is related to the value of the potential evaluated at the vacuum via

$$w_{\rm vac}^2 = \frac{V_{\rm vac}}{2g^2} \tag{3.34}$$

and the associated eigenvectors $n_{\pm}^{(i)}$ determine the supersymmetries of the vacuum. For the $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$ vacuum the $w_i, i = 1, \dots 4$ all satisfy (3.34) and hence the vacuum preserves eight supersymmetries. For the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ vacuum only one of the for $n_{\pm}^{(i)}$ and w_i satisfies (3.34). In the following we drop the index (i) to denote the supersymmetric eigenvalue w and the eigenvector n_{\pm}^A .

The general ansatz for unbroken supersymmetry ε^A for the Janus solution is given by

$$\varepsilon^{A} = \left(f_{+}n_{+} + f_{-}n_{-}^{A}\right)\zeta_{+} + \left(g_{+}n_{+}^{A} + g_{-}n_{-}^{A}\right)\zeta_{-}$$
(3.35)

where ζ_{\pm} are Killing spinors for a unit radius AdS_2

$$D_{\mu}\zeta_{\eta} = i\frac{\eta}{2}\gamma_{\mu}\zeta_{\eta} , \qquad \mu = t, z, \quad \eta = \pm 1$$
(3.36)

3.2.1 Gravitino variation

The t, z components of the gravitino variation can be expressed as follows by using the properties of the AdS₂ Killing spinors,

$$0 = i \{ (f_{+}n_{+}^{A} + f_{-}n_{-}^{A})\zeta_{+} - (g_{+}n_{+}^{A} + g_{-}n_{-}^{A})\zeta_{-} \}$$

$$+ iB'e^{B}i\gamma_{2} \{ (f_{+}n_{+}^{A} + f_{-}n_{-}^{A})\zeta_{+} + (g_{+}n_{+}^{A} + g_{-}n_{-}^{A})\zeta_{-} \}$$

$$+ 2igwe^{B} \{ (f_{+}n_{+}^{A} - f_{-}n_{-}^{A})\zeta_{+} + (g_{+}n_{+}^{A} - g_{-}n_{-}^{A})\zeta_{-} \}$$

$$(3.37)$$

$$(3.38)$$

Using $i\gamma_2\zeta_\eta = \zeta_{-\eta}$ and the linear independence of the n_{\pm} and ζ_{\pm} , one obtains a set of equations,

$$f_{+} + B'e^{B}g_{+} + 2gwe^{B}f_{+} = 0$$

$$-g_{+} + B'e^{B}f_{+} + 2gwe^{B}g_{+} = 0$$

$$f_{-} + B'e^{B}g_{-} - 2gwe^{B}f_{-} = 0$$

$$-g_{-} + B'e^{B}f_{-} - 2gwe^{B}g_{-} = 0$$
(3.39)

It is convenient to define the following expressions

$$\gamma(u) = \sqrt{1 - \frac{e^{-2B}}{4g^2w^2}}, \qquad \sqrt{1 - \gamma^2(u)} = \frac{e^{-B}}{2gw}$$
 (3.40)

The equations (3.39) can then be solved by

$$f_{+} = \frac{\sqrt{1 - \gamma^2} - 1}{\gamma} g_{+} , \qquad f_{-} = \frac{\sqrt{1 - \gamma^2} + 1}{\gamma} g_{-}$$
(3.41)

if the integrability condition

$$B' = \pm \sqrt{4g^2 w^2 - e^{-2B}}$$
$$= \pm 2gw\gamma \qquad (3.42)$$

is satisfied. This equations provides us with a differential equation for the metric factor B.

3.2.2 Spin $\frac{1}{2}$ variation

The spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ variation (3.32) takes the following of a projector

$$\left(M^{AB}i\gamma_2 + \delta^{AB}\right)\varepsilon^B = 0 \tag{3.43}$$

where

$$M_{AB}^{(r)} = -\frac{1}{2g} \left(\Gamma^{I} \mathcal{P}_{u}^{Ir} (A_{2}^{r})^{-1} \right)_{AB}^{T}$$
(3.44)

Note that there is a projector for each r, which all have to be satisfied and the resulting flow equations are mutually consistent for a supersymmetric Janus solution to exist. This analysis will be performed for the particular truncations presented in section 3.1.2.

Inserting ε^A is given by (3.35) and into the spin $\frac{1}{2}$ projector gives

$$0 = (f_{+}n_{+}^{A} + f_{-}n_{-}^{A})\zeta_{+} + (g_{+}n_{+}^{A} + g_{-}n_{-}^{A})\zeta_{-} + M^{AB}i\gamma_{2}\left\{(f_{+}n_{+}^{B} + f_{-}n_{-}^{B})\zeta_{+} + (g_{+}n_{+}^{B} + g_{-}n_{-}^{B})\zeta_{-}\right\}$$
(3.45)

We have dropped the index r for notational convenience. Using the fact that the two dimensional Killing spinors are orthogonal we can project (3.45) onto the n_{\pm} and ζ_{\pm} components . This produces four equations

$$f_{+}n_{+}^{2} + M_{++}g_{+} + M_{+-}g_{-} = 0$$

$$g_{+}n_{+}^{2} + M_{++}f_{+} + M_{+-}f_{-} = 0$$

$$f_{-}n_{-}^{2} + M_{+-}g_{+} + M_{--}g_{-} = 0$$

$$g_{+}n_{-}^{2} + M_{+-}f_{+} + M_{--}f_{-} = 0$$
(3.46)

where we denoted $n_{\pm}^2 = n_{\pm}^A n_{\pm}^A$ and we define

$$M_{++} = n_{+}^{A} M^{AB} n_{+}^{B} , \qquad M_{--} = n_{-}^{A} M^{AB} n_{-}^{B} , \qquad M_{+-} = M_{-+} = n_{+}^{A} M^{AB} n_{-}^{B}$$
(3.47)

If there is more than one n_{\pm} (as in truncation 1) one has to choose linear combinations for which $M_{\pm\pm}, M_{\pm\mp}$ take the same form for all $n_{\pm}^{(i)}$, which is a consistency condition. Using (3.41) it can be shown that equations (3.46) can only be satisfied if we have

$$M_{++} = \gamma n_{+}^{2} , \qquad M_{--} = -\gamma n_{-}^{2} , \qquad M_{+-} = M_{-+} = \sqrt{1 - \gamma^{2}} \sqrt{n_{+}^{2} n_{-}^{2}}$$
(3.48)

In all cases we consider, the M_{--} equation is automatically satisfied if the M_{++} is satisfied. Hence (3.48) provides two independent equations. It follows from (3.44) that these equations are linear in the first derivatives of the scalar fields and provide the BPS flow equations for the scalars. The complete set of flow equations is given by these equations and the flow equation for the metric factor (3.42), coming from the gravitino variation.

3.3 Janus and RG-flow solutions

In this section we obtain the flow equations and solve them numerically for the three truncations considered in this paper. Since the first truncation does not have N = (1, 1) vacua the BPS flows will correspond to Janus solutions interpolating between N = (4, 4) vacua. For the two other truncations we find Janus as well as RG-flow interface solutions.

3.3.1 Truncation 1

The matrix A_1 for this truncation is given by

$$A_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & a & 0 & 0 & b & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -a & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & b \\ 0 & -a & 0 & 0 & -b & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ a & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -b & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -b & 0 & 0 & 0 & -a \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -b & 0 & 0 & a & 0 \\ b & 0 & 0 & 0 & a & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & b & 0 & 0 & -a & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.49)

where

$$a = \frac{1}{2}\cos p(\alpha + \cosh q), \quad b = \frac{1}{2}\sin p(1 + \alpha \cosh q)$$
(3.50)

The eigenvalue of A_1 are $\pm w_0$ which is given by

$$w_0 = \sqrt{a^2 + b^2} = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\cos^2 p(\alpha + \cosh q)^2 + \sin^2 p(1 + \alpha \cosh q)^2}$$
(3.51)

The eigenvectors are given by

$$n_{\pm}^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \frac{a \pm w_0}{b} \\ -\frac{a \mp w_0}{b} \\ 0 \\ 1 \\ 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad n_{\pm}^{(2)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ -\frac{a \pm w_0}{b} \\ -\frac{a \pm w_0}{b} \\ 0 \\ -1 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad n_{\pm}^{(3)} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{-a \pm w_0}{b} \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ \frac{a \mp w_0}{b} \\ 0 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad n_{\pm}^{(4)} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{a \pm w_0}{b} \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ \frac{a \pm w_0}{b} \\ 0 \\ -1 \\ 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.52)$$

The matrix M^{AB} defined in (3.44) takes the following form for the truncation 1

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & m_1 & 0 & 0 & -m_2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -m_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -m_2 \\ 0 & -m_1 & 0 & 0 & m_2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ m_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & m_2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & m_2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -m_1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & m_2 & 0 & 0 & m_1 & 0 \\ -m_2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & m_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -m_2 & 0 & 0 & -m_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.53)

with

$$m_1 = \frac{\alpha \sin p \ p' + \cos p \operatorname{csch} q \ q'}{g(\cos^2 p + \alpha^2 \sin^2 p)}, \qquad m_2 = \frac{\cos p \ p' - \alpha \sin p \operatorname{csch} q \ q'}{g(\cos^2 p + \alpha^2 \sin^2 p)}, \tag{3.54}$$

Using the definitions (3.50) and (3.51) the flow equations (3.48) for the scalars p, q and



Figure 3.3: (a)-(c) plots of p, q, B respectively, (d) parametric plot of the Janus flow in the x, y variables. The initial conditions are q(0) = 1.0 and p(0) = 1.5 and $\alpha = 2.3$.

the metric function B (3.42) can be written relatively compactly

$$p' = \frac{g}{w_0} \Big(\alpha (a\gamma - b\sqrt{1 - \gamma^2}) \sin p - (b\gamma + a\sqrt{1 - \gamma^2}) \cos p \Big)$$
$$q' = \frac{g \sinh q}{w_0} \Big(\alpha (b\gamma + a\sqrt{1 - \gamma^2}) \sin p + (a\gamma - b\sqrt{1 - \gamma^2}) \cos p \Big)$$
$$B' = \pm \sqrt{4g^2 w_0^2 - e^{-2B}}$$
(3.55)

This system of ordinary differential equations can only be integrated numerically. We will choose the coordinate u such that the turning point of the metric function where B'(u) = 0is located at u = 0. We then use the BPS equations (3.55) to determine p'(0), q'(0) and B(0) for a given q(0) and p(0). We then integrate the equations of motion following from the variation of the Lagrangian (3.10). This means that all our solutions depend on two initial conditions q(0) and p(0). We have given an illustrative example of the flows we can obtain in figure 3.3.

3.3.2 Truncation 2

The matrix A_1 for this truncation is given by

$$A_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{a+c}{4} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\frac{c}{2} & \frac{-a+c}{4} & 0 & b & 0 & 0 & b \\ 0 & \frac{-a+c}{4} & -\frac{c}{2} & 0 & -b & 0 & 0 & -b \\ \frac{a+c}{4} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & b & -b & 0 & \frac{c}{2} & 0 & 0 & \frac{-a+c}{4} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{a+c}{4} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{a+c}{4} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & b & -b & 0 & \frac{-a+c}{4} & 0 & 0 & \frac{c}{2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.56)

where

$$a = 2\cos^4 p(\alpha \cosh^4 q) + 2\sin^4 p(1 + \alpha \cosh^4 q)$$

$$b = \sin p \cos p \cosh q \left(\cos^2 p(\alpha + \cosh^2 q) - \sin^2 p(1 + \alpha \cosh^2 q)\right)$$

$$c = (1 + \alpha) \cosh^2 q \sin^2 2p$$
(3.57)

The eigenvectors $n_{\pm}^{(1)}$ of A_1 with eigenvalues $\pm w_0$ corresponding to the unbroken N = (1, 1) supersymmetries are given by

$$n_{\pm}^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \frac{a - 3c \pm 4w_0}{8b} \\ -\frac{a - 3c \pm 4w_0}{8b} \\ 0 \\ 1 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad w_0 = \frac{1}{4}\sqrt{64b^2 + (3c - a)^2}$$
(3.58)

We have checked that the extremum (3.22) does satisfy the supersymmetry condition (3.34) for the w_0 defined above and hence corresponds to an AdS vacuum with N = (1, 1)supersymmetry. The rest of the eigenvectors of A_1 do not have eigenvalues which satisfy the supersymmetry condition (3.34) for the N = (1, 1) vacuum. We chose the initial conditions the same way as in section 3.3.1.

In figure 3.4 we display examples of solutions to the flow equations representing Janus flows between N = (4, 4) vacua, N = (1, 1) vacua and RG-flow Janus solutions between N = (4, 4) and N = (1, 1) vacua. We note that the flows involving the N = (1, 1) vacua are a new feature of the truncation. As discussed in section 3.4.1 the N = (1, 1) is a repulsive fixed point of the flow and to obtain the numerical solutions one has to fine-tune the initial conditions at the turning point to approach the N = (1, 1) vacuum. This implies that choosing an initial p(0) the initial q(0) for which an RG-flow solution exists is fixed (if such a numerical solution exists). A third kind of low solution corresponds to a Janus solution interpolating between N = (1, 1) vacua, since both vacua are repulsive such solutions only exist for a discrete set of initial conditions.

3.3.3 Truncation 3

The matrix A_1 for this truncation is given by

$$A_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{b+c}{2} & 0 & \frac{a+d}{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -c & \frac{-b+c}{2} & 0 & \frac{-a+d}{2} & 0 & 0 & d \\ 0 & \frac{-b+c}{4} & -c & 0 & -d & 0 & 0 & \frac{a-d}{2} \\ \frac{b+c}{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{-a-d}{2} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{-a+d}{2} & -d & 0 & c & 0 & 0 & \frac{-b+c}{2} \\ \frac{a+d}{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{b+c}{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{-a-d}{2} & 0 & \frac{b+c}{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & d & \frac{a-d}{2} & 0 & \frac{-b+c}{2} & 0 & 0 & c \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.59)



Figure 3.4: Truncation 2: (a)-(c) plots of p, q, B respectively, (d) parametric plot of the Janus flow in the x, y variables, the N = (4, 4) vacuum is at the origin and the dots denote the locations of the N = (1, 1) vacua. Blue: Janus between N = (4, 4) vacua, red: Janus between N = (1, 1) vacua, green: RG-Janus between N = (4, 4) and N = (1, 1). We have set $\alpha = 1.2$ for these examples.



Figure 3.5: Truncation 3: (a)-(c) plots of p, q, B respectively, (d) parametric plot of the Janus flow in the x, y variables, the N = (4, 4) vacuum is at the origin and the dots denote the locations of the N = (1, 1) vacua. Blue: Janus between N = (4, 4) vacua, red: Janus between N = (1, 1) vacua, green: RG-Janus between N = (4, 4) and N = (1, 1). We have set $\alpha = 1.2$ for these examples.

where

$$a = \sin^{3} p(1 + \alpha \cosh^{3} q)$$

$$b = \cos^{3} p(\alpha + \cosh^{3} q)$$

$$c = \sin^{2} p \cos p \cosh q(1 + \alpha \cosh q)$$

$$d = \cos^{2} p \sin p \cosh q(\alpha + \cosh q)$$
(3.60)

The eigenvectors $n_{\pm}^{(1)}$ of A_1 with eigenvalues $\pm w_0$ corresponding to the unbroken N =

(1,1) supersymmetries are given by

$$n_{\pm}^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ -\frac{b-3c\pm 2w_0}{a-3d} \\ \frac{b-3c\pm 2w_0}{a-3d} \\ 0 \\ 1 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad w_0 = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{(a-3d)^2 + (b-3c)^2}$$
(3.61)

The rest of the eigenvectors of A_1 do not have eigenvalues which satisfy the supersymmetry condition (3.34) for the N = (1, 1) vacuum. Note that all of them reduce to the ones of truncation 1 for the N = (4, 4) vacuum.

In figure 3.5 we display a sample of solutions to the flow equations representing Janus flows between N = (4, 4) vacua, N = (1, 1) vacua and RG-flow Janus solutions between an N = (4, 4) and N = (1, 1) vacuum. We note that the solutions behave qualitatively similar to the ones displayed for truncation 2.

3.4 Holographic calculations

In this section we will perform some holographic calculations for the solutions obtained in the section 4.3. In particular we will calculate the masses for the fluctuations of the scalar fields around the N = (4, 4) and N = (1, 1) vacua. This will allow us to identify the dimensions of the dual operators which are turned on in the flows. One of the results is that for truncation 2 and 3 the mass squared of the fluctuations are positive, corresponding to operators with scaling dimensions $\Delta > 2$. Since the behavior near the AdS vacuum is given by

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \phi \sim \bar{\phi} + c_1 \varepsilon^{\Delta} + c_2 \varepsilon^{2-\Delta} + \cdots$$
 (3.62)

where $\varepsilon \to 0$ corresponds to approaching the AdS boundary, the initial conditions have to be fine tuned in order to make the repulsive term $c_2\varepsilon^{2-\Delta}$ very small. In addition we consider the entanglement entropy of a symmetric region around the defect [78, 117–120] and give a prescription to obtain the defect entropy (or g-factor) [121].

3.4.1 Operator spectrum

The N = (4, 4) vacuum has $q_i = 0, i = 1, 2, 3, 4$. Since the kinetic terms for p_i are vanishing the x_i, y_i defined in (3.16) are better suited to analyze the fluctuations. Expanding around the $x_i = y_i = 0$ vacuum one finds for the quadratic term of the fluctuations.

$$\frac{1}{e}\mathcal{L}_{(2)} = \frac{1}{4}\sum_{i} \left(\partial_{\mu}\delta x_{i}\partial^{\mu}\delta x_{i} + \partial_{\mu}\delta y_{i}\partial^{\mu}\delta y_{i}\right) + \frac{g_{c}^{2}}{4}\sum_{i} \left((1+2\alpha)\delta x_{i}^{2} + \alpha(\alpha+2)\delta y_{i}^{2}\right) \quad (3.63)$$

From which we can read off the masses of the scalar fluctuations. The masses the determine the conformal scaling dimensions

$$\Delta_{\pm} = 1 \pm \sqrt{1 + m^2 R^2} \tag{3.64}$$

where R is the AdS radius of the vacuum. Setting $g_c = 1/(1+\alpha)$ to obtain a unit radius AdS_3 for the N = (4, 4) vacuum and the standard AdS/CFT relation the conformal dimensions of the dual operators are displayed in table 3.1. Note that Δ_+ gives the scaling dimension of

N = (4, 4)	m^2	Δ_+	Δ_{-}
δx_i	$-\frac{1+2\alpha}{(1+\alpha)^2}$	$\frac{1+2\alpha}{1+\alpha}$	$\frac{1}{1+\alpha}$
δy_i	$-rac{lpha(2+lpha)}{(1+lpha)^2}$	$\frac{2+\alpha}{1+\alpha}$	$\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha}$

Table 3.1: Mass and conformal dimensions of scalar fluctuations for the N = (4, 4) vacuum

the dual operator in the standard quantization which takes values between $1 < \Delta_+ < 2$ for $\alpha > 0$, whereas Δ_- corresponds to the alternative quantization and $0 < \Delta_- < 1$ for $\alpha > 0$. Supersymmetric flows are related to the standard quantization which we will adapt in the



Figure 3.6: (a) Conformal dimension of operator dual to scalar fluctuations around the N = (1, 1) vacuum for truncation 2, (b) same for truncation 3.

following [99]. We note that the N = (4, 4) vacuum is attractive since both x and y are dual to operators with $\Delta < 2$ and the initial conditions do not have to be fine tuned for (3.62) to approach the vacuum value.

For truncations 2 and 3 we can determine the scaling dimensions of the operators at the N = (1, 1) vacuum by expanding the scalar action around the vacuum to second order and diagonalizing the resulting scalar Lagrangian. The resulting expressions are quite unwieldy and we present the plots of the scaling dimensions of the two modes as a function of α in figure 3.6. We note that the scaling dimensions are larger than 2 and hence the N = (1, 1) corresponds to a repulsive fixed point and the initial conditions have to be fine-tuned.

3.4.2 Holographic entanglement entropy

The Ruy-Takayanagi prescription [122] relates holographic entanglement entropy to the area of a minimal surface in the bulk which when approaching the AdS boundary ends at the border of the entangling surface. For a three dimensional static bulk spacetime this corresponds to a geodesic in the bulk which terminates at the ends of the entangling interval on the boundary. For the AdS_2 sliced metric (3.30) and an entangling surface which is symmetric about the defect and of length 2L, such a geodesic is simply parameterized by u and constant z = L. The entanglement entropy is then given by

$$S_{EE}(L) = \frac{1}{4G_N} \int_{u_{-\infty}}^{u_{+\infty}} du = \frac{1}{4G_N} \left(u_{-\infty} - u_{+\infty} \right)$$
(3.65)

Where $u_{\pm\infty}$ will be related to an UV Fefferman-Graham cutoff in the following, we will generalize the derivation of [117, 118] to the case of an RG-flow interface where the AdS radius and hence the central charge take different values on both sides of the interface. The asymptotic behavior of the metric is determined by the metric function B(u) as $u \to \pm\infty$

$$\lim_{u \to \pm \infty} B(u) = \pm \frac{u}{R_{\pm}} + \ln \lambda_{\pm} - \ln 2 + o(\frac{1}{u})$$
(3.66)

In the two asymptotic regions we can define a Fefferman-Graham coordinate system by defining a new coordinates \hat{u}_{\pm}

$$u \to \pm \infty$$
: $u = R_{\pm} \hat{u}_{\pm} \mp R_{\pm} \ln \lambda_{\pm} + o(\frac{1}{u})$ (3.67)

and then the coordinates ζ_{\pm}, η

$$u \to +\infty: \qquad e^{-2\hat{u}_{+}} = \frac{1}{4} \frac{\zeta_{+}^{2}}{\eta^{2}} + o(\zeta_{+}^{4}), \qquad z = \eta \left(1 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\zeta_{+}^{2}}{\eta^{2}}\right) + o(\zeta_{+}^{4})$$

$$u \to -\infty: \qquad e^{2\hat{u}_{-}} = \frac{1}{4} \frac{\zeta_{-}^{2}}{\eta^{2}} + o(\zeta_{-}^{4}), \qquad z = -\eta \left(1 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\zeta_{-}^{2}}{\eta^{2}}\right) + o(\zeta_{-}^{4})$$

(3.68)

This expansion is valid for $\eta >> \zeta_{\pm}$, i.e. if we consider an entanglement interval which is far away from the interface. In this limit the metric becomes

$$\zeta_{\pm} \to 0 \qquad ds^2 = R_{\pm}^2 \left(\frac{-d\zeta_{\pm}^2 - d\eta^2 + dt^2}{\zeta_{\pm}^2} \right) + o(1)$$
 (3.69)

It follows that R_{\pm} defined in (3.66), corresponds to the asymptotic AdS radius and the left and right side of the interface respectively and a Fefferman-Graham cutoff is given by setting $\zeta_{\pm} = \varepsilon$. For the entanglement region located at z = L in follows from (3.69) that the FG cutoff is related to the u_{\pm} cutoff as follows

$$u_{\pm} = \mp R_{\pm\infty} \ln\left(\frac{1}{2}\frac{\varepsilon}{L}\right) \mp R_{\pm} \ln\lambda_{\pm}$$
(3.70)



Figure 3.7: (a) Plot of boundary entropy for RG-flow interface for truncation 2, as a function of initial condition p_0 at the turning point for $\alpha = 1.4$. (b) Illustration of RG-flows for some initial values of p_0 .

Plugging this into (3.65) gives the entanglement entropy

$$S_{EE} = \frac{1}{4G_N} \left((R_+ + R_-) \ln \frac{L}{2\varepsilon} - R_+ \ln \lambda_+ - R_- \ln \lambda_- \right) \\ = \frac{c_+ + c_-}{6} \ln \frac{L}{2\varepsilon} - \frac{c_+}{6} \ln \lambda_+ - \frac{c_-}{6} \ln \lambda_- + o(\varepsilon)$$
(3.71)

the constant term gives the boundary entropy

$$g = -\frac{c_+}{6} \ln \lambda_+ - \frac{c_-}{6} \ln \lambda_-$$
(3.72)

Where c_{\pm} is the central charge for the two CFTs on either side of the RG interface. The g-factor is given by the second and third term in (3.71). For a Janus interface we have $c_{+} = c_{-} = c$, whereas the central charges differ on both sides of the interface for a RG-flow interface. It is straightforward to determine the R_{\pm} and $\ln \lambda_{\pm}$ by numerically fitting the metric functions (see plot (c) in figures 3.4 and 3.5) to determine the slope and the intercept (3.66) in the limit of large |u|. We will give an example of numerical results by presenting the g-factors as for the RG-interface between the N = (4, 4) vacuum and a N = (1, 1) vacuum in truncation 2. As discussed in section 3.3.2 there exists a unique RG-flow interface for a choice on initial condition p_0 . In figure 3.7 we present the g-factor as a function of the initial condition for a particular value of $\alpha = 1.4$.

3.5 Discussion

In this paper we found holographic interface solution in three dimensional gauged supergravity theories. An important feature of these theories is that they have AdS vacua which preserve N = (1, 1) supersymmetry in addition to the N = (4, 4) AdS vacuum. This feature allows us to find solutions which correspond to interfaces between two N = (4, 4) vacua on both side, N = (1, 1) on both sides, as well as RG-flow interfaces which have a N = (4, 4)on one side and N = (1, 1) vacuum on the other. We derived BPS flow equations which are three first order nonlinear differential equations for the two scalars p, q which are non zero in the truncations as well as the warp factor B of the AdS_2 slicing. By using the freedom to shift the warping coordinate u by a constant we can choose the initial conditions for the flow as the value of p and q at the turning point of the warp factor, where B' = 0. In fact we use the BPS equations to determine the initial conditions for the solution is tested by checking the BPS equations away from the point where the initial conditions were fixed.

The N = (1, 1) extrema are repulsive fixed points of the flow and hence the initial condition have to be fine tuned using a shooting method. This is possible by fixing one scalar initial condition and varying the other in order to come closer and closer to the N = (1, 1)vacuum in the flow. Our results indicate that the qualitative behavior of the solutions for general α is quite similar to the behavior of the $\alpha = 1$ solutions obtained in [1]. In addition we have considered entanglement entropy for the Janus and RG-flow solutions. Since for the RG-flow solutions the central charges and hence AdS radii are different on both sides of the interface and one has to carefully consider the UV cut-off. It is possible to determine the g-function or interface entropy from the numerical solution by a linear fit of the warp factor B.

We have considered truncations of the scalars to two nonzero scalars q and p (or x and

y), it would be interesting to generalize this since it would then be possible to consider more complicated flows between different N = (1, 1) vacua. It would also be interesting to investigate the solutions we have found can be lifted and tell and have a representation in $AdS_3 \times S^3 \times S^3 \times S^1$ holography. It would also be interesting to see whether the prescription for the interface entropy can be applied to other examples of RG-flow interfaces.

CHAPTER 4

Janus and RG-interfaces in minimal 3d gauged supergravity

Janus solutions are solutions of supergravity theories which describe interface CFTs in the AdS/CFT correspondence. The first such solution [64] was constructed in type IIB supergravity describing N = 4 Super Yang-Mills theory with the gauge coupling jumping across a planar interface. There are two different approaches to constructing such solutions, one is the top-down approach where ten or eleven dimensional solutions type II or M-theory are constructed as products involving AdS and spherical factors warped over a Riemann surface with boundary (see e.g. [69, 73, 87, 88, 91]). A guiding principle is to look for solutions preserving half the number of supersymmetries of the AdS vacua which allows to construct the explicit solutions from harmonic functions on the Riemann surface with certain boundary conditions.

A second approach is to construct supersymmetric Janus solutions in lower dimensional gauged supergravities (see e.g. [70, 72, 74, 92–94, 96, 116, 123–127]). Such solutions are often easier to obtain since all fields only depend on a single AdS-slicing coordinate and the Killing spinor equations are simpler. In many cases, the gauged supergravity theories are consistent truncations of ten and eleven dimensional supergravities and lower dimensional solutions can be uplifted. In addition, the simpler form of the solution allows to calculate holographic observables and handle holographic renormalization more easily.

Another reason to consider lower dimensional gauged supergravity is that these theories often have more than one AdS vacuum, coming from multiple extrema of the scalar potential.

Apart from the maximally supersymmetric vacuum, the other vacua can have a lower number or no supersymmetry and in general will correspond to an AdS space with different values of the cosmological constant, which translates into CFTs with a different central charge. For an ansatz with a Poincare sliced metric, it is possible to construct solutions which correspond to holographic RG-flows relating the two CFTs (see e.g. [61, 128–130]). Using the Janus AdSslicing it is possible to construct RG-flow interfaces which describe an interface between two different CFTs which are related by an RG-flow. On the field theory side RG-flow interfaces were discussed in [100, 131–135] and examples of holographic RG-flow interface solutions are [1, 2, 101, 102]. The goal of this paper is to find Janus and RG-flow solutions in one of the minimal theories in three dimensions, namely N = 2, d = 3 gauged supergravity, in order to have a set of simple (numerical) solutions for which holographic observables can be calculated. The ones we focus on in this paper are the interface entropy $\ln(g_A)$ for an entangling surface which is symmetric about the interface, the effective central charge c_{eff} associated with the entanglement entropy where the entangling surface ends at the interface and the reflection coefficient c_{LR} for the scattering of stress tensor modes off the interface. We use the solutions to test bounds and relations between the latter two quantities which have been investigated recently [136-138]. The structure of this note is as follows: In section 4.1 we review the N = 2, d = 3 gauged supergravity for which we will construct Janus and RGflow solutions. In section 4.2, we set up the equations of motion for an AdS_2 slicing ansatz and generate families of numerical solutions both for Janus solutions which have the same CFT on both sides of the interface and RG-flow interfaces between two different CFTs. In section 4.3 we briefly review the holographic observables we calculate and plot the results for some example solutions. While the results for the minimal N = 2, d = 3 gauged supergravity are numerical, there exists a solution of N = 8, d = 3 gauged supergravity found previously by one of the authors in [112] which is exact and preserves half the supersymmetries. In section 4.4 we calculate the holographic observables and observe that the relation between c_{eff} and c_{LR} , which was pointed out to hold for the ten dimensional supersymmetric Janus solutions in [138] also hold for the solutions constructed in this paper. We close the note with a discussion of the results and some future research directions in section 4.5.

4.1 N = 2, d = 3 gauged supergravity

In this note we will use a minimal form of N = 2, d = 3 gauged supergravity where the bosonic sector is given by three dimensional gravity, a complex scalar and a Chern-Simons U(1) gauge field. We will set the fermionic degrees of freedom to vanish and use the fermionic supersymmetry variations to test whether supersymmetries are preserved by the solutions. The action was constructed in [139] and we will follow the conventions of [140, 141]. The Lagrangian is given by

$$S = \frac{1}{4} \int d^3x \sqrt{g} \left(R - \frac{4|D_\mu \Phi|^2}{a^2(1-|\Phi|^2)^2} - V(\Phi) \right) + \frac{1}{4ma^4} \int A \wedge dA \tag{4.1}$$

The covariant derivative coupling the complex scalar and the U(1) gauge field is given by

$$D_{\mu}\Phi = \partial_{\mu}\Phi + iA_{\mu}\Phi \tag{4.2}$$

The scalar potential can be most conveniently expressed using the following parameterization

$$C = \frac{1 + |\Phi|^2}{1 - |\Phi|^2}, \quad S = \frac{2\Phi}{1 - |\Phi|^2}$$
(4.3)

and is given by

$$V = 8m^2 C^2 (2a^2|S|^2 - C^2)$$
(4.4)

The Chern-Simons gauge field couples to the phase of the complex scalar field Φ

$$\Phi = |\Phi|e^{i\theta} \tag{4.5}$$

It is convenient to introduce one more change of variable for the absolute value of the scalar field

$$|\Phi| = \tanh\left(\frac{a\phi}{2\sqrt{2}}\right) \tag{4.6}$$

which implies

$$C = \cosh\left(\frac{a\phi}{\sqrt{2}}\right), \quad |S| = \sinh\left(\frac{a\phi}{\sqrt{2}}\right)$$
 (4.7)

The action can then be written in terms of the fields ϕ, θ

$$S = \frac{1}{4} \int d^3x \sqrt{g} \left(R - \frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \phi \partial^\mu \phi - V(\phi) \right) + \frac{1}{4} \int d^3x \sqrt{g} \left(-\frac{\sinh^2 \phi}{a^2} (\partial_\mu \theta + A_\mu) (\partial^\mu \theta + A^\mu) + \frac{1}{4ma^4} \int A \wedge dA \right)$$
(4.8)

In order to construct Janus and RG-flow interface solutions it is possible to set $A_{\mu} = \theta = 0$ consistently. The action is then given by the first line in (4.8), i.e. three dimensional gravity minimally coupled to a real scalar field ϕ with a potential V

$$V(\phi) = -8m^2 \cosh^2\left(\frac{a\phi}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \left[\cosh^2\left(\frac{a\phi}{\sqrt{2}}\right) - 2a^2 \sinh^2\left(\frac{a\phi}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\right]$$
(4.9)

The d = 3, N = 2 supersymmetry transformation of the gravitino and dilatino for the truncated Lagrangian takes the following form

$$\delta\psi_{\mu} = (\partial_{\mu} + \frac{1}{4}\omega_{\mu}^{ab}\gamma_{ab})\varepsilon + \frac{1}{2}W\gamma_{\mu}\varepsilon$$
$$\delta\lambda = \frac{1}{2}(-\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\phi - \frac{2}{a}\frac{\partial W}{\partial\phi})\varepsilon$$
(4.10)

where the superpotential is given by

$$W = 2m\cosh^2\left(\frac{a\phi}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \tag{4.11}$$

and the potential is related to the superpotential by the following relation

$$V = 2\left(\frac{\partial W}{\partial \phi}\right)^2 - 2W^2 \tag{4.12}$$

Note that m only appears as an overall multiplicative factor in the potential, we will set $m = \frac{1}{2}$ which leads to a unit radius AdS_3 vacuum for $\phi = 0$. The shape of the potential and the number and nature of extrema depend on the parameter a, representative plots for the three different cases are shown in figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1: Example of potential $V(\phi)$ for three cases (a) $a < \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$, (b) $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} < a < 1$, (c) a > 1

For any value of a there is an extremum at $\phi = \phi^{(1)} = 0$. Expanding around it allows to read off the mass of the small fluctuation around $\phi = \delta \phi$

$$V \sim -2 - 2a^2(1 - a^2)\delta\phi^2 + o(\delta\phi^4)$$
(4.13)

As mentioned before we have $l_{AdS}^{(1)} = 1$ Using the standard relation of the mass and conformal dimension of the dual operator one obtains

$$\Delta_{\pm}^{(1)} = 1 \pm |1 - 2a^2| \tag{4.14}$$

which is valid for all $a \in R$. This implies that the dual operator is relevant for 0 < a < 1and irrelevant for a > 1. For $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} < a < 1$, there are two additional extrema of the potential located at

$$\phi^{(2),(3)} = \pm \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}a} \ln\left(\frac{1+2a\sqrt{1-a^2}}{2a^2-1}\right)$$
(4.15)

Expanding $\phi = \phi^{(2,3)} + \delta \phi$, gives

$$V = -\frac{2a^4}{2a^2 - 1} - \frac{4a^4(a^2 - 1)}{2a^2 - 1}\delta\phi^2 + o(\delta\phi^3)$$
(4.16)

The AdS_3 vacuum has a curvature radius

$$l_{AdS}^{(2,3)} = \frac{\sqrt{2a^2 - 1}}{a^2} \tag{4.17}$$

and from (4.16) we can read off the mass and determine the conformal dimension of the operator dual to the scalar fluctuation around the extremum.

$$\Delta_{+}^{(2,3)} = 1 + \sqrt{1 + 8(1 - a^2)} \tag{4.18}$$

Consequently, the dual operator will always be irrelevant for the values of a where the additional extrema and AdS vacua exist (see figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2: Conformal dimension of operator dual to fluctuation around extrema.

The simplicity of the minimal gauged supergravity makes the construction of analytic, as well as numerical solutions, relatively easy. For example, Poincare sliced domain wall solution representing RG-flows have been constructed in [140–143] and string and vortex solutions have been constructed in [139, 144–147]. In this note, we utilize an AdS_2 slicing ansatz to find Janus and RG-flow interface solutions in this theory.

4.2 Janus and RG-interfaces

The equations of motion following from the $\theta = A_{\mu} = 0$ truncation of the action (4.8) are

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = \frac{1}{2}\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\partial_{\sigma}\phi\partial^{\sigma}\phi\right) - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}V(\phi)$$
$$0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}}\partial_{\mu}\left(\sqrt{-g}g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\nu}\phi\right) - V'(\phi)$$
(4.19)

The ansatz for Janus and RG-flow interfaces is given by taking an AdS_2 slicing of the three dimensional metric and demanding that the scalar field ϕ only depends on the slicing coordinate u.

$$ds^{2} = du^{2} + e^{2B(u)} \frac{dx^{2} - dt^{2}}{x^{2}}, \qquad \phi = \phi(u)$$
(4.20)

The equations of motion (4.19) then become a system of second order ordinary differential equations, for B and ϕ

$$B'' + 2(B')^2 + V + e^{-2B} = 0 (4.21)$$

$$\phi'' + 2B'\phi' - \frac{\partial V}{\partial \phi} = 0 \tag{4.22}$$

Subject to a constraint

$$(B')^2 - \frac{1}{4}(\phi')^2 + e^{-2B} + \frac{1}{2}V = 0$$
(4.23)

In order to determine whether Janus or RG-flow interface solutions exist which preserve some supersymmetry, it is sufficient to, first, consider the vanishing of gravitino variation in the AdS_2 direction

$$\delta\psi_t = \partial_t \varepsilon + \frac{1}{2z} \gamma_0 \Big(-\gamma_1 + B' e^B \gamma_2 + e^B W \Big) \varepsilon = 0$$

$$\delta\psi_z = \partial_z \varepsilon + \frac{1}{2z} \gamma_1 \Big(B' e^B \gamma_2 + e^B W \Big) \varepsilon = 0$$
(4.24)

where the integrability $(\partial_t \partial_z - \partial_z \partial_t) \varepsilon = 0$ condition produces the following equation

$$1 - e^{2B}W^2 + e^{2B}(B')^2 = 0 (4.25)$$

Secondly, the dilatino variation

$$\delta\lambda = -\frac{1}{2} \Big(\gamma_2 \phi' + \frac{2}{a} \frac{\partial W}{\partial \phi}\Big)\varepsilon \tag{4.26}$$

corresponds to a projector on the susy parameter ε if

$$(\phi')^2 = \frac{4}{a^2} \left(\frac{\partial W}{\partial \phi}\right)^2 \tag{4.27}$$

It is straightforward to verify that the conditions (4.25) and (4.27) are inconsistent with the equations of motion (4.22) unless $\phi = \phi^{(1)} = 0$ which is the supersymmetric AdS_3 vacuum. Consequently, the additional $AdS_3 \phi = \phi^{(2,3)}$ which exist for $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} < a < 1$ as well as any AdS_2 sliced flow solution for which ϕ' is not vanishing, will break all the supersymmetries.

It is possible to rewrite the equations of motion (4.21)- (4.22) as a system of first order equations, however as pointed out already in [98] this is not very useful in obtaining closed form or even numerical solutions. Here we will employ the following strategy to obtain numerical solutions of the equations of motion: The uu component of Einstein equations (4.22) is a constraint for reparametrizations of the coordinate u. If it is imposed at a fixed uit will be satisfied for all u for solutions of the second order equations of motion. In addition, we look for Janus or RG-interface solutions. These all have the feature that the warping factor e^{2B} has a minimum. Other solutions are possible but they will generally develop a naked singularity or become non-physical (for example B will diverge or the signature of the metric changes).

Consequently, we impose the initial conditions at the turning point where B' = 0 which we set by a translation of the coordinate u to be localized at u = 0. The constraint (4.23) then becomes

$$(\phi')^2 - 2V - 4e^{-2B}\big|_{u=0} = 0 \tag{4.28}$$

and one can determine B(0) from specifying the initial conditions $\phi'(0)$ and $\phi(0)$. The numerical solutions can then be obtained by integrating the second order equations (4.21) and (4.22) using a shooting method in Mathematica.

We will illustrate this for the example $a = \frac{3}{4}$ for which the potential has three extrema. There are three types of interface solutions as illustrated for some representative initial conditions in figure 4.3.



(a) Janus interface with $\phi^{(1)}$ vacuum on both sides



(b) RG-flow interface interpolating between $\phi^{(1)}$ and $\phi^{(2)}$ vacua



(c) RG-flow interface interpolating between $\phi^{(3)}$ and $\phi^{(2)}$ vacua

Figure 4.3: Examples of interface solutions for representative initial conditions

The plot (a) depicts a Janus interface between the supersymmetric vacuum $\phi^{(1)}$ as $u \to \pm \infty$. To obtain such a solution the initial conditions do not have to be fine-tuned, in figure 4.4 the initial conditions leading to Janus solutions are in the yellow area. The plot (b) depicts an RG-flow interface interpolating between the supersymmetric vacuum $\phi^{(1)}$ as $u \to -\infty$ and the vacuum $\phi^{(2)}$ as $u \to \infty$. The initial conditions have to be fine-tuned in figure 4.4 where they correspond to the blue line. The red line in figure 4.4 corresponds to initial conditions which lead to RG-flow interface interpolating between the supersymmetric vacuum $\phi^{(3)}$ as $u \to -\infty$ and the vacuum $\phi^{(1)}$ as $u \to \infty$. The plot (c) corresponds to a solution that interpolates between the vacuum $\phi^{(3)}$ as $u \to -\infty$ and the vacuum $\phi^{(2)}$ as $u \to \infty$. Here both initial conditions have to be fine-tuned and in figure 4.4 this solution corresponds to the green dot. Initial conditions outside the colored region lead to solutions which develop a naked singularity at a finite value of u.

For values of $a < \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ only the supersymmetric vacuum $\phi^{(1)}$ exists and the solutions are all Janus solutions which look qualitatively similar to (a) in figure 4.3. For value a > 1 all interface solutions develop naked singularities.



Figure 4.4: Phase diagram for interface solutions for the a = 0.75. The diagram is extended to the other quadrants using $\phi(0) \rightarrow -\phi(0)$ and $\phi'(0) \rightarrow -\phi'(0)$ maps.

4.3 Holographic observables

The numerical solutions obtained in the previous sections can be used to calculate holographic observables. Here we focus on a few, namely the entanglement entropy of an interval both symmetrically about the interface [117,118] and at the interface [78,148], as well as the transmission coefficient [82,85,138,149].



(a) Entangling surface A symmetric about interface I



(b) Entangling surface A at interface I

Figure 4.5

Correlations functions in the background of Janus solutions have been discussed in [66, 150–152]. However these correlators are more difficult to obtain if the RG-flow solutions of the background are known only numerically. There are other holographic observables such

as the on-shell action and volume measures of complexity (see e.g. [153–155]) which will not be discussed in this note.

4.3.1 Symmetric entanglement entropy

The Ryu-Takayanagi prescription [122, 156] allows to calculate the entanglement entropy holographically, for an interval A the entanglement entropy is given by

$$S_{EE}(A) = \frac{\text{Length}[\Gamma_A]}{4G_N}$$
(4.29)

where Γ_A is the geodesic in the bulk of spacetime which ends at the interval A on the boundary. For AdS_2 sliced solution describing an interface, there are two simple geometries one can consider. Firstly, we can choose the interval to be symmetric about the interface [117, 118, 148, 157] and the entanglement entropy takes the following form

$$S_A = \frac{c_L + c_R}{6} \ln \frac{l}{\varepsilon} + \ln g_A \tag{4.30}$$

Here $c_{L/R}$ are the central charges of the CFTs on either side of the interface. For a Janus interface they are equal, whereas for an RG-flow interface, they will be different. Furthermore, 2l is the length of the interval A, which is symmetric about the interface and ε is a UV cutoff and $\ln(g_A)$ is the g-factor (or interface entropy) which is a physical quantity associated with the number of degrees of freedom localized on the interface.

To apply the Ryu-Takayanagi formula (4.29) for the AdS_2 sliced metric (4.20), it was shown in [118] that the geodesic is parameterized by choosing a fixed z = l and $u \in [-\infty, \infty]$. This geodesic corresponds to an entanglement interval symmetric about the interface at the origin, i.e. A = [-l, l]. In the following, we apply the holographic calculation [118, 148, 157], where details can be found. The length of the geodesic is divergent

$$\text{Length}[\Gamma_A] = \int_{u_{-\infty}}^{u_{\infty}} du = u_{\infty} - u_{-\infty}$$
(4.31)

and must be regulated by mapping the AdS_2 sliced metric (4.20) in the asymptotic regions $u \to \pm \infty$ to a Fefferman-Graham coordinate and then introducing a uniform UV cutoff ε .
For the RG-flow and Janus interface solutions obtained in section 4.2 the warp factor takes the following form for large |u|

$$\lim_{u \to +\infty} B(u) = \frac{u}{L_R} + \ln \gamma_R + o(\frac{1}{u}), \qquad \lim_{u \to -\infty} B(u) = -\frac{u}{L_L} - \ln \gamma_L + o(\frac{1}{u})$$
(4.32)

For large $u \to \pm \infty$ the AdS_2 sliced metric can be mapped asymptotically to a Poincare sliced AdS_3 with radius $L_{R/L}$ respectively by the following coordinate change

$$u \to +\infty: \quad u = L_R \left(\ln \frac{x}{z} - \ln \gamma_R + \ln L_R \right) + o(z),$$

$$u \to -\infty: \quad u = -L_L \left(\ln \frac{x}{z} - \ln \gamma_L + \ln L_L \right) + o(z)$$
(4.33)

Here z is the radial coordinate in the asymptotically AdS_3 in Poincare coordinates and the Fefferman-Graham UV-cutoff is $z = \varepsilon$. The boundary of the entangling surface is located at x = l. Using The Brown-Henneaux formula for the central charge on the left and right sides of the interface

$$\frac{c_{L/R}}{6} = \frac{L_{L/R}}{4G_N} \tag{4.34}$$

it follows that the holographic entanglement entropy (4.29) takes the form (4.30) with the g-factor given by

$$\ln g_A = -\frac{1}{6} \left(c_R \ln \frac{\gamma_R}{L_R} + c_L \ln \frac{\gamma_L}{L_L} \right) \tag{4.35}$$

For the numerical Janus or RG-flow interfaces obtained in section 4.2 this can be calculated by fitting B(u) for large |u| to (4.33) to obtain $L_{L/R}$ and $\ln(\gamma_{L/R})$. We illustrate this here by presenting a plot of $\ln g_A$ for the RG-flow interfaces interpolating between two distinct vacua for initial conditions given by the red and blue curves in figure 4.4.

4.3.2 Entanglement entropy at the interface

Secondly, one can consider an entanglement interval A which ends on the defect. For simple CFTs the entanglement entropy can be calculated using the replica trick [158, 159] and it



Figure 4.6: Interface entropy $\ln(g_A)$ for the RG-flow interfaces depending on the initial condition $\phi(0)$.

takes the following form

$$S_A = \frac{c_{eff}}{6} \ln \frac{l}{\varepsilon} \tag{4.36}$$

Where c_{eff} is an effective central charge, which depends on the details of the interface and measures the amount of entanglement across the interface.

The entanglement entropy at the interface has been calculated holographically in [78] where it has been shown for the AdS sliced metric (4.20) that the Ryu-Takanayagi geodesic is along the z coordinate and u is fixed at the minimum of B(u), which was chosen to be at u = 0 for the numerical solutions constructed in section 4.2. One obtains for the numerical solutions of section 4.2

$$S_A = \frac{l}{4G_N} e^{B(0)} \int \frac{dz}{z} = \frac{1}{4G_N} e^{B(0)} \log \frac{l}{\varepsilon}$$
(4.37)

Here ε is a UV cutoff and l is the length of the interval which we take to be very large in order to eliminate the contribution from the other end of the interval. Hence the effective central charge (4.36) is given by

$$c_{eff} = \frac{3}{2G_N} e^{B(0)} \tag{4.38}$$

The effective central charge c_{eff} has interesting properties such as a universal bound [137] and a relation to the transmission coefficient discussed below for certain supersymmetric Janus solutions [138].

4.3.3 Transmission and reflection coefficients

Another quantity is the energy reflection and transmission amplitude which describe the flow though and reflection of energy from the CFT interface. In the CFT the transmission amplitude can be expressed as a normalized two-point function of the stress tensors $T_{1,2}$ of the CFTs on the two sides of the interface [79, 80, 160]

$$\mathcal{T} = \frac{c_{LR}}{c_L + c_R} = \frac{\langle T_1 T_2 + \bar{T}_1 \bar{T}_2 \rangle}{\langle (T_1 + \bar{T}_1)(T_2 + \bar{T}_2) \rangle}$$
(4.39)

where c_L and c_R are the central charges of the two CFTs on either side of the interface. The reflection amplitude \mathcal{R} is determined by unitarity $\mathcal{R} + \mathcal{T} = 1$. A holographic expression for c_{LR} has been obtained in [85], by taking a continuum limit for the reflection and transmission of energy in an array of probe branes.

$$c_{LR} = \frac{3}{G_N} \left(\frac{1}{l_R} + \frac{1}{l_L} + 8\pi G_N \sigma \right)^{-1}$$
(4.40)

Where $l_{L,R}$ are the AdS radius of the asymptotic AdS_3 half-regions close to the boundary on either side of the interface. The quantity σ depends on the scalar field kinetic energy, for the action (4.8) is given by

$$\sigma = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (\phi')^2 du \tag{4.41}$$

and can be calculated using the numerical solution obtained in the previous section, for both the Janus solution as well as the RG-flow interface solution.

In [137] a set of inequalities relating c_{LR} (and hence the transmission coefficient \mathcal{T}) to c_{eff} and the central charges on either side of the interface was proposed

$$0 \le c_{LR} \le c_{eff} \le \min(c_L, c_R) \tag{4.42}$$



Figure 4.7: Plot of c_{LR} and c_{eff} for $a = \frac{3}{4}$ of a function of initial conditions $\phi(0), \phi'(0)$.

In [137] some holographic and CFT examples were checked and it was argued that the inequality between c_{LR} and c_{eff} is only becoming an equality for a completely reflective or transmissive interface. We can use the numerical solutions in our simple supergravity model to check and we found that the strict inequality holds for all Janus and RG-flow solutions. We can illustrate the validity of this inequality with the plot in figure 4.7 of c_{LR} and c_{eff} for $a = \frac{3}{4}$. Note that the point in the plot where $c_{LR} = c_{eff}$ corresponds to $\phi(0) = \phi'(0)$ which is the supersymmetric AdS_3 vacuum and hence corresponds to a trivial topological interface, i.e. no interface at all.

4.4 Transmission coefficient for N = 8, d = 3 gauged supergravity

In the previous section entanglement entropy and reflection coefficients were calculated for the non-supersymmetric Janus and RG-flow interfaces in minimal N = 2 gauged supergravity. Recently, it has been observed [138] that there is a relation of the transmission coefficient and the entanglement entropy at the interface for a class of supersymmetric Janus solutions constructed as $AdS_2 \times S_2 \times T_4 \times \Sigma_2$ solutions of type IIB supergravity in [138]. In this section we use supersymmetric Janus solutions of d = 3, N = 8 gauged supergravity which were obtained some time ago [112] to show that the relation of these two quantities holds for these solutions as well.

In the following, we will follow the construction [104]. The scalar fields of d = 3, N = 8gauged supergravity take values in a $G/H = SO(8, n)/(SO(8) \times SO(n))$ coset. There are 8n independent scalar degrees of freedom. The three dimensional theory can be constructed as a truncation of six-dimensional N = (2, 0) supergravity on $AdS_3 \times S^3$ coupled to $n_T \ge 1$ tensor multiplets, where the number of tensor multiplets is fixed by $n_T = n - 3$. The special cases $n_T = 5$ and 21 are related to compactifications of ten-dimensional type IIB on T^3 and K3, respectively and hence are related to low energy limits of consistent string theories. Smaller values of n can be obtained by consistent truncations, see [161] for a discussion of consistent truncations of six-dimensional N = (1, 1) and N = (2, 0) using exceptional field theory. The action, gauging and supersymmetry transformations were constructed in [104] using the embedding tensor formalism. The details of the action and the construction of the half-BPS Janus solution can be found in [112]

The Janus solution considers the simplest case with n = 1 for which there are eight coset scalars $\phi_i, i = 1, 2, \dots 8$. It was shown in [112] that one can further consistently truncate the theory where only two denoted as ϕ_4, ϕ_5 have a nontrivial profile and all others are set to zero. The truncated bosonic action takes the following form

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \int d^3x \sqrt{-g} \Big\{ R - P^I_\mu P^{\mu I} - V \Big\}$$
(4.43)

Where the notation $\Phi = \sqrt{\phi_4^2 + \phi_5^2}$ is used for compactness. The kinetic energy term and the potential for non-vanishing scalars are given by

$$P^{I}_{\mu}P^{\mu I} = \frac{\phi^{2}_{4} + (\sinh^{2}\Phi + \phi^{2}_{4})\phi^{2}_{5}}{\Phi^{4}}\partial_{\mu}\phi_{4}\partial^{\mu}\phi_{4} - \frac{\phi^{4}_{5} + (\sinh^{2}\Phi + \phi^{2}_{5})\phi^{2}_{4}}{\Phi^{4}}\partial_{\mu}\phi_{5}\partial^{\mu}\phi_{5} - \frac{2(\Phi^{2} - \sinh^{2}\Phi)\phi_{4}\phi_{5}}{\Phi^{4}}\partial_{\mu}\phi_{4}\partial^{\mu}\phi_{5}}{V} = -\left(\frac{\sinh^{2}(\Phi)\phi^{2}_{4}}{\Phi^{2}} + 2\right)$$
(4.44)

It was shown in [112] that a solution of the equations of motion which preserves half the supersymmetries of the N = 8 gauged supergravity is given by the scalar profiles $\phi_4(u), \phi_5(u)$

which are implicitly defined and depend on two real parameters p, q

$$\frac{|\phi_4|\sinh\Phi}{\Phi} = |\sinh q| \operatorname{sech} u$$
$$\frac{\phi_5 \sinh\Phi}{\Phi} = \sinh p \cosh q + \cosh p \sinh q \tanh u \tag{4.45}$$

The AdS_2 sliced metric is given by

$$ds^{2} = du^{2} + \operatorname{sech}^{2} q \cosh^{2} u \frac{d\xi^{2} - dt^{2}}{\xi^{2}}$$
(4.46)



(a) Scalar profile for ϕ_4, ϕ_5 for $q = \frac{3}{2}, q = \frac{1}{5}$ (b) Warp factor B for $q = \frac{3}{2}, q = \frac{1}{5}$

Figure 4.8: Scalar Profiles and warp factors for the half-BPS solution.

A plot of the scalars and warp factor as a function of the slicing coordinate u is presented in figure 4.8. Note that the solution with q = 0 corresponds to the unit radius AdS_3 vacuum where the massless scalar is constant and given by $\phi_5 = \sinh p$. The g factor for a symmetric entanglement entropy for this solution was calculated in [112] and can easily be reproduced using the expression given in section 4.3.1 and one obtains

$$\ln(g_A) = \frac{c}{3}\ln(\cosh q) \tag{4.47}$$

For the entanglement interval at the interface, we can use (4.37) and the metric (4.46) to obtain the holographic result for the effective central charge

$$\frac{c_{eff}}{c} = e^{B(0)} = \frac{1}{\cosh q}$$
 (4.48)

For the transmission coefficient, the relevant quantity is the integral of $d\sigma$ which for the action (4.43) is given by (choosing units such that $8\pi G_N = 1$).

$$\sigma = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \ P_u^I P_u^I = 2\sinh^2 q \tag{4.49}$$

Plugging this result in the expression (4.40) and noting that $l_R = l_L = 1$ one obtains

$$c_{LR} = 2c \frac{1}{2(1 + \sinh^2 q)} = \frac{c}{\cosh^2 q}$$
(4.50)

Hence we observe that the transmission coefficient and the effective central charge obey the following relation

$$\frac{c_{LR}}{c} = \left(\frac{c_{eff}}{c}\right)^2 \tag{4.51}$$

The same relation was found in [138] for the ten dimensional half BPS Janus Janus solution of [114,118]. Note that the exact relation has a different form than the inequalities discussed at the end of section 4.3.3, it is however easy to verify that the supersymmetric solutions also satisfy these inequalities.

4.5 Discussion

In this paper, we used minimal d = 3, N = 2 gauge supergravity with a single scalar field to construct solutions that represent Janus and RG-flow interface solutions. The model depends on a single parameter a, for $a < \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ there is a single supersymmetric AdS_3 vacuum and AdS_2 sliced solution are Janus interface solution. For $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} < a < 1$ there are two additional non-supersymmetric vacua and depending on initial conditions there are Janus solutions as well as fine-tuned RG-flow interface solutions that interpolate between the different vacua. We showed that the single scalar model does not allow for interface solutions that preserve any supersymmetry and solutions are obtained by numerical integration. We calculated holographic observables such as symmetric and interface entanglement entropy and transmission coefficients using the numerical solutions and confirmed that the inequalities involving c_{LR} and c_{eff} proposed in [137] are satisfied for the solutions obtained in this paper. The simplicity of the model and solutions makes it a good model to calculate other holographic observables such as correlation functions, complexity measures or other entanglement entropy and check whether other inequalities involving these quantities can be discovered.

For supersymmetric Janus solutions previously obtained in [112] we showed that an exact relation between the entanglement entropy and the reflection coefficient first obtained in [138] is satisfied. It would be interesting to find a proof of this relation for all supersymmetric AdS_3 Janus solutions, but we have not been able to find one so far.

REFERENCES

- [1] K. Chen, M. Gutperle and C. Hultgreen-Mena, Janus and RG-flow interfaces in three-dimensional gauged supergravity, JHEP 03 (2022) 057, [2111.01839].
- [2] M. Gutperle and C. Hultgreen-Mena, Janus and RG interfaces in three-dimensional gauged supergravity. Part II. General α, JHEP 08 (2022) 126, [2205.10398].
- [3] M. Gutperle and C. Hultgreen-Mena, Janus and RG-interfaces in minimal 3d gauged supergravity, 2412.16749.
- [4] G. 't Hooft, A Planar Diagram Theory for Strong Interactions, Nucl. Phys. B 72 (1974) 461.
- [5] S. W. Hawking, Particle Creation by Black Holes, Commun. Math. Phys. 43 (1975) 199–220.
- [6] G. 't Hooft, Dimensional reduction in quantum gravity, Conf. Proc. C 930308 (1993) 284–296, [gr-qc/9310026].
- [7] L. Susskind, The World as a hologram, J. Math. Phys. 36 (1995) 6377-6396, [hep-th/9409089].
- [8] C. R. Stephens, G. 't Hooft and B. F. Whiting, *Black hole evaporation without information loss, Class. Quant. Grav.* **11** (1994) 621–648, [gr-qc/9310006].
- [9] J. D. Brown and M. Henneaux, Central Charges in the Canonical Realization of Asymptotic Symmetries: An Example from Three-Dimensional Gravity, Commun. Math. Phys. 104 (1986) 207–226.
- [10] J. Dai, R. G. Leigh and J. Polchinski, New Connections Between String Theories, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 4 (1989) 2073–2083.
- [11] J. Polchinski, Dirichlet Branes and Ramond-Ramond charges, Phys. Rev. Lett. 75 (1995) 4724-4727, [hep-th/9510017].
- [12] P. Horava, Background Duality of Open String Models, Phys. Lett. B 231 (1989) 251–257.
- [13] J. M. Maldacena, The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231-252, [hep-th/9711200].
- [14] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253-291, [hep-th/9802150].

- [15] S. S. Gubser, I. R. Klebanov and A. M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory, Phys. Lett. B 428 (1998) 105–114, [hep-th/9802109].
- [16] O. Aharony, S. S. Gubser, J. M. Maldacena, H. Ooguri and Y. Oz, Large N field theories, string theory and gravity, Phys. Rept. 323 (2000) 183–386, [hep-th/9905111].
- [17] M. Ammon and J. Erdmenger, Gauge/gravity duality: Foundations and applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 4, 2015, 10.1017/CBO9780511846373.
- [18] E. D'Hoker and D. Z. Freedman, Supersymmetric gauge theories and the AdS / CFT correspondence, in Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics (TASI 2001): Strings, Branes and EXTRA Dimensions, pp. 3–158, 1, 2002. hep-th/0201253.
- [19] J. Polchinski, Introduction to Gauge/Gravity Duality, in Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: String theory and its Applications: From meV to the Planck Scale, pp. 3–46, 10, 2010. 1010.6134. DOI.
- [20] P. Di Francesco, P. Mathieu and D. Senechal, *Conformal Field Theory*. Graduate Texts in Contemporary Physics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1997, 10.1007/978-1-4612-2256-9.
- [21] S. Minwalla, Restrictions imposed by superconformal invariance on quantum field theories, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 783-851, [hep-th/9712074].
- [22] J. Erdmenger and H. Osborn, Conserved currents and the energy momentum tensor in conformally invariant theories for general dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 483 (1997) 431-474, [hep-th/9605009].
- [23] F. A. Dolan and H. Osborn, Conformal four point functions and the operator product expansion, Nucl. Phys. B 599 (2001) 459–496, [hep-th/0011040].
- [24] A. L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan, D. Poland and D. Simmons-Duffin, The Analytic Bootstrap and AdS Superhorizon Locality, JHEP 12 (2013) 004, [1212.3616].
- [25] W. De Sitter, On the curvature of space, in Proc. Kon. Ned. Akad. Wet, vol. 20, pp. 229–243, 1917.
- [26] W. De Sitter, On the relativity of inertia. remarks concerning einstein's latest hypothesis, Proc. Kon. Ned. Acad. Wet 19 (1917) 1217–1225.
- [27] S. J. Avis, C. J. Isham and D. Storey, Quantum Field Theory in anti-De Sitter Space-Time, Phys. Rev. D 18 (1978) 3565.
- [28] G. W. Gibbons, C. M. Hull and N. P. Warner, The Stability of Gauged Supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 218 (1983) 173.

- [29] P. Breitenlohner and D. Z. Freedman, Stability in Gauged Extended Supergravity, Annals Phys. 144 (1982) 249.
- [30] S. de Haro, S. N. Solodukhin and K. Skenderis, Holographic reconstruction of space-time and renormalization in the AdS / CFT correspondence, Commun. Math. Phys. 217 (2001) 595–622, [hep-th/0002230].
- [31] K. Skenderis, Lecture notes on holographic renormalization, Class. Quant. Grav. 19 (2002) 5849–5876, [hep-th/0209067].
- [32] R. Grimm, M. Sohnius and J. Wess, Extended Supersymmetry and Gauge Theories, Nucl. Phys. B 133 (1978) 275–284.
- [33] E. D'Hoker, D. Z. Freedman and W. Skiba, Field theory tests for correlators in the AdS / CFT correspondence, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 045008, [hep-th/9807098].
- [34] S. Lee, S. Minwalla, M. Rangamani and N. Seiberg, Three point functions of chiral operators in D = 4, N=4 SYM at large N, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 697-718, [hep-th/9806074].
- [35] P. Fayet and S. Ferrara, Supersymmetry, Phys. Rept. **32** (1977) 249–334.
- [36] S. Weinberg and E. Witten, Limits on Massless Particles, Phys. Lett. B 96 (1980) 59–62.
- [37] P. G. O. Freund and M. A. Rubin, Dynamics of Dimensional Reduction, Phys. Lett. B 97 (1980) 233–235.
- [38] D. Z. Freedman and A. Van Proeyen, *Supergravity*. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, UK, 5, 2012, 10.1017/CBO9781139026833.
- [39] J. Wess and J. Bagger, Supersymmetry and supergravity. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, USA, 1992.
- [40] W. Siegel and S. J. Gates, Jr., Superfield Supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 147 (1979) 77–104.
- [41] E. Cremmer and B. Julia, The N=8 Supergravity Theory. 1. The Lagrangian, Phys. Lett. B 80 (1978) 48.
- [42] E. Cremmer and B. Julia, The SO(8) Supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 159 (1979) 141–212.
- [43] D. Z. Freedman, P. van Nieuwenhuizen and S. Ferrara, Progress Toward a Theory of Supergravity, Phys. Rev. D 13 (1976) 3214–3218.

- [44] M. J. Duff, ed., The World in Eleven Dimensions : Supergravity, supermembranes and M-theory. Taylor & Francis, 1999, 10.1201/9781482268737.
- [45] E. Cremmer, B. Julia and J. Scherk, Supergravity Theory in Eleven-Dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 76 (1978) 409–412.
- [46] J. H. Schwarz and P. C. West, Symmetries and Transformations of Chiral N=2 D=10 Supergravity, Phys. Lett. B 126 (1983) 301–304.
- [47] M. J. Duff, B. E. W. Nilsson, C. N. Pope and N. P. Warner, On the Consistency of the Kaluza-Klein Ansatz, Phys. Lett. B 149 (1984) 90–94.
- [48] M. J. Duff and C. N. Pope, CONSISTENT TRUNCATIONS IN KALUZA-KLEIN THEORIES, Nucl. Phys. B 255 (1985) 355–364.
- [49] M. Cvetic, H. Lu, C. N. Pope, A. Sadrzadeh and T. A. Tran, Consistent SO(6) reduction of type IIB supergravity on S**5, Nucl. Phys. B 586 (2000) 275–286, [hep-th/0003103].
- [50] B. de Wit and H. Nicolai, N=8 Supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 208 (1982) 323.
- [51] C. M. Hull, Noncompact Gaugings of N = 8 Supergravity, Phys. Lett. B **142** (1984) 39.
- [52] H. Nicolai and H. Samtleben, Compact and noncompact gauged maximal supergravities in three-dimensions, JHEP 04 (2001) 022, [hep-th/0103032].
- [53] B. de Wit, H. Samtleben and M. Trigiante, On Lagrangians and gaugings of maximal supergravities, Nucl. Phys. B 655 (2003) 93–126, [hep-th/0212239].
- [54] B. de Wit and H. Samtleben, Gauged maximal supergravities and hierarchies of nonAbelian vector-tensor systems, Fortsch. Phys. 53 (2005) 442-449, [hep-th/0501243].
- [55] J. Schon and M. Weidner, Gauged N=4 supergravities, JHEP 05 (2006) 034, [hep-th/0602024].
- [56] B. de Wit, H. Samtleben and M. Trigiante, Gauging maximal supergravities, Fortsch. Phys. 52 (2004) 489–496, [hep-th/0311225].
- [57] J.-P. Derendinger, P. M. Petropoulos and N. Prezas, Axionic symmetry gaugings in N=4 supergravities and their higher-dimensional origin, Nucl. Phys. B 785 (2007) 115–134, [0705.0008].
- [58] H. Samtleben and M. Weidner, The Maximal D=7 supergravities, Nucl. Phys. B 725 (2005) 383-419, [hep-th/0506237].

- [59] L. Girardello, M. Petrini, M. Porrati and A. Zaffaroni, Novel local CFT and exact results on perturbations of N=4 superYang Mills from AdS dynamics, JHEP 12 (1998) 022, [hep-th/9810126].
- [60] M. Cvetic and H. H. Soleng, Supergravity domain walls, Phys. Rept. 282 (1997) 159-223, [hep-th/9604090].
- [61] D. Z. Freedman, S. S. Gubser, K. Pilch and N. P. Warner, Renormalization group flows from holography supersymmetry and a c theorem, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 3 (1999) 363-417, [hep-th/9904017].
- [62] K. Skenderis and P. K. Townsend, Gravitational stability and renormalization group flow, Phys. Lett. B 468 (1999) 46–51, [hep-th/9909070].
- [63] P. K. Townsend, Positive Energy and the Scalar Potential in Higher Dimensional (Super)gravity Theories, Phys. Lett. B 148 (1984) 55–59.
- [64] D. Bak, M. Gutperle and S. Hirano, A Dilatonic deformation of AdS(5) and its field theory dual, JHEP 05 (2003) 072, [hep-th/0304129].
- [65] D. Z. Freedman, C. Nunez, M. Schnabl and K. Skenderis, Fake supergravity and domain wall stability, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 104027, [hep-th/0312055].
- [66] I. Papadimitriou and K. Skenderis, Correlation functions in holographic RG flows, JHEP 10 (2004) 075, [hep-th/0407071].
- [67] J. Polchinski and M. J. Strassler, The String dual of a confining four-dimensional gauge theory, hep-th/0003136.
- [68] A. H. Chamseddine and M. S. Volkov, NonAbelian solitons in N=4 gauged supergravity and leading order string theory, Phys. Rev. D 57 (1998) 6242-6254, [hep-th/9711181].
- [69] E. D'Hoker, J. Estes, M. Gutperle and D. Krym, Janus solutions in M-theory, JHEP 06 (2009) 018, [0904.3313].
- [70] M. Gutperle, J. Kaidi and H. Raj, Janus solutions in six-dimensional gauged supergravity, JHEP 12 (2017) 018, [1709.09204].
- [71] E. D'Hoker, J. Estes and M. Gutperle, Ten-dimensional supersymmetric Janus solutions, Nucl. Phys. B 757 (2006) 79–116, [hep-th/0603012].
- [72] A. Clark and A. Karch, Super Janus, JHEP 10 (2005) 094, [hep-th/0506265].
- [73] E. D'Hoker, J. Estes, M. Gutperle and D. Krym, Exact Half-BPS Flux Solutions in M-theory. I: Local Solutions, JHEP 08 (2008) 028, [0806.0605].

- [74] M. Chiodaroli, E. D'Hoker, Y. Guo and M. Gutperle, Exact half-BPS string-junction solutions in six-dimensional supergravity, JHEP 12 (2011) 086, [1107.1722].
- [75] M. Oshikawa and I. Affleck, Boundary conformal field theory approach to the critical two-dimensional Ising model with a defect line, Nucl. Phys. B 495 (1997) 533-582, [cond-mat/9612187].
- [76] E. Wong and I. Affleck, Tunneling in quantum wires: A Boundary conformal field theory approach, Nucl. Phys. B 417 (1994) 403–438, [cond-mat/9311040].
- [77] A. Karch and L. Randall, Open and closed string interpretation of SUSY CFT's on branes with boundaries, JHEP 06 (2001) 063, [hep-th/0105132].
- [78] M. Gutperle and J. D. Miller, Entanglement entropy at holographic interfaces, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 026006, [1511.08955].
- [79] T. Quella, I. Runkel and G. M. T. Watts, Reflection and transmission for conformal defects, JHEP 04 (2007) 095, [hep-th/0611296].
- [80] C. Bachas, J. de Boer, R. Dijkgraaf and H. Ooguri, Permeable conformal walls and holography, JHEP 06 (2002) 027, [hep-th/0111210].
- [81] P. Di Vecchia and A. Liccardo, D-branes in string theory. 2., in YITP Workshop on Developments in Superstring and M Theory, 12, 1999. hep-th/9912275.
- [82] C. Bachas, S. Chapman, D. Ge and G. Policastro, Energy Reflection and Transmission at 2D Holographic Interfaces, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 (2020) 231602, [2006.11333].
- [83] K. Skenderis and B. C. van Rees, Real-time gauge/gravity duality: Prescription, Renormalization and Examples, JHEP 05 (2009) 085, [0812.2909].
- [84] C. Bachas, Z. Chen and V. Papadopoulos, Steady states of holographic interfaces, JHEP 11 (2021) 095, [2107.00965].
- [85] C. Bachas, S. Baiguera, S. Chapman, G. Policastro and T. Schwartzman, Energy Transport for Thick Holographic Branes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 131 (2023) 021601, [2212.14058].
- [86] A. B. Clark, D. Z. Freedman, A. Karch and M. Schnabl, Dual of the Janus solution: An interface conformal field theory, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 066003, [hep-th/0407073].
- [87] E. D'Hoker, J. Estes and M. Gutperle, Exact half-BPS Type IIB interface solutions. I. Local solution and supersymmetric Janus, JHEP 06 (2007) 021, [0705.0022].

- [88] E. D'Hoker, J. Estes and M. Gutperle, Interface Yang-Mills, supersymmetry, and Janus, Nucl. Phys. B 753 (2006) 16–41, [hep-th/0603013].
- [89] D. Gaiotto and E. Witten, S-Duality of Boundary Conditions In N=4 Super Yang-Mills Theory, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 13 (2009) 721–896, [0807.3720].
- [90] D. Gaiotto and E. Witten, Janus Configurations, Chern-Simons Couplings, And The theta-Angle in N=4 Super Yang-Mills Theory, JHEP 06 (2010) 097, [0804.2907].
- [91] E. D'Hoker, J. Estes and M. Gutperle, Exact half-BPS Type IIB interface solutions. II. Flux solutions and multi-Janus, JHEP 06 (2007) 022, [0705.0024].
- [92] K. Pilch, A. Tyukov and N. P. Warner, $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Supersymmetric Janus Solutions and Flows: From Gauged Supergravity to M Theory, JHEP 05 (2016) 005, [1510.08090].
- [93] M. Suh, Supersymmetric Janus solutions in five and ten dimensions, JHEP 09 (2011) 064, [1107.2796].
- [94] N. Bobev, K. Pilch and N. P. Warner, Supersymmetric Janus Solutions in Four Dimensions, JHEP 06 (2014) 058, [1311.4883].
- [95] M. Suh, Supersymmetric Janus solutions of dyonic ISO(7)-gauged $\mathcal{N} = 8$ supergravity, JHEP **04** (2018) 109, [1803.00041].
- [96] P. Karndumri, Supersymmetric Janus solutions in four-dimensional N=3 gauged supergravity, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 125012, [1604.06007].
- [97] P. Karndumri and C. Maneerat, Supersymmetric Janus solutions in ω -deformed N = 8 gauged supergravity, Eur. Phys. J. C 81 (2021) 801, [2012.15763].
- [98] O. DeWolfe, D. Z. Freedman, S. S. Gubser and A. Karch, Modeling the fifth-dimension with scalars and gravity, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 046008, [hep-th/9909134].
- [99] M. Bianchi, D. Z. Freedman and K. Skenderis, How to go with an RG flow, JHEP 08 (2001) 041, [hep-th/0105276].
- [100] D. Gaiotto, Domain Walls for Two-Dimensional Renormalization Group Flows, JHEP 12 (2012) 103, [1201.0767].
- [101] M. Gutperle and J. Samani, Holographic RG-flows and Boundary CFTs, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 106007, [1207.7325].
- [102] I. Arav, K. C. M. Cheung, J. P. Gauntlett, M. M. Roberts and C. Rosen, Superconformal RG interfaces in holography, JHEP 11 (2020) 168, [2007.07891].

- [103] Y. Korovin, First order formalism for the holographic duals of defect CFTs, JHEP 04 (2014) 152, [1312.0089].
- [104] H. Nicolai and H. Samtleben, N=8 matter coupled AdS(3) supergravities, Phys. Lett. B 514 (2001) 165–172, [hep-th/0106153].
- [105] M. Berg and H. Samtleben, An Exact holographic RG flow between 2-d conformal fixed points, JHEP 05 (2002) 006, [hep-th/0112154].
- [106] H. J. Boonstra, B. Peeters and K. Skenderis, Brane intersections, anti-de Sitter space-times and dual superconformal theories, Nucl. Phys. B 533 (1998) 127–162, [hep-th/9803231].
- [107] S. Elitzur, O. Feinerman, A. Giveon and D. Tsabar, String theory on AdS(3) x S**3 x S**3 x S**1, Phys. Lett. B 449 (1999) 180–186, [hep-th/9811245].
- [108] J. de Boer, A. Pasquinucci and K. Skenderis, AdS / CFT dualities involving large 2-D N=4 superconformal symmetry, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 3 (1999) 577-614, [hep-th/9904073].
- [109] S. Gukov, E. Martinec, G. W. Moore and A. Strominger, The Search for a holographic dual to AdS(3) x S**3 x S**3 x S**1, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 9 (2005) 435-525, [hep-th/0403090].
- [110] B. de Wit, I. Herger and H. Samtleben, Gauged locally supersymmetric D = 3 nonlinear sigma models, Nucl. Phys. B 671 (2003) 175–216, [hep-th/0307006].
- [111] M. Henningson and K. Skenderis, The Holographic Weyl anomaly, JHEP 07 (1998) 023, [hep-th/9806087].
- [112] K. Chen and M. Gutperle, Janus solutions in three-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 8$ gauged supergravity, JHEP **05** (2021) 008, [2011.10154].
- [113] C. Bachas, E. D'Hoker, J. Estes and D. Krym, *M*-theory Solutions Invariant under $D(2, 1; \gamma) \oplus D(2, 1; \gamma)$, Fortsch. Phys. **62** (2014) 207–254, [1312.5477].
- [114] M. Chiodaroli, M. Gutperle and D. Krym, Half-BPS Solutions locally asymptotic to AdS(3) x S**3 and interface conformal field theories, JHEP 02 (2010) 066, [0910.0466].
- [115] T. Assawasowan and P. Karndumri, New supersymmetric Janus solutions from N=4 gauged supergravity, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 106004, [2203.03413].
- [116] P. Karndumri and C. Maneerat, Janus solutions from dyonic ISO(7) maximal gauged supergravity, JHEP 10 (2021) 117, [2108.13398].

- [117] T. Azeyanagi, A. Karch, T. Takayanagi and E. G. Thompson, *Holographic calculation of boundary entropy*, JHEP 03 (2008) 054, [0712.1850].
- [118] M. Chiodaroli, M. Gutperle and L.-Y. Hung, Boundary entropy of supersymmetric Janus solutions, JHEP 09 (2010) 082, [1005.4433].
- [119] K. Jensen and A. O'Bannon, Holography, Entanglement Entropy, and Conformal Field Theories with Boundaries or Defects, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 106006, [1309.4523].
- [120] J. Estes, K. Jensen, A. O'Bannon, E. Tsatis and T. Wrase, On Holographic Defect Entropy, JHEP 05 (2014) 084, [1403.6475].
- [121] I. Affleck and A. W. W. Ludwig, Universal noninteger 'ground state degeneracy' in critical quantum systems, Phys. Rev. Lett. 67 (1991) 161–164.
- [122] S. Ryu and T. Takayanagi, Holographic derivation of entanglement entropy from AdS/CFT, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 181602, [hep-th/0603001].
- [123] N. Bobev, F. F. Gautason, K. Pilch, M. Suh and J. Van Muiden, Janus and J-fold Solutions from Sasaki-Einstein Manifolds, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 081901, [1907.11132].
- [124] N. Bobev, F. F. Gautason, K. Pilch, M. Suh and J. van Muiden, Holographic Interfaces in N=4 SYM: Janus and J-folds, 2003.09154.
- [125] P. Karndumri, New Janus interfaces from four-dimensional N=3 gauged supergravity, 2408.00424.
- [126] P. Karndumri, Janus and RG-flow interfaces from matter-coupled F(4) gauged supergravity, 2405.17169.
- [127] A. Anabalón, M. Chamorro-Burgos and A. Guarino, Janus and Hades in M-theory, JHEP 11 (2022) 150, [2207.09287].
- [128] L. Girardello, M. Petrini, M. Porrati and A. Zaffaroni, The Supergravity dual of N=1 superYang-Mills theory, Nucl. Phys. B 569 (2000) 451-469, [hep-th/9909047].
- [129] M. Bianchi, O. DeWolfe, D. Z. Freedman and K. Pilch, Anatomy of two holographic renormalization group flows, JHEP 01 (2001) 021, [hep-th/0009156].
- [130] N. Bobev, N. Halmagyi, K. Pilch and N. P. Warner, Holographic, N=1 Supersymmetric RG Flows on M2 Branes, JHEP 09 (2009) 043, [0901.2736].
- [131] I. Brunner and D. Roggenkamp, *Defects and bulk perturbations of boundary* Landau-Ginzburg orbifolds, JHEP **04** (2008) 001, [0712.0188].

- [132] T. Dimofte, D. Gaiotto and R. van der Veen, RG Domain Walls and Hybrid Triangulations, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 19 (2015) 137–276, [1304.6721].
- [133] G. Poghosyan and H. Poghosyan, RG domain wall for the N=1 minimal superconformal models, JHEP 05 (2015) 043, [1412.6710].
- [134] A. Konechny, RG boundaries and interfaces in Ising field theory, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 145403, [1610.07489].
- [135] S. Giombi, E. Helfenberger and H. Khanchandani, *RG Interfaces from Double-Trace Deformations*, 2407.07856.
- [136] A. Karch, Y. Kusuki, H. Ooguri, H.-Y. Sun and M. Wang, Universality of effective central charge in interface CFTs, JHEP 11 (2023) 126, [2308.05436].
- [137] A. Karch, Y. Kusuki, H. Ooguri, H.-Y. Sun and M. Wang, Universal Bound on Effective Central Charge and Its Saturation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 133 (2024) 091604, [2404.01515].
- [138] S. Baig, A. Karch and M. Wang, Transmission Coefficient of Super-Janus Solution, 2408.00059.
- [139] N. S. Deger, A. Kaya, E. Sezgin and P. Sundell, Matter coupled AdS(3) supergravities and their black strings, Nucl. Phys. B 573 (2000) 275–290, [hep-th/9908089].
- [140] N. S. Deger, Renormalization group flows from D = 3, N=2 matter coupled gauged supergravities, JHEP **11** (2002) 025, [hep-th/0209188].
- [141] K. Arkhipova, L. Astrakhantsev, N. S. Deger, A. A. Golubtsova, K. Gubarev and E. T. Musaev, *Holographic RG flows and boundary conditions in a 3D gauged* supergravity, Eur. Phys. J. C 84 (2024) 560, [2402.11586].
- [142] A. Golubtsova, A. Nikolaev and M. Podoinitsyn, Holographic RG flows in a 3D gauged supergravity at finite temperature, Phys. Rev. D 110 (2024) 066011, [2405.06515].
- [143] A. A. Golubtsova, E. Gourgoulhon and M. A. Podoinitsyn, More on thermal holographic RG flows in a 3D gauged supergravity, 2412.06536.
- [144] M. Abou-Zeid and H. Samtleben, Chern-Simons vortices in supergravity, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 085016, [hep-th/0112035].
- [145] N. S. Deger and O. Sarioglu, Supersymmetric strings and waves in D = 3, N=2 matter coupled gauged supergravities, JHEP **12** (2004) 039, [hep-th/0409169].
- [146] N. S. Deger and O. Sarioglu, New Supersymmetric Solutions in N=2 Matter Coupled AdS(3) Supergravities, JHEP 08 (2006) 078, [hep-th/0605098].

- [147] P. Karndumri and E. O. Colgáin, 3D supergravity from wrapped M5-branes, JHEP 03 (2016) 188, [1508.00963].
- [148] A. Karch, Z.-X. Luo and H.-Y. Sun, Universal relations for holographic interfaces, JHEP 09 (2021) 172, [2107.02165].
- [149] S. A. Baig and S. Shashi, Transport across interfaces in symmetric orbifolds, JHEP 10 (2023) 168, [2301.13198].
- [150] M. Chiodaroli, J. Estes and Y. Korovin, Holographic two-point functions for Janus interfaces in the D1/D5 CFT, JHEP 04 (2017) 145, [1612.08916].
- [151] C. Melby-Thompson and C. Schmidt-Colinet, Double Trace Interfaces, JHEP 11 (2017) 110, [1707.03418].
- [152] A. Ghodsi, J. K. Ghosh, E. Kiritsis, F. Nitti and V. Nourry, Holographic QFTs on AdS_d, wormholes and holographic interfaces, JHEP 01 (2023) 121, [2209.12094].
- [153] R. Auzzi, S. Baiguera, S. Bonansea, G. Nardelli and K. Toccacelo, Volume complexity for Janus AdS₃ geometries, JHEP 08 (2021) 045, [2105.08729].
- [154] R. Auzzi, S. Baiguera, S. Bonansea and G. Nardelli, Action complexity in the presence of defects and boundaries, JHEP 02 (2022) 118, [2112.03290].
- [155] D. Bak, Information metric and Euclidean Janus correspondence, Phys. Lett. B 756 (2016) 200–204, [1512.04735].
- [156] S. Ryu and T. Takayanagi, Aspects of Holographic Entanglement Entropy, JHEP 08 (2006) 045, [hep-th/0605073].
- [157] E. Afxonidis and A. Karch, The boundary entropy function for interface conformal field theories, 2412.05381.
- [158] K. Sakai and Y. Satoh, Entanglement through conformal interfaces, JHEP 12 (2008) 001, [0809.4548].
- [159] E. M. Brehm and I. Brunner, Entanglement entropy through conformal interfaces in the 2D Ising model, JHEP 09 (2015) 080, [1505.02647].
- [160] M. Meineri, J. Penedones and A. Rousset, Colliders and conformal interfaces, JHEP 02 (2020) 138, [1904.10974].
- [161] H. Samtleben and O. Sarioglu, Consistent S³ reductions of six-dimensional supergravity, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 086002, [1907.08413].